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For the year ended 30 June 2016 

Hon Tony Simpson MLA 
Minister for Local Government; Community Services; Seniors and Volunteering; Youth

 
In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for 
your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report for the Department of 
Local Government and Communities for the financial year ended 30 June 2016.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006.

 

Jennifer Mathews 
Accountable Authority 
15th September 2016

Responsible Minister

Hon Tony Simpson MLA 
Minister for Local Government; 
Community Services; Seniors 
and Volunteering; Youth

1.0 Statement of Compliance
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2.1 Executive summary

Western Australia can be defined as much 
by the character of its local communities 
as by the diversity of its natural and built 
environments. 

Despite wide variations in size and situation, 
Western Australian communities – whether 
large outer metropolitan growth suburbs, 
or small, remote country towns – face 
similar challenges. Responding to changing 
economic and environmental conditions 
and social expectations requires local 
communities to be resilient, adaptable and 
cohesive. 

As Western Australian communities 
grow and change, the Department of 
Local Government and Communities 
(the department) responds by aligning its 
programs to reflect these changing needs. 
It recognises that tangible outcomes are 
best achieved by fostering collaborative 
partnerships. The foundation of its work is 
increasingly based upon strong partnerships 
and close collaboration between the State 
Government, local governments and 
community sector organisations. 

The department seeks to support the 
delivery of services and programs that 
are connected, integrated and responsive 
to local needs. This commitment guides 
the way the department administers its 
broad portfolio responsibilities for local 
government, community services, seniors 
and volunteering, youth, women’s interests 
and multicultural interests. 

These responsibilities include:

 · Administering the Local Government Act 
1995 and associated legislation.

 · Providing advice, support and programs 
that strengthen local government capacity, 
performance and accountability.

 · Delivering and funding programs that 
support seniors, young people, children 
and families, women, men, carers and 
volunteers.

 · Regulating the early education and care 
sector to ensure all children have access 
to high quality childcare.

 · Providing programs that develop cross-
cultural understanding and promote the 
benefits of WA’s cultural and linguistic 
diversity.

In addressing these responsibilities the 
department has achieved some significant 
results during 2015–16.

 · An investment of more than  
$37 million was made in 429 community 
organisations to deliver a broad range 
of community services. Procurement 
arrangements were reviewed to ensure that 
this investment is efficient, well targeted 
and achieves the maximum social impact.

 · Local government accountability was 
strengthened with the launch of the 
MyCouncil comparative website and new 
regulations around the disclosure of gifts 
and travel.

 · Age-Friendly Communities plans were 
adopted by a growing number of local 
governments.

 · A series of Women’s Consultative Forums 
led to a range of public and private sector 
organisations committing to progress 
opportunities to improve women’s 
participation in the workforce and 
representation in positions of leadership.

 · New multicultural partnership programs 
were established promoting migrant 
workforce participation, community 
leadership and better understanding of 
anti-social behaviours.

2.0 Overview of Agency
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 · Several thousand young people 
participated in programs encouraging 
youth development and community 
leadership, and those facing health, 
relationship and conflict issues had access 
to youth support services. 

 · The City of Perth Act 2016 came into 
effect, bringing Western Australia into 
line with other States with capital city 
legislation.

 · Local governments were supported 
through the provision of councillor 
training, asset management improvement 
programs, better practice reviews and 
reforms to the Integrated Planning and 
Reporting Framework.

These outcomes would not have been 
possible without the commitment and 
dedication of our talented staff, whom I 
thank for their outstanding achievements.

Jennifer Mathews 
Director General 

2.2 Portfolio structure

The department was established on 1 July 
2013 under the Public Sector Management 
Act 1994.

At 30 June 2016, the department was 
responsible to the following Ministers:

Hon Tony Simpson MLA

Minister for Local Government; Community 
Services; Seniors and Volunteering; Youth

Hon Dr Mike Nahan BEc MS PhD MLA

Minister for Energy; Finance; Citizenship 
and Multicultural Interests

Hon Liza Harvey MLA

Minister for Police; Road Safety; Training and 
Workforce Development; Women’s Interests

Hon Joe Francis MLA

Minister for Emergency Services; Corrective 
Services; Small Business; Veterans

Minister Simpson receives independent advice 
from the Seniors Ministerial Advisory Council, 
Carers Advisory Council, Local Government 
Advisory Board and Western Australian Local 
Government Grants Commission. 

Minister  
Harvey

Minister  
Simpson

Minister  
Nahan

Office of 
the Director 
General

Office of 
Multicultural 
Interests

Corporate 
Services

Sector 
Regulation  
and Support

Community 
Building and 
Services

Ministerial 
Advisory 
Councils

Key
Provided administrative support

Minister  
Francis
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Director General
Jennifer Mathews

Director Executive 
Services

Principal Strategy 
Officer

Executive Director Sector 
Regulation and Support

Brad Jolly

Executive Director Community 
Building and Services

Scott Hollingworth

Executive Director 
Corporate Services

Elizabeth Delany

Executive Director Office of 
Multicultural Interests

Rebecca Ball

Director (CIO)
Information Communications  

and Technology

Director
Service Delivery

Director
Community Funding

Manager
Corporate Governance

Director
Human Resources

Director
Community Engagement 

and Funding

Director
Strategy Research and 

Initiatives

Director (CFO)
Financial and Business  

Services

Manager
Community Relations 

and Information

Manager
Strategy and Planning

Director
Early Childhood Regulation  

and Support

Director
Local Government Regulation 

and Support

Director
Legislation and Statutory 

Support

2.3 Organisational structure

The department’s role is to make a difference for local communities. It aims to achieve innovative and integrated local solutions, improved service 
delivery and tangible outcomes for communities. 

The department’s operational structure, including tiers one to three leadership positions, is as follows:



2.0 Overview of Agency

8

Jennifer was appointed Director General of 
the Department of Local Government and 
Communities in March 2014. Jennifer has 
more than 25 years’ experience spanning both 
the Commonwealth and State Government 
sectors. Jennifer’s previous roles have 
included State Manager of the Australian 
Trade Commission, State Director of the 
Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade in 
Western Australia and Director General of the 
former Department of Local Government. 

Jennifer Mathews

Director General

Brad has a breadth of experience across 
the private and public sectors. He was 
appointed Executive Director Governance 
and Legislation at the former Department 
of Local Government in October 2009. 
Brad is the presiding member of the Local 
Government Standards Panel and deputy 
chair of the Local Government Grants 
Commission and is also a member of the 
National Early Childhood Policy Group.

Brad Jolly

Executive Director,  
Sector Regulation and 
Support 

2.4 Corporate executive

The Department of Local Government and 
Communities has four divisions: Sector 
Regulation and Support, Community 
Building and Services, Office of Multicultural 
Interests and Corporate Services. Each 
division is headed by an Executive Director 
who reports to the Director General. 

Rebecca Ball

Executive Director,  
Office of Multicultural 
Interests

Rebecca has more than 15 years’ professional 
experience in cross-cultural settings, working 
in the fields of international trade, education, 
business development and community 
engagement. Rebecca holds an Honours Degree 
in Political Science and a Masters Degree 
in Business and speaks several languages. 
Rebecca’s previous roles have included State 
Director WA, Austrade Perth, Austrade Trade and 
Investment Commissioner in Indonesia, and 
Austrade Trade Commissioner in India. 

Elizabeth Delany

Executive Director,  
Corporate Services 

Elizabeth has extensive knowledge and 
experience in public administration, 
corporate business and human resource 
management. Previously, Elizabeth has 
been employed by the Tasmanian and 
Victorian public service and has held senior 
positions at the Department of the Premier 
and Cabinet, Public Sector Commission 
and Department for Communities. 

Scott has more than 30 years’ experience 
in strategic and operational roles in the 
State and local government sectors in 
Western Australia. Scott has previously held 
senior positions in the Department of Local 
Government, City of Swan, Department of 
Industry and Resources and the Department 
of the Premier and Cabinet. 

Scott Hollingworth

Executive Director, 
Community Building 
and Services
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2.5 Administered legislation

The following legislation is administered by 
the department as at 30 June 2016:

 · Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Act 
1995

 · Carers Recognition Act 2004

 · Cat Act 2011

 · Cemeteries Act 1986

 · Child Care Services Act 2007

 · City of Perth Act 2016

 · Control of Vehicles (Off-road Areas) Act 
1978

 · Dog Act 1976

 · Education and Care Services National Law 
(WA) Act 2012

 · Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1960

 · Local Government Act 1995

 · Local Government Grants Act 1978

 · Volunteers and Food and Other Donors 
(Protection from Liability) Act 2002.

2.6 Compliance with  
other legislation

In performing its functions, the department 
complies with the following relevant laws:

 · Auditor General Act 2006

 · Corruption and Crime Commission Act 
2003

 · Corruption, Crime and Misconduct Act 
2003

 · Constitution Act 1889

 · Disability Services Act 1993

 · Electoral Act 1907

 · Equal Opportunity Act 1984

 · Financial Management Act 2006

 · Freedom of Information Act 1992

 · Industrial Relations Act 1979

 · Library Board of Western Australia Act 
1951

 · Legal Deposit Act 2012

 · Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 
1993

 · Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

 · Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972

 · Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

 · Public Sector Management Act 1994

 · Salaries and Allowance Act 1975

 · State Records Act 2000

 · State Superannuation Act 2000

 · State Supply Commission Act 1991

 · Workers’ Compensation (Common Law 
Proceedings) Act 2004

 · Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981

 · Working with Children (Criminal Record 
Checking) Act 2004.
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Desired outcome Key Effectiveness Indicator Service Key Efficiency Indicator

The Early Education and 
Care sector met required 
quality standards.

1.1 Percentage of assessed early childhood 
education and care services that met 
or exceeded national standards.

Service 1: Regulation and Support of the 
Early Education and Care Sector

1.1 Average cost per licensed service for 
regulation and support.

Local governments were 
capable and well-governed.

2.1 Percentage of local governments that did 
not have an action taken against them under 
the department’s compliance framework

Service 2: Regulation and Support of Local 
Government

2.1 Average cost per local government for 
regulation and support.

2.2 Percentage of local governments with 
Integrated Planning and Reporting plans 
reviewed.

Seniors received 
concessions and rebates 
administered by the 
department.

3.1 Take up rate of WA Seniors Card. Service 3: Payments to Individuals 3.1 Average management cost per WA 
Seniors Card.

Local community 
services and community 
building programs met 
the identified needs of 
individuals and families.

4.1 Percentage of service users that had their 
identified needs met.

Service 4: Delivery of Community 
Services, Grants and Resources

4.1 Number of grants and service 
agreements per FTE.

4.2 Percentage of community building grants 
that were acquitted against identified outcomes.

4.2 Proportion of administrative and 
management expenditure to service 
delivery expenditure.

Western Australia was 
recognised as a vibrant 
and effective multicultural 
society.

5.1 Percentage of organisations and individuals 
who report that the Office of Multicultural 
Interests had a positive impact on the promotion 
and support of multiculturalism. 

Service 5: Promotion and Support of 
Multiculturalism

5.1 Average cost per project to support 
and promote multiculturalism. 

5.2 Percentage of community grants for 
multicultural organisations that were acquitted 
against identified outcomes

5.2 Number of grants and service 
agreements per FTE.

2.7 Performance management framework

Broad State Government goals were supported at agency level by specific outcomes actioned through five department services, with eight 
effectiveness indicators and seven efficiency indicators. Those are summarised in the table below.

Government Goal: Results-Based Service Delivery: Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit of all West Australians.
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Changes to the outcome based management (OBM) framework
A new OBM framework was developed and implemented for the 2015–16 budget statements, in accordance with the Department of Treasury review 
of agency report. The new OBM framework is reported for the first time in 2015–16. 

Shared responsibilities with other agencies
The department was involved in delivering the following cross-agency initiatives:

Initiatives Related Outcome(s) Other Contributing Agencies

Early Childhood Development To progress the Early Childhood Development strategy at the State level 
in line with the Council of Australian Governments (COAG) process.

Department of Education; Disability Services 
Commission; Department of Aboriginal 
Affairs; Department of the Premier and 
Cabinet; Department of Health; Department of 
Education Services.

Cadets WA To encourage and support the establishment, development and 
expansion of community based cadet style training.

Department of Education; Department of 
Parks and Wildlife; Department of Fire and 
Emergency Services; WA Police.

River Rangers Program To encourage and support youth development in WA through structured leadership, 
initiative, training and activities for young people in years 5–7 of primary school.

Department of Parks and Wildlife; WA Primary 
Schools.

Leeuwin Youth Development 
Program

To provide opportunities for young people to undertake activities that improve their life 
skills, develop leadership qualities and make a contribution to the community 

Department for Child Protection and Family 
Support; Department of Sport and Recreation; 
Department of Aboriginal Affairs.

Sector Support Services and 
Provision of Information to the 
State Government Service (WA 
Council of Social Service)

Supporting organisations that deliver a range of community services, in particular 
strengthening the community sector’s skills, knowledge and sustainability.

Department of the Premier and Cabinet.

Financial Counselling Services 
(incorporating former Beyond 
Gambling Grants Program)

To deliver local solutions that enable individuals and families to become more 
financially capable, improve their ability to manage their financial situation and address 
problem social gambling issues.

Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor; 
Housing Authority; Water Corporation; 
Department of Commerce.

National Youth Week Joint Australian, state, territory and local government initiative to celebrate and 
recognise the value of all young Australians to their communities.

Commonwealth Department of Education.

Enhance the Transition to 
Schools Project – Playgroups

To progress the Early Childhood Development strategy at the State level in line with 
the Council of Australian Governments process.

Department of Education; Commonwealth 
Department of Education.
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2.8 Key resources

Publications

The following publications are available on 
the department’s website:  
www.dlgc.wa.gov.au

General

 · Strategic Plan 2014–18

 · Connect newsletter (published bi-monthly)

Local Government

 · Working effectively with local 
governments: A guide for community 
sector organisations

 · Local government operational guidelines

 · Governance Bulletin (published quarterly)

 · Policy Paper: Application of Fair Value to 
WA Local Government Financial Reporting

 · Departmental Circulars 

Community Development

 · Community Development - A Guide for 
Local Government Elected Members

Seniors

 · WA Seniors Card Discount Directory 

 · Age Friendly WA Toolkit

 · Age Friendly Home Maintenance Kit

Children and Families

 · Parenting WA Course Directory

 · Grandfamilies: Resource Guide for 
Western Australian Grandparents raising 
Grandchildren

 · Safe Infant Sleeping Policy

Volunteering

 · Vital Volunteering 2011–2016

 · The Economic, Social and Cultural Value of 
Volunteering to Western Australia 

 · Guidelines for Successful Partnerships 
between Public Sector Agencies and 
Volunteers
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Women’s Interests

 · Being Board Ready: A Guide for Women

 · Women in STEM and Trades

 · Women’s Report Card 2015

 · Women’s Services Directory

Carers

 · WA Carers Strategy

 · Carers Services Directory

Youth

 · Youth Participation Kit: Young People

 · Youth Participation Kit: Organisations

Multicultural Interests

The Office of Multicultural Interests (OMI) 
produces a wide range of publications 
designed to promote, support and celebrate 
the State’s cultural diversity.  
See: www.omi.wa.gov.au 

Websites

www.dlgc.wa.gov.au

www.mycouncil.wa.gov.au 

www.seniorscard.wa.gov.au

www.omi.wa.gov.au 

Social media

www.facebook.com/ParentingWA

www.facebook.com/WASeniorsCard

www.facebook.com/youthwesternaustralia

www.facebook.com/multicultural.interests 

Twitter/Instagram: @multiculturalwa

Office of Multicultural Interests
and CommunitiesDepartment of Local Government 

Government of Western Australia

Celebrate the diverse sounds of  
multicultural WA

Voices in 
 Harmony

listen now at  
www.omi.wa.gov.au/voices.cfm

From folk to opera to hip hop and  
everything in between! 

@multiculturalWA

/multicultural.interests

voices_card2.indd   1 9/03/2016   8:59:39 AM
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3.0 Significant Issues Impacting the Agency

3.1 Local government and 
community development

The Department of Local Government 
and Communities (the department) is 
progressing a range of measures to 
strengthen the relationship between State 
agencies, local governments, community 
organisations and the business sector. As a 
member of the WA Partnership Forum, the 
department is supporting a number of place-
based collective impact initiatives to improve 
social outcomes in Western Australian 
communities. The department continues to 
build the capacity of local governments to 
partner in planning and delivering community 
development outcomes that respond to 
particular social challenges and local needs. 
(See 4.4.7)

3.2 Delivering community 
services in partnership  
policy

It is important that the State Government’s 
investment in community services is both 
efficient and achieves the maximum social 
impact. More than $37 million is directed 
annually to the community sector in grants 
and funded community services, in line 
with the Delivering Community Services 
in Partnership policy. The department has 
streamlined its procurement processes and 
is continuing to refine its funded services 
program to ensure consistency with State 
Government priorities, the department’s 
mandate and community needs. (See 4.4.8)

3.3 Seniors

At June 2015, 18 per cent of the State’s 
population was aged 60 years and older, 
with the proportion expected to grow to 25 
per cent by 2050. This trend will increase 
the demand for services for seniors, 
and the challenge is for these services, 
concessions and benefits to be well targeted 
and sustainable. Support continues to 
be provided to local governments and 
community organisations to plan for age-
friendly communities, encourage active 
participation by seniors in community life, 
and to prevent elder abuse. (See 4.3.1, 4.4.1) 
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3.4 Children and families

The number of families with children is 
projected to have grown by 15 per cent 
between 2011 and 2016. The department 
is committed to supporting parents 
and families across the State, including 
grandparents who are the primary carers of 
their grandchildren. 

The department will play a greater role in 
ensuring that parenting services are better 
coordinated and targeted to meet the 
needs of families in WA. The department 
has established a Centre for Parenting 
Excellence to encourage best practice 
parenting services, monitor parent support 
needs and evaluate and advise the State 
Government on parenting services.  
(See 4.4.6, 4.4.3)

3.5 Young people

There are almost half a million young people 
aged 12 to 25 years in WA. The department 
invests in a range of programs to enable as 
many young people as possible to cope with 
the pressures of transition to adulthood, 
develop youth leadership and life skills and 
participate actively in community life. Events 
and awards are supported that promote and 
celebrate youth achievement. (See 4.4.4)

3.6 Volunteering

The social, economic and cultural value of 
volunteering to WA is estimated at  
$39 billion per annum, with four out of five 
WA adults volunteering in some way every 
year. The department assists organisations 
to recruit, screen, train, manage and support 
volunteers, and to promote and celebrate 
their contributions to the community in 
annual awards. (See 4.4.2)

3.7 Carers

There are more than 320,000 West 
Australians providing unpaid care in the 
community, in response to the needs of 
growing numbers of seniors and people 
with disability. Programs are supported 
that raise awareness of carers and their 
rights. Following community consultation 
the department developed the WA Carers 
Strategy in collaboration with the Carers 
Advisory Council and Carers WA. The 
strategy guides the actions of the whole 
community to better support carers. 
(See 4.4.3)

3.8 Women’s interests

The barriers to women’s full participation 
in the workforce continue to be reflected 
in low levels of representation in senior 
leadership positions, board membership 
and STEM (science, technology, engineering 
and maths) occupations. The gender pay 
gap in WA is above the national average, 
and women are achieving lower levels of 
economic independence at retirement. The 
department promotes and supports a range 
of collaborative initiatives addressing these 
issues. (See 4.4.5)
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3.9 Multicultural interests

WA is home to people from more than 
190 countries, speaking in excess of 270 
languages and identifying with more than 
130 religious groups. With almost one third 
of its population born overseas, WA faces a 
range of social and economic opportunities 
and challenges. The impact of overseas 
conflicts is increasingly posing risks to 
social cohesion. There is an ongoing need 
for strategies that encourage shared values 
and develop a sense of belonging across 
different cultural, linguistic and faith-based 
communities. Support is increasingly 
required for institutions and agencies that 
connect diverse communities, support 
integration and promote respect and 
tolerance. Programs continue to be needed 
that progress equal access to resources and 
services, and greater participation in social, 
civic and political life. (See 4.5)

3.10 Education and 
care services

The department’s Education and Care 
Regulatory Unit visits all facilities annually as 
part of its role to monitor, assess and rate 
all childcare services against the National 
Quality Framework. This in turn provides 
community confidence in the expected high 
standards and consistency in the delivery 
of early childhood education and care 
services. In response to a growing incidence 
of regulatory breaches, the department is 
working with the family day care sector to 
review regulatory policies and practices and 
improve overall standards of supervision and 
care. (See 4.1, 4.4.6)

3.11 Local government 
governance

Local governments are taking an increasingly 
strategic approach to planning for the future 
of their communities, while meeting high 
standards of governance, performance and 
accountability. The department provides 
training, advice and support across the 

sector, and uses a risk-based approach to 
identify those needing targeted intervention 
and assistance. New auditing arrangements 
being introduced with the Office of the 
Auditor General, and a new local government 
comparative website, MyCouncil, will 
facilitate higher levels of performance 
reporting and public oversight. Legislation 
and regulations are developed and capacity 
building programs are delivered that support 
these changing responsibilities. 
(See 4.2.1, 4.2.2, 4.2.12, 4.2.13)

3.12 Local government 
legislation

Legislation administered by the department 
to enable the effective functioning of local 
governments, and to provide for related 
matters including caravan parks and camping 
grounds, off-road vehicles and cemeteries 
and crematoria, requires ongoing review and 
reform. Amendments are being progressed 
to ensure that this legislation meets evolving 
community expectations and quality 
standards. (See 4.2.10) 
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   Budget  Variation 
  Actual Target Budget 
Financial Targets 2015–16 $’000 $’000 $’000

Total cost of services 108,025 110,622 (2,597) 
Net cost of services 99,704 108,216 (8,512) 
Total equity 74,711 68,921 (5,790) 
Net increase / (decrease) in cash held (2,610) (6,451) 3,841

Staffing Levels – Number of full-time  
equivalent (FTE) 

Approved FTE staff level 283* 302 (19)

* Average FTE over full financial year

4.0 Agency Performance

The Department of Local Government and 
Communities’ (the department) 2015–16 
funding was allocated to five services. 
The key financial indicators are presented 
below with a summary of the results 
for the department’s effectiveness and 
efficiency indicators. The remainder of this 
chapter summarises the key strategies and 
achievements across these five services.

Effectiveness Indicators summary

The summary results are presented below. These are new indicators and where available, results from prior year are reported. 

Effectiveness Indicator 2015–16 Actual 2015–16 Target Variance

1.1 Percentage of assessed early childhood education and care services that met or exceeded national standards 65% 67% (2%)

2.1 Percentage of local governments that did not have an action taken against them under the department’s 
compliance framework

54% 60% (6%)

2.2 Percentage of local governments with Integrated Planning and Reporting plans reviewed 100% 75% 25%

3.1 The take up rate of WA Seniors Card 94% 94% 0%

4.1 Percentage of service users that had their identified needs met 96% 96% 0%

4.2 Percentage of community building grants that were acquitted against identified outcomes 77% 85% (8%)

5.1 Percentage of organisations and individuals who report that the Office of Multicultural Interests had a positive 
impact on the promotion and support of multiculturalism

84% 80% 4%

5.2 Percentage of community grants for multicultural organisations that were acquitted against identified outcomes 73% 85% (12%)
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Efficiency Indicators summary

The summary results for the department’s efficiency indicators are presented below:

Service Efficiency Indicator 2015–16 Actual 2015–16 Target Variance

1. Regulation and support of the 
Early Education and Care sector

1.1 Average cost per licensed service for regulation and 
support

$10,805 $11,291 4%

2. Regulation and support of local 
government

2.1 Average cost per local government for regulation and 
support

$76,070 $96,391 27%

3. Payments to individuals 3.1 Average management cost per WA Seniors Card $6.58 $7.12 8%

4. Delivery of community services, 
grants and resources

4.1 Number of grants and service agreements per FTE 40.5 38.1 6%

4.2 Proportion of administrative and management expenditure 
to service delivery expenditure

8.2% 8.9% 9%

5. Promotion and support of 
multiculturalism

5.1 Average cost per project to support and promote 
multiculturalism

$101,061 $101,315 0.3%

5.2 Number of grants and service agreements per FTE 26.6 37.1 (40%)
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4.1 Service 1 – regulate and 
support the early childhood 
education and care sector

4.1.1  Early childhood legislation 
and intergovernmental 
relations

The Education and Care Legislation and 
Intergovernmental Relations Unit is 
responsible for providing input into the 
ongoing development and review of the 
National Quality Framework for education 
and care services. 

Key achievements 

 · A new National Partnership Agreement 
(NPA) on the National Quality Agenda 
(NQA), designed to reduce red tape 
without compromising the quality of 
early childhood education and care 
services, was signed. This will result in the 
department receiving $4.289 million over 
2015–16 to 2017–18 years.

 · The department participated in the 
Review of the National Quality Agenda 
and provided input to the development 
of the national drafting instructions for 
amendments to the Education and Care 
Services National Law and National 
Regulations, ensuring that Western 
Australia’s unique circumstances were 
accommodated.

 · During the reporting period, the 
department chaired the Early Childhood 
Policy Group (ECPG), a working group 
established under the Australian 
Education Senior Officials (AESOC). The 
ECPG reports to and provides high-level 
strategic policy advice to AESOC on all 
early childhood education and care related 
components of the Ministerial Education 
Council’s strategic reform framework.

Key strategies 

 · Review, develop and enact legislative 
amendments to improve the operation of 
the Acts administered. 

 · Provide advice on early childhood 
education and care policy and legislative 
matters.
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4.1.2  Education and 
care regulation

The Education and Care Regulatory 
Unit aims to enrich the lives of children 
and families by supporting quality and 
continuous improvement in child care 
services throughout the State. This is 
achieved through regulation of the sector 
and the provision of advice and support to 
established and potential providers.

At 30 June 2016, there were 1,139 services.

Centre Based Services

Long Day Care 573 
Outside School Hours Care 440 
Preschool / Kindergartens 14 
Multiple Care Types (i.e. LDC & OSHC) 54

Family Day Care (FDC) Services 58

Number of Childcare Places 59,199  
(Not including family day care)

Key strategies 

 · Regulate education and care services 
State-wide to improve quality and to 
comply with minimum standards.

 · Implement the National Quality 
Framework (NQF) for early childhood 
education and care. 

 · Support the education and care sector and 
relevant stakeholders with information and 
advice.

 · Investigate incidents and complaints.

Key achievements 

 · The department conducted 1,723 
inspections at 1,120 services.

 · Since the introduction of the NQF in 
2012, a total of 716 services have been 
assessed and rated against the National 
Quality Standard.

 · Three hundred and fifty seven NQF 
assessment and rating visits have been 
conducted for 2015–16.

 · Four hundred and seventy seven 
investigations were completed.

 · Seven infringement notices were issued 
and nine compliance matters were 
referred to the State Administrative 
Tribunal.

 · A new condition on all family day care 
centre service approvals has been 
implemented, requiring all educators to 
directly supervise and be in close physical 
proximity to any child in their care when 
they are near a water hazard.
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4.2 Service 2 – regulate and 
support local government

4.2.1  Local government 
advice and support

The department aims to support the local 
government sector in the provision of good 
governance and effective service delivery 
by monitoring, promoting and enforcing 
compliance with the Local Government Act 
1995 (the Act).

Key strategies 

 · Identify and promote best practice in the 
local government sector.

 · Support elected members and chief 
executive officers in the performance of 
their roles.

 · Perform a range of regulatory functions 
primarily related to the administration of 
the Act including approvals, compliance 
monitoring and other statutory support.

 · Provide information and support services 
to local governments to build governance 
capability across the sector and to assist 
individual local governments to comply 
with the requirements of the Act.

 · Monitor financial and legislative compliance 
with the Act and associated regulations.

Key achievements 

 · Funding of $420,000 was allocated for 
elected member training. Training included 
workshops on Serving on Council, 
Meeting Procedures and Debating, Land 
Use Planning and Strategy and Managing 
Risk.

 · Successfully conducted workshops across 
the State, including the following regions: 
Avon Midland, Central Country, Gascoyne, 
Goldfields-Esperance, Great Eastern, 
Great Southern, Kimberley, Pilbara, 
Northern and South West zones.

Image: Taras Vyshnya, Shutterstock
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4.2.2  Local government 
financial monitoring 
and risk analysis

The department has a statutory role to 
assist the Minister in administering the Local 
Government Act 1995. 

Key strategies

 · Monitor local governments through 
the analysis of annual budgets, budget 
reviews, audited financial reports, key 
financial ratios, annual reports and 
compliance audit returns.

 · Identify at-risk local governments, inform 
them of issues identified and put in place 
appropriate support measures. 

Key achievements

 · This year marks the fifth year in which 
a risk profile has been undertaken. The 
department analysed financial data held 
from 2012–13 to 2014–15. The focus 
of this analysis was compliance and 
control issues identified through the 
audit process, and financial and asset 
management sustainability measured by 
statutory key performance ratios.

 · The analysis identified 13 local 
governments that required further review 
and 19 that did not have adequate asset 
management plans. 

 · The department continued to work with 
affected local governments. Strategies 
include the conduct of Probity and 
Compliance Audits, Better Practice 
Reviews and provision of specific advice 
to address identified issues.

4.2.3  Local government 
monitoring and compliance

The Local Government Regulation and 
Support Unit monitors local government 
performance to ensure compliance with the 
Local Government Act 1995. 

Key strategies

 · Conduct investigations leading to 
recommendations to assist local 
governments to improve operationally.

 · Analyse information from complaints, 
inquiries and other sources to promote 
improved compliance and better 
performance in the local government 
sector.

 · Assess and investigate financial interest 
allegations and misconduct complaints.

 · Assess complaints about local government 
operations.

 · Provide administrative support to the Local 
Government Standards Panel.

 · Manage and process statutory approvals.

 · Handle the department’s prosecution 
of matters in the Magistrates Court and 
referrals to the State Administrative 
Tribunal.

Key achievements

 · Serious/General complaints encompassed 
61.58 per cent of all complaints received 
by the department in 2015–16. Serious/
General complaints are defined as those 
that do not fall under the provisions of 
the Local Government (Rules of Conduct) 
Regulations 2007 as administered by the 
Local Government Standards Panel.

 · The following table provides a breakdown 
of the types of allegations received under 
this category, including a list of outcomes 
of the various methods used to deal with 
these complaints.
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Allegation closed between 1 
July 2015 and 30 June 2016

Advice provided, 
no further action 
required by the 

department

Complaint 
unfounded / 

unsubstantiated

Departmental 
warning issued / 

prosecution

Recorded for 
ongoing monitoring 

purposes

Referred to local 
government for 

other action

No jurisdiction / 
referred to other 

agency

Breach of financial interest 
provisions by elected members

6 10 4 0 0 2

Breach of financial interest 
provisions by employees

0 1 0 0 0 0

Failure to lodge primary/annual 
return by due date

2 7 13 6 1 0

Miscellaneous/ other 6 5 0 1 0 0

Other actions of elected 
members and employees

33 0 1 2 0 6

Other processes and 
procedures at an administrative 
level

3 1 0 1 0 1

Procedures within council or 
committee meetings

3 1 0 0 0 0

Process and procedures at 
administrative level related to 
planning issues

8 0 0 0 0 1

Process and procedures at 
elected member level related to 
planning issues

3 1 0 0 0 3

Tendering issues 1 2 0 0 0 0

Improper use of information 0 2 0 1 0 0

Total 65 30 18 11 1 13

Serious/General complaints 2015–16
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4.2.4  Specific local 
government issues

City of Perth

On 23 November 2015, as a consequence of 
a Corruption and Crime Commission (CCC) 
Report on an Investigation into Acceptance 
and Disclosure of Gifts and Travel by the Lord 
Mayor of the City of Perth, the department 
authorised an inquiry under section 8.3(2) 
of the Local Government Act 1995 (the Act). 
The inquiry was to determine whether the 
Lord Mayor of the City of Perth,  
Ms Lisa Scaffidi, complied with Division 
6 of Part 5 of the Act and regulations 11 
and 12 of the Local Government (Rules of 
Conduct) Regulations for the period between 
1 January 2008 and 12 October 2015. 
Allegations contained in the final report were 
referred to the State Administrative Tribunal 
in June 2016.

Shire of York

Shire of York council was suspended in 
January 2014. Upon reinstatement to office 
on 6 July 2015, the Director General of 
the department established a Mentoring 
Monitoring Panel to provide ongoing support 
and assistance to both elected members 

and administration until the end of 2015. The 
panel consisted of Cr Karen Chappel (Shire 
President, Shire of Morawa);  
Mr Daniel Simms (Chief Executive Officer, 
City of Wanneroo) and Ms Jenni Law 
(Director Local Government Regulation  
and Support, Department of Local 
Government and Communities), as Panel 
Chair. Mr Michael Parker (Chief Executive 
Officer, Shire of Harvey) and  
Mr Andrew Borrett (departmental Officer) 
were deputy members. The panel concluded 
its oversight in January and advised that 
governance processes and decision making 
had improved and council was re-refocussing 
on its strategic and policy making roles.

Shire of Wyndham-East Kimberley

In September 2014, the department 
undertook a limited Probity Compliance Audit 
as a result of various concerns brought to 
the department’s attention that included 
complaints from local business proprietors. 
Twenty two recommendations were made 
and all but two have been implemented. 
A number of further complaints have 
been received about the shire, which the 
department is continuing to investigate to 
determine if further intervention is required. 

4.2.5  Local government elections

Biennial ordinary local government elections 
were conducted on 17 October 2015. Prior to 
the elections the department in conjunction 
with the Western Australian Electoral 
Commission (WAEC) ran a comprehensive 
media campaign, designed to:

 · increase voter turnout

 · increase the representation of women, 
young people, Aboriginal people and 
people from culturally and linguistically 
diverse backgrounds in council candidacy.

The elections attracted a record 1,021 
candidates, which is an increase of more 
than 200 on the previous elections. There 
were 110 local governments with contested 
vacancies, compared with 99 in 2013. Of 
these, 75 local governments conducted 
postal elections, and 35 ‘in-person’ elections.
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There were 227 female candidates elected, 
compared to 189 in 2013, and a 70 per cent 
increase in the number of councillors elected 
aged 30 years and younger.

There was a slight increase in voter turnout 
of 27.3 per cent in 2015, compared with 
27.18 per cent in 2013.

4.2.6  WA Local Government 
Grants Commission

The Western Australian Local Government 
Grants Commission is a statutory body 
established under the Local Government 
Grants Act 1978. Its primary function is to 
make recommendations to the Minister 
for Local Government on the distribution 
of financial assistance grants to local 
governments. The membership of the 
commission in the period under review were:

Members:
Mr Linton Reynolds (Chair)  
Mayor Ian Carpenter  
Cr Paul Omodei 
Mayor Carol Adams

Mr Brad Jolly (Department of Local 
Government and Communities - Deputy 
Chair)

Deputy members: 
Cr Pat Hooper  
Cr Stephen Fox 
Mr Don Ennis

The Financial Assistance Grants comprise 
general purpose grants and local road grants. 
The commission is required to determine the 
general purpose and local road grants for all 
138 local governments in Western Australia. 
When the grants have been determined 
they are approved by the Minister for 
Local Government and then forwarded 
to the Commonwealth Minister for Local 
Government for final approval.

In 2015–2016 the total financial assistance 
grants allocation was $281,380,382 which 
includes $173,830,734 for general purpose 
grants and $107,549,648 for local road 
grants.

The commission conducted 20 public 
hearings in 2015–16. As part of its functions, 
the commission is required to visit local 
governments on a cyclical basis to inform 
them about its grants methodology and to 
discuss any submissions received from local 
governments about their grants

4.2.7  Local Government 
Advisory Board

The Local Government Advisory Board is a 
statutory body established under the Local 
Government Act 1995 to assess proposals 
for local government amalgamations, 
representation and district and ward 
boundary amendments. It then makes 
recommendations to the Minister for Local 
Government about the proposals. 

Members:
Cr Mel Congerton (Chair)  
Cr Karen Chappel 
Cr Helen Dullard  
Dr Shayne Silcox 
Ms Mary Adam (Department of Local 
Government and Communities) 

Deputy members:  
Mayor Gary Brennan 
Cr Richard Smith  
Mr Mark Chester  
Mr Tim Fowler (Department of Local 
Government and Communities) 

The Board conducted public inquiries into a 
number of proposals, including the following:

 · An elector’s proposal to amend the City of 
Bayswater’s district boundary to include a 



4.0 Agency Performance

26

portion of the suburb of Noranda currently 
located in the City of Swan.

 · An elector’s proposal to amend the Town 
of Mosman Park’s district boundary to 
include a portion of the suburb of North 
Fremantle currently located in the City of 
Fremantle. 

 · An elector’s proposal to amend the City of 
Gosnells’ district boundary to include part 
of the locality of Wattle Grove currently 
located in the Shire of Kalamunda. 

 · A Shire of Dalwallinu proposal to amend 
the Shire of Dalwallinu’s district boundary 
to include parts of Paynes Find and 
adjacent pastoral stations currently located 
in the Shire of Yalgoo.

With the exception of the Noranda proposal, 
the Board rejected the proposed boundary 
amendments. During the course of the North 
Fremantle inquiry, the Board received a 
further proposal from the City of Fremantle. 
The Board recommended acceptance of 
the proposal but this was rejected by the 
Minister for Local Government.

The Minister for Local Government agreed to 
the Board’s recommendation to accept the 
Noranda proposal, which was due to come 
into effect on 1 July 2016.

The Board also made recommendations on 
a number of minor boundary changes and 
ward and representation reviews.

The amalgamation of the Shire and Town of 
Narrogin was due to take effect on 1 July 
2016, as a result of a Board recommendation 
in July 2015.

4.2.8  Local Government 
Standards Panel

The Local Government Standards Panel 
is an independent body formed under the 
Local Government Act 1995 to deal with 
complaints about elected members’ conduct 
constituting a minor breach (as defined by 
the Act).

The key function of the panel is to receive 
and deal with complaints made by any 
person about the conduct of individual 
elected members, referred to in the 
legislation as ‘minor breaches’. Under the 
legislation the panel can deal with a minor 
breach by:

 · dismissing the complaint

 · ordering a sanction (public censure, public 
apology, training)

 · ordering a combination of sanctions.

Members:

Presiding member: 
Mr Brad Jolly

Local Government member: 
Cr Paul Kelly

Legal member: 
Mr Peter Doherty (ceased April 2016) 
Ms Merranie Strauss (commenced June 2016)

Deputy members: 
Department: 
Dr Chris Berry (ceased May 2016) 
Mrs Sheryl Siekierka (commenced June 2016)

Local Government: 
Rt Hon Lisa-Michelle Scaffidi (ceased Oct 2015) 
Cr Rebecca Aubrey (commenced June 2016)

Legal: 
Mr Richard Hooker (ceased Sept 2015) 
Ms Rachel Yates (commenced June 2016)

The panel received 55 minor breach 
complaints and finalised 57 complaints 
(which included complaints received in 
2014–15). The finalised complaints contained 
126 allegations.

The Standards Panel found 11 minor breaches 
in 2015–16, of which seven complaints 
were dealt with by ordering sanctions. The 
sanctions ordered consisted of five public 
apologies and two public censures.
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4.2.9  Indian Ocean Territories

The department has a service delivery 
agreement with the Commonwealth 
Department of Infrastructure and Regional 
Development for the Shires of Cocos (Keeling) 
Island and Christmas Island. These local 
governments are Indian Ocean Territories, 
however they operate under the auspices of 
the Local Government Act 1995. The agreement 
covers the period 2015–2019 and will allow 
the department to provide the same level of 
advice and support to these local governments 
as it provides to Western Australian local 
governments during this period.

4.2.10 Legislative development 
and review

The department strengthens and supports 
local governments by administering and 
reviewing the Local Government Act 1995 
and developing related policy.

Key strategies

 · Provide effective regulation in the local 
government sector, including a range of 
statutory functions.

 · Review, develop and enact various 
legislative amendments to improve the 
operation of Acts administered.

 · Provide advice and support to local 
governments and the community.

Key achievements

 · The City of Perth Act 2016 came into 
effect on 3 March 2016. The passing of the 
Act has brought WA into line with all other 
mainland states which have capital city 
legislation.

 · The Local Government Act 1995 was 
amended to require councillors and 
designated officers to declare gifts and 
travel contributions to the CEO of the local 
government within 10 days of receipt and 
then publicly make this information available 
on the local government’s website. 

 · The Local Government Legislation 
Amendment Bill 2014 completed 
its passage through the Legislative 
Assembly on 19 May 2016. The Bill makes 

amendments to the Local Government 
Act 1995 to improve processes for the 
Standards Panel and local laws reducing 
duplication and red tape. It also introduces 
the regional subsidiary model which will 
facilitate two or more local governments 
to work together to deliver services or 
carry out functions jointly. 

 · A Regulatory Impact Statement for the 
review of the Caravan Parks and Camping 
Grounds legislation was finalised after 
extensive consultation across the State.

 · Amendments to the Local Government 
(Functions and General) Regulations 1996 
were made to improve the purchase and 
tendering practices of local government.

 · A review of the Local Government (Rules 
of Conduct) Regulations 2007 and the 
Minor Breach Disciplinary Framework was 
undertaken. 

 · The policies underpinning Ministerial 
determinations on local government 
rates were reviewed and updated after 
consultation with key stakeholders.

 · The process for assessment of assistance 
dogs, accredited under the Dog Act 1976, 
including accreditation of independent 
assessors, was reviewed and improved.
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4.2.11  Country local 
government reform

The department continues to support 
country local government reform initiatives, 
including support to regional and remote 
area local governments participating in 
four regional collaborative groups. Priority 
collaborative projects are funded through 
the Royalties for Regions’ Country Local 
Government Fund.

Key strategies
Work collaboratively with State Government 
agencies and local governments to:

 · progress and support structural reform

 · invest in local government capacity 
building

 · support country local government reform 
initiatives

 · provide regular and timely advice to 
local governments, communities and 
stakeholders

 · encourage and support good governance 
and operational efficiency.

Key achievements

 · The merger of the Shire and Town of 
Narrogin was finalised with assistance 
of $1.2 million, and the new Shire of 
Narrogin was due to come into effect on 
1 July 2016.

 · The Kimberley Regional Collaborative 
Group completed the Capacity Audit 
Synergy component of its Regional 
Business Plan and work on the Corporate 
Performance Management component 
was well progressed.

 · The Pilbara Regional Collaborative Group 
successfully acquitted funding for the 
Payroll Processing and Designated 
Area Migration Agreement projects, 
with ongoing work to continue into 
2018, funded by the participant local 
governments.

 · Support was provided to the Goldfields 
Esperance Regional Collaborative 
Group local governments for their asset 
management project.
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4.2.12 Local government 
capacity building

The department’s capacity building program 
comprises a range of initiatives to 

 · assist local governments to build their 
capacity and capability in key strategic and 
operational areas 

 · improve governance, transparency and 
accountability and mitigate risk across 
their operations

 · build partnerships with local community 
sector organisations to achieve innovative 
and integrated local solutions, improved 
service delivery and tangible outcomes for 
communities.

In regional Western Australia, the program 
has been supported through the Royalties for 
Regions’ Country Local Government Fund.

LGMA Women’s Forum November 2015

Key strategies

 · Work to implement the Integrated 
Planning and Reporting Framework.

 · Provide training, funding and advice 
to support local governments to meet 
regulatory requirements.

 · Assist country local governments with 
knowledge transfer and capacity building 
in the areas of asset management and 
long-term financial planning.

 · Develop the quality/scope of local 
government planning for the future 
through greater integration with State, 
Commonwealth and community agency 
planning for services.

Key achievements

 · All 138 local governments have engaged 
with their communities and developed a 
10-year Strategic Community Plan.

 · One hundred and eighty participants from 
more than 70 councils participated in a 
series of four workshops to review and 
update the existing Integrated Planning 
and Reporting (IPR) Framework, first 
published in 2011.

 · Sixty four country local governments 
continued their work on Phases One and 
Two of the National Asset Management 
and Assessment Framework and Asset 
Condition Rating Project.

 · Phase 3 of the elected member training 
program for country local governments 
was completed.

 · Better Practice Reviews were undertaken 
with 10 country local governments 
resulting in improved governance and 
operating processes and procedures.
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4.2.13 MyCouncil website

To strengthen local government accountability 
and performance, the MyCouncil website 
was launched as a place where West 
Australians can find out and compare how 
local governments are raising, spending and 
managing their money. 

www.mycouncil.wa.gov.au

Key strategies

 · Present information about a local 
government’s overall financial health 
through a Financial Health Indicator.

 · Provide a picture of a local government’s 
financial health over time across areas 
of financial performance and asset 
management that enables the public and 
local governments to better understand 
areas for improvement.

 · Enable the public to be more informed 
about local government. 

 · Drive greater efficiency and competition 
across local governments.

Key achievements

 · The MyCouncil website enables the public 
to view and compare financial information 
in one place for the first time.

 · The Financial Health Indicator, an 
Australian first was developed in 
conjunction with the Western Australia 
Treasury Corporation, and has translated 
financial ratios that local governments are 
required to report annually into an easy to 
understand result.

 · The website attracted some 75,000 page 
views during its first two months of 
operation.
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WA Total Revenue $3.9 Bn*

Financial Ratio Comparison

WA Total Expenditure $3.7 Bn*
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4.3 Service 3 – payments 
to individuals

The department provides financial support 
to individual community members through 
direct payments, including the Cost of Living 
Rebate and Grandcarer Support Scheme. 
These payments are made to eligible 
recipients to assist with the living expenses 
associated with their caring role, recognising 
the important contribution that seniors and 
grandcarers make to the community.

4.3.1  WA Seniors Card Centre

The department connects directly with older 
people through the provision of the WA 
Seniors Card and associated rebates and 
concessions. There are more than 370,000 
West Australians with a WA Seniors Card. 

Key strategies

 · Administer the WA Seniors Card program 
and associated concessions and discounts, 
including the Cost of Living Rebate.

 · Collaborate with State Government agencies 
to provide seniors with concessions and 
discounts on a range of services.

 · Work with private businesses to offer 
discounts on goods and services.

 · Provide ongoing customer service, 
information, referral advice and assistance to 
seniors, through the WA Seniors Card Centre.

Key achievements

 · Launched in November 2015, the ‘My 
Seniors Card’ online account enables 
seniors to apply for a new or replacement 
card, update their personal details, 
view payments received by the State 
Government and obtain information on 
other concessions and discounts available.

 – More than 4,500 new applications 
and 300 replacement cards have been 
processed through the new My Seniors 
Card online system. 
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 · Issued and welcomed more than 14,500 
new members to the WA Seniors Card 
program.

 · Responded to more than 29,000 calls 
and 5,000 emails to the WA Seniors 
Card Centre, made by seniors seeking 
information and advice. 

 · Increased the discounts offered to seniors 
with more than 50 new business partners 
included in the WA Seniors Card program.

 · Partnered with the Department of 
Transport to develop the WA Photo ID 
Card and contributed $135,000 towards 
implementation costs. WA Seniors Card 
holders receive a 50 per cent rebate on 
the application fee.

4.3.2  Cost of Living Rebate

The Cost of Living Rebate was introduced 
by the State Government to assist WA 
Seniors Card holders to meet increased 
living expenses. Each July, the department 
makes an automatic payment into the 
seniors’ nominated bank account. The rebate 
payment for 2015–16 was $83.85 for singles 
and $125.78 for couples.

Key strategies

 · Promote and administer the Cost of Living 
Rebate to WA Seniors Card holders.

 · Apply governance measures and 
processes to ensure rebate payments are 
made to eligible seniors.

 · Enable WA Seniors Card holders to offset 
increased living expenses.

Key achievements

 · Administered nearly $22 million in Cost  
of Living Rebate payments to 301,104  
WA seniors.

 · Eighty one per cent of WA Seniors Card 
holders have registered to receive the rebate.

 · The My Seniors Card online account now 
allows seniors to register for the rebate and 
change their bank account details online. 

4.3.3  Grandcarers 
Support Scheme

The Grandcarers Support Scheme is a 
payment provided directly to grandparents 
who have primary responsibility for 
raising their grandchildren. The scheme 
was introduced by the State Government 
to acknowledge the additional financial 
pressures faced by grandcarers.

Key strategies

 · Support Wanslea Family Services to 
administer the Grandcarer Support 
Scheme. 

 · Develop departmental processes to 
ensure payments to grandcarers are made 
in a timely manner to the nominated bank 
account by the WA Seniors Card Centre. 

Key achievements

 · Provision of $203,800 funding to Wanslea 
Family Services to administer the 
Grandcarer Support Scheme including 
assessment and evaluation of applicants.

 · More than 1,000 payments have been 
made to 946 grandcarers providing care 
for 1,669 grandchildren at a cost of 
$555,150. 

 · This included more than 280 grandcarers 
who have registered for their first payment.
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4.4 Service 4 – deliver 
community services, 
grants and resources

4.4.1  Seniors

The department supports the State’s steadily 
growing and diverse population of seniors 
through a range of initiatives to enable them 
to live full and active lives. 

Key strategies 
Collaborate and partner with seniors, State 
and local government, and community sector 
organisations to enable seniors to age well 
and in place through:

 · support for the development of age-
friendly communities through the Age-
friendly Community Grants program

 · provision of information on and support 
for whole-of-life planning, maintenance of 
independence and healthy lifestyles

 · encouragement and facilitation of seniors’ 
active participation in the community

 · delivery of services, concessions and 
discounts to seniors

 · development of evidence-based programs 
and initiatives for seniors

 · funding of programs and initiatives 
supporting seniors’ inclusion, participation 
and security. 

Key achievements 

 · Invested more than $1 million in initiatives 
that encourage seniors’ inclusion, 
participation and feelings of safety and 
security within their community. 

 · Improved targeting of seniors’ 
concessions in line with the views of 
Western Australian Council of Social 
Service (WACOSS), Council on the  
Ageing WA and the Seniors Ministerial 
Advisory Council.

 · Held the Age-Friendly Western Australian 
Workshop which was attended by more 
than 80 representatives from State and 
local government, universities and the 
community services sector. Dr Jane 
Barratt, Chair International Federation on 
Ageing was the keynote speaker.

 · Partnered with the business sector to 
expand the availability of concessions and 
discounts for WA Seniors Card holders. 

(See also 4.3.1, 4.3.2).

Seniors Week 2015 - Rock n’ Roll event
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4.4.2  Volunteering

The department supports and fosters the 
development of volunteering in WA through 
targeted strategies and programs. 

Key strategies 
Collaborate and partner with State 
Government and local government, 
volunteering organisations and the tertiary 
sector to:

 · support and promote volunteering as 
outlined in Vital Volunteering 2011–2016

 · support research and analyse information 
to inform strategic directions

 · acknowledge and recognise the invaluable 
contribution volunteers make to Western 
Australian communities 

 · provide volunteering opportunities within 
the department’s customer service 
areas of the WA Seniors Card Centre and 
Women’s Information Line. 

Key achievements 

 · Invested $1.3 million in the community 
services sector to:

 – encourage West Australians from a range 
of backgrounds and ages to volunteer 
in their community through their local 
Volunteer Development Service 

 – support the Volunteer Centre of 
Western Australia (VWA) to provide 
State-wide sector support services to 
community organisations

 – coordinate 42 Thank a Volunteer Day 
events throughout the State.

 · Recognised 425 volunteers with 25 or 
more years of service to one agency with 
Volunteer Service Awards.

 · Contributed to the development of 
two regional initiatives, the Kimberley 
Volunteering Strategy and the ‘Welcome 
Wi-Fi online service’ for the Pilbara 
Regional Councils.

 · Support to the sector during the reporting 
period July to December 20151 resulted in: 

 – six thousand three hundred and 
eighteen individual consultations 
conducted with potential volunteers

 – seven hundred and three community 
groups/organisations received online, 
face-to-face or telephone support

 – twenty eight training workshops 
provided to 316 volunteers.

WA Volunteer Service Awards 2016 recipient - John Wilson 

1 Reporting to the department by community service 
organisations is on a six monthly basis with the second 
reporting period outside of the 2015–16 Annual Report 
production deadline.
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4.4.3  Carers

The department works to support carers 
through the administration of the Carers 
Recognition Act 2004, provision of support to 
the Carers Advisory Council, funding to support 
carers and evidence-based policy and initiatives.

Key strategies 
Collaborate with carers, government 
agencies and community service 
organisations, to: 

 · support and provide opportunities to 
access information 

 · acknowledge and recognise carers’ 
unique contribution to Western Australia’s 
communities

 · support carers to collaborate in decision 
making on issues impacting the people for 
whom they care and themselves

 · fund Carers WA initiatives which provide 
information, support and counselling to 
carers in Western Australia. 

Key achievements 

 · Invested more than $831,000 in Carers 
WA programs to support carers in 
Western Australia. 

 · Launched the WA Carers Strategy 
to guide the actions of the whole 
community and focus efforts on 
recognising and supporting carers.

 · Introduced an online WA Carers Services 
Directory for carers to access information 
about services available to them. 

 · Support to the sector during the reporting 
period July to December 20152 resulted in:

 – one thousand and twelve carers 
supported through the Carers 
Counselling Line

 – one thousand nine hundred and twenty 
eight carers attending social networking 
activities

 – sixty five carers and 18 service 
providers attending training and 
education activities.

2Reporting to the department by community service 
organisations is on a six monthly basis with the second 
reporting period outside of the 2015–16 Annual Report 
production deadline.
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4.4.4  Youth

The department supports programs that 
encourage young people’s participation 
and leadership in the community enabling 
them to deal with education, mental health, 
addiction, bullying and safety issues.

Key strategies 
Collaborate and partner with young people, 
youth organisations and community and 
government stakeholders to encourage 
and support young people to engage in 
community life by: 

 · promoting the wellbeing and positive 
images of young people

 · supporting opportunities for young people 
to reach their full potential as respected 
and contributing members of the 
community

 · facilitating young people’s participation 
in the planning, development and 
implementation of services to meet their 
diverse needs

 · investing in programs, grants and funded 
services to benefit young people across 
Western Australia.

Key achievements 

 · Invested $6.2 million in locally based 
initiatives and programs that benefit 
young people in metropolitan and regional 
Western Australia.

 · More than 9,000 young people 
participated in a WA cadet program. 
Cadets have an opportunity to participate 
in a diverse range of established programs 
that include emergency services, bush 
rangers, police rangers, Red Cross, surf 
life-saving, defence forces and river 
rangers.

 · The River Rangers Program was expanded 
beyond the metropolitan area with the 
launch of two new units in the Kimberley.

WA Youth Award winners and finalists 2015
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 · The 20th anniversary of the WA Cadets 
program was celebrated and 18 instructors 
were honoured who have collectively 
served the program for 199 years.

 · Fifty nine young people participated in 
the YMCA Youth Parliament, building the 
confidence and skills of young people to 
contribute their views of their electorate 
at a state level.

 · Seventy two events were held as part of 
National Youth Week, of which 70 per cent 
were in regional Western Australia.

 · Nine local governments accessed Youth 
Friendly Communities grants to develop 
plans and actions to support young 
people.

 · Twenty seven organisations accessed 
Youth Activity Grants to get young people 
involved in community projects and 
events. 

 · The department and Minister supported 
the development of a Kimberley Regional 
Youth Strategy, used to identify key 
concerns of youth across the region. 

 · With the department’s support, 28 local 
governments each had Youth Advisory 
Councils enabling young people to 
participate in matters affecting their local 
community.

 · Support to the sector during the reporting 
period July to December 20153 resulted in: 3Reporting to the department by community service 

organisations is on a six monthly basis with the second 
reporting period outside the 2015–16 Annual Report 
production deadline.

Emergency Services Cadet UnitKimberley River Rangers

 – ten thousand and eighteen young 
people accessing youth services

 – one thousand one hundred and eighty 
eight young people contributing a total 
of 39,927 volunteer hours through the 
Youth Development services

 – two thousand nine hundred and seventy 
three young people receiving 10,645 
individual consultations from Youth 
Support services. The main issues 
presenting included mental health, 
suicidal related issues, self-harm and 
peer/partner relationship and conflict.
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4.4.5  Women’s interests

The department works in partnership with 
women, all levels of government, the 
community, business and the tertiary sector 
to develop and implement evidence-based 
policies, programs and initiatives that promote 
and support women’s full participation.

Key strategies 

 · Promote women’s economic 
independence by encouraging and 
supporting them to explore new 
avenues of income generation, including 
entrepreneurship.

 · Support and encourage women to pursue 
and reach leadership positions by identifying 
and addressing barriers to attainment.

 · Champion and celebrate women’s 
achievements and contributions.

 · Support women to make informed decisions 
by providing information and advice on 
women’s issues through the Women’s 
Information Service telephone line.

 · Identify and address barriers to women’s 
employment and career advancement 
in skilled trades, science, technology, 
engineering and maths. 

 · Fund the women’s grants program to 
provide opportunities for community 
organisations and local governments 
to develop projects that strengthen 
economic wellbeing and women’s access 
to leadership positions. 

Key achievements 

 · Invested $85,150 in the women’s grants 
program which funded 19 initiatives 
undertaken by community organisations 
and local governments.

 · Hosted a series of three Women’s 
Consultative Forums to identify strategies 
that support and enable increased female 
workforce participation across the lifespan.

 · Produced and distributed the 2015 
Women’s Report Card, which contains 
extensive data and research about 
West Australian women in the areas of 
leadership, economic independence, 
safety and justice, and health and 
wellbeing.

Inspiring Entrepreneurship Luncheon 2015
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 · Raised the profile of women’s 
entrepreneurial achievements and 
provided information about small business 
as a pathway to economic independence 
through a series of forums.

 · Encouraged women to participate in 
the Curtin Growth Ignition program and 
mentoring programs provided through 
Women in Mining WA and Women in 
Global Business.

 · Promoted and distributed the ‘Being Board 
Ready: A Guide for Women’ publication 
to support and encourage women to 
participate in leadership and board roles.

 · Encouraged girls into technology based 
careers through the Women in Technology 
Western Australia for the Techtrails project 
in high schools.

 · Responded to 653 calls to the Women’s 
Information Service telephone line.

4.4.6  Children and families

(a) Parenting WA

Key strategies 

 · Support parents and caregivers of children 
aged from pre-birth to 18 years old across 
the State through the provision of advice, 
support and education. 

 · Operate a parent information line, free 
library service and social media presence, 
including hosting an online guide for 
available parenting courses. 

 · Work collaboratively with Child and Parent 
Centres to deliver parenting support. 

 · Support the community sector to provide 
information, assistance and support to 
parents and families with children from 
pre-birth to 18 years old. 

Key achievements 

 · $4.8 million was distributed to service 
providers for programs and information to 
support parents and families with children 
from pre-birth to 18 years old.

 · Supported WA parents and families through 
the delivery of parent education workshops, 
such as Circle of Security and Tuning into 
Kids and Teens; responding to Parenting WA 
Line calls and individual requests for advice, 
support and information. 

 · Plans were progressed for the 
establishment of a new Centre for 
Parenting Excellence.

(b) Aboriginal Early Years – Best Start

Key strategies

 · Support Aboriginal families with children 
up to five years old by providing play and 
learn programs designed to enhance 
children’s preparation for school. 

 · Contribute to the Government’s commitment 
to improve education outcomes for Aboriginal 
children, by assisting families to transition 
to the new KindiLink program in 37 schools 
across the State. 

Women’s Report Card 2015
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d) Regional Community Child 
Care Development Fund

The Regional Community Child Care 
Development Fund was established 
through the State Government’s Royalties 
for Regions program in response to, and 
recognition of, the challenges faced by 
education and care services operating in 
regional Western Australia. 

The fund supports the long-term 
sustainability of regional community-
managed education and care services with a 
range of initiatives including grant programs 
and planning. 

Key strategies

 · Contribute to the sustainability of regional 
community-managed education and care 
services.

 · Contribute to education and care sector 
initiatives that support the sustainability of 
a group of services or the regional sector.

Key achievements

 · $787,737 funding distributed to eligible 
regionally-managed education and care 
service providers. This comprised  
$637,737 in operational grants and 
$100,000 for inclusion support.

 · $602,747 in strategic grants to eligible 
education and care sector providers 
that support the sustainability of service 
delivery.

 · Finalised a regional State-wide education 
and care services plan.

 · Completed a feasibility study for a new 
governance model for education and care 
services in the Wheatbelt region and 
piloted a new consultancy support model 
for education and care services in the 
South West region.

 · Completed an external evaluation of stage 
one of the fund, which identified that 
the objectives had been achieved and 
recommended its continuation.

 · Provided 58 grants to support professional 
development, equipment upgrades, policy 
development and other operational costs 
in regional education and care centres.

 · Provided 15 grants to support strategic 
projects researching and trialling new 
ways for sustaining the education and 
care sector.

Key achievements

 · Continued funding and support for 
programs to support Aboriginal children 
0–5 years old to develop key learning skills 
before they start school. 

 · This year 749 children attended the 13 
Best Start programs delivered State-wide.

(c) Support to grandcarers / families 

Key strategies

 · Fund training and support services 
provided by Wanslea Family Services that 
support grandcarers who care for their 
grandchildren.

(See also 4.3.3 - Grandcarers Support 
Scheme)

Key achievements

 · $378,270 funding provided to Wanslea 
Family Services to deliver:

 – an information line, one-on-one support 
and group activities

 – respite, counselling, training workshops, 
support groups, home help and tutoring 
for grandcarers.

 · Reviewed and circulated the updated 
Grandfamilies: A Resource Guide for 
Western Australian Grandparents Raising 
Grandchildren to grandcarers and relevant 
agencies.



4.0 Agency Performance

42

4.4.7  Community development

Community Development Roundtable

The Community Development Roundtable 
comprises the Western Australian Council 
of Social Service (WACOSS), Western 
Australian Local Government Association 
(WALGA), Local Government Managers 
Australia WA (LGMA) and the Department 
of Local Government and Communities. 
The roundtable works to facilitate stronger 
partnerships between State and local 
government and the community sector in 
Western Australia.

Key strategies 

 · Provide guidance on, and promote the 
benefits of, collaborative strategic planning 
and action.

 · Encourage and facilitate collaborative 
planning to identify place-based needs and 
expectations.

 · Promote local governments’ role in 
community development.

 · Encourage and support data sharing, 
collection and analysis to inform priority-
setting and decision-making.

 · Identify and promote opportunities for 
networking, professional development and 
information sharing.

 · Explore opportunities to better integrate 
the private sector in community 
development planning and delivery. 

Key achievements 

 · Developed and launched the guide 
Working Effectively with Local 
Governments: A Guide for Community 
Sector Organisations.

 · Produced and circulated across all 138 
local governments, the guide Community 
Development: A Guide for Local 
Government Elected Members.

 · Developed a proposal to support 
community development planning 
for country local governments, to 
be supported by the Country Local 
Government Fund.

 · Facilitated the inclusion of a seminar on 
community development at the 2015 Local 
Government Convention.

Young people at the 2016 YACtivate! Conference
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Key strategies

 · Create a more collaborative and innovative 
public sector.

 · Promote partnership as an enduring way 
of designing and delivering community 
services in Western Australia.

 · Foster co-design of integrated community 
services.

 · Oversee ongoing reform to government 
procurement.

 · Support movement towards outcomes 
based contracting. 

Partnership Forum

The Partnership Forum brings together 
leaders from State Government agencies 
and the not-for-profit community sector, and 
consumer advocates, to improve outcomes 
for all West Australians. The forum meets 
on a quarterly basis and is facilitated by an 
independent Chair. Progress and activities 
are reported regularly to the Premier.

The forum was created in response to 
the Putting the Public First: Partnering 
with the Community and Business to 
Deliver Outcomes report released by the 
Government’s Economic Audit Committee  
in 2009.

One of the forum’s four key focus areas is 
the early years. The Partnership Forum Early 
Years Working Group was formed to lead 
and demonstrate a new way of planning and 
implementing early years services, centred 
around partnership and collaboration, to 
improve early years outcomes. The working 
group identified a place-based initiative in the 
Cities of Cockburn and Kwinana to improve 
the health and wellbeing of children, aged 
from birth to eight years old, as measured by 
the Australian Early Development Census.

Key achievements
The department’s involvement in the 
Cockburn and Kwinana Early Years Initiative, 
Connecting Community for Kids, has led to 
the following key achievements:

 · the collaboration of 16 organisations 
including State Government agencies, 
community service organisations and 
the corporate sector to better coordinate 
investment in service delivery to children 
aged from birth to eight years old, in order 
to improve early years outcomes

 · secured funding of $2 million by Woodside 
to support the project team responsible 
for implementing the initiative.

Community Services Minister Simpson (centre) at Early Years Networks Support Program launch, September 2015



4.0 Agency Performance

44

4.4.8  Community funding

The department provides funding to the 
community services sector across Western 
Australia to achieve innovative and integrated 
local solutions, improve service delivery and 
provide tangible outcomes for communities.

Key strategies 

 · Develop and manage grants and 
funded service agreements with 
local governments and community 
organisations for the delivery of a range of 
community services.

Key achievements 

 · More than $37 million has been provided 
to 429 not-for-profit organisations and local 
governments for a range of community 
services.

 · In addition to the support for portfolio 
areas described elsewhere, support has 
been provided for financial counselling 
services, community gardens, men’s 
sheds, community and neighbourhood 
centres and companion animal shelters.

 · Responsibility for financial counselling 
services was transferred to the 
department from the Department for 
Child Protection and Family Support 

in September 2015. New funding 
arrangements have been established 
with 18 organisations to deliver financial 
counselling in both metropolitan and 
regional WA. 

 · An independent review was completed 
of the department’s procurement 
processes for community services. The 
review established a community funding 
framework to inform and guide the 
department’s procurement practice and a 
process to ensure that the procurement 
of community services target community 
need and those most vulnerable in the 
community.

A table of funding to all organisations can be 
found in section 7.

Dogs’ Refuge Home CEO Judy Flanagan with rescue dog ‘Bronson’  Community Gardens programMembers of the Fremantle Men’s Community Shed
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4.5 Service 5 – Promotion and 
support of multiculturalism 
in Western Australia

Western Australia is one of the most 
culturally, linguistically and religiously diverse 
states in Australia, with 30.7 per cent of 
the population born overseas. WA is home 
to people from more than 190 countries, 
speaking in excess of 270 languages and 
dialects (including Indigenous languages) 
and identifying with more than 130 religious 
groups.

 The Office of Multicultural Interests (OMI) 
in the Department of Local Government 
and Communities works to achieve the full 
potential of multiculturalism in WA. This 

requires strategies that include the whole 
community, including business and industry 
groups, government and non-government 
agencies, culturally diverse communities and 
the wider community.

Key strategies 

 · Strengthen the capacity of culturally diverse 
communities to maintain their cultures and 
address their diverse needs.

 · Support the development of culturally 
inclusive policies, programs and services.

 · Facilitate full participation by culturally and 
linguistically diverse (CaLD) communities 
in social, economic, cultural and civic 
activities.

 · Develop intercultural understanding and 
promote benefits of WA’s cultural and 
linguistic diversity.

 · Provide funding opportunities to support 
and strengthen WA’s CaLD Communities.

Celebrating Harmony Week 2016

Launch of African Leadership Initiative
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Key achievements 

 · Invested more than $7.032 million  
in CaLD communities, of which  
$2.6 million was provided to community 
and non-government organisations to 
develop programs and services for CaLD 
communities.

 · Redeveloped the Community Languages 
Program resulting in:

 – a new Community Languages Program 
Policy and Implementation Framework

 – new grant opportunities
 – introduction of professional learning for 
teachers and administrators together 
with the development of a School 
Accreditation Program

 – better quality control mechanisms for 
the community languages sector

 – a 100 per cent increase in the number 
of languages receiving direct financial 
support from the program

 – a 55 per cent increase in the number of 
schools receiving direct financial support 
from the program.

 · Supported three new capacity building 
initiatives through the Multicultural 
Partnerships Program 2016–18: 
 – African Leadership Initiative – delivered 
by the Metropolitan Migrant Resource 
Centre, which aims to form a 
recognised leadership network for the 
WA African community.

Dr Mike Nahan MLA, Minister for Citizenship and Multicultural Interests with winners from the 2016 Multicultural Recognition Awards

Diwali 2015

Swim and Survive program for CaLD communities 

WA’s first CaLD Youth Leadership Conference
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 – A Shared Future - delivered by 
Relationships Australia WA to increase 
understanding of the early indicators of 
anti-social and at-risk behaviours and 
implement youth initiated strategies.

 – A Global Workforce – delivered by 
Communicare to increase migrants’ 
workforce participation in their area of 
qualification, skill and experience.

 · Almost doubled the number of registered 
users of the OMI Diverse WA online 
cultural competency training package, to 
more than 12,000.

 · Implemented two new initiatives as part 
of Harmony Week:

 – ‘Voices in Harmony’ – a soundtrack 
featuring 15 local musicians representing 
WA’s culturally diverse community

 – formally recognising the efforts 
of organisations and individuals 
for outstanding contribution to 
multiculturalism though a Multicultural 
Recognition Awards program.

 · Coordinated two funding forums in 
Kalgoorlie-Boulder and Bayswater bringing 
community groups together with eight 
different government funding bodies. 
More than 125 people attended one of the 
two forums.

 · In partnership with the Youth Affairs 
Council of Western Australia (YACWA) 
successfully secured $45,000 from 
the Department of Finance’s Fostering 
Partnership Program to determine the 
current needs of culturally diverse youth in 
WA and develop a financially sustainable 
model to address those needs.

 · Supported YACWA, auspicing the 
Multicultural Youth Advocacy Network 
of Western Australia (MYANWA), for a 
youth leadership conference, Catalyst, 
which identified a range of priority issues 
for CaLD young people and potential 
strategies to address them.

 · Successfully partnered with:

 – Umbrella and Alzheimer’s Australia 
to establish and formulate potential 
strategies to meet the needs of CaLD 
seniors in accessing aged care services 
and supporting those living with 
dementia

 – Scanlon Foundation for a thought 
leadership event launching a discussion 
paper on the evolving nature of 
citizenship and how citizenship 
influences our sense of belonging and 
social participation. 

Scanlon Foundation thought leadership event
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5.1 Financial statements

INDEPENDENT AUDlTOR’S REPORT

To the Parliament of Western Australia

DEPARTMENT OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND COMMUNITIES

Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Department of 
Local Government and Communities.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as 
at 30 June 2016, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement 
of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Schedule of Income 
and Expenses by Service, Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service, 
and Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income 
Estimates for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, including 
administered transactions and balances.

Opinion

In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts 
and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Department of Local Government and Communities at 30 June 2016 
and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. 
They are in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Treasurer’s instructions.

Director General’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s instructions, and 
for such internal control as the Director General determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the financial statements based on my audit. The 
audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements 
relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and 
performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Department’s preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Director 
General, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my audit opinion.

5.0 Disclosures and Legal Compliance
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5.0 Disclosures and Legal Compliance

Report on Controls

I have audited the controls exercised by the Department of Local 
Government and Communities during the year ended 30 June 2016.

Controls exercised by the Department of Local Government and 
Communities are those policies and procedures established by the 
Director General to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment 
of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of 
liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions.

Opinion

In my opinion, in all material respects, the controls exercised by the 
Department of Local Government and Communities are sufficiently 
adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure 
and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the 
incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions 
during the year ended 30 June 2016.

Director General’s Responsibility for Controls 
The Director General is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of 
internal control to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of 
money, the acquisition and disposal of public and other property, and the 
incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management Act 
2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of Controls 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the controls exercised by the department of 
Local Government and Communities based on my audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about 
the adequacy of controls to ensure that the Department complies with the 
legislative provisions. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgement and include an evaluation of the design and implementation of 
relevant controls.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators

I have audited the key performance indicators of the Department of Local 
Government and Communities for the year ended 30 June 2016.

The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators 
and the key efficiency indicators that provide information on outcome 
achievement and service provision.

Opinion

In my opinion, in all material respects, the key performance indicators of 
the Department of Local Government and Communities are relevant and 
appropriate to assist users to assess the department’s performance and 
fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2016.

Director General’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators 
The Director General is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the key performance indicators in accordance with the 
Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions and for 
such controls as the Director General determines necessary to ensure that 
the key performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of Key Performance Indicators 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the key performance indicators based on my 
audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance 
Standards.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about 
the key performance indicators. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making these risk 
assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Director 
General’s preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the relevance and 
appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the 
extent of outcome achievement and service provision.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting the above audits, l have complied with the independence 
requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and 
Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical requirements.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited 
Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators

This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key 
performance indicators of the Department of Local Government 
and Communities for the year ended 30 June 2016 included on the 
Department’s website. The Department’s management is responsible 
for the integrity of the Department’s website. This audit does not provide 
assurance on the integrity of the Department’s website. The auditor’s 
report refers only to the financial statements and key performance 
indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other 
information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial 
statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial 
statements and key performance indicators are concerned with the 

inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised 
to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial statements and key 
performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this 
website version of the financial statements and key performance 
indicators.

COLIN MURPHY 
AUDITOR GENERAL 
FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA 

Perth, Western Australia 
26 August 2016
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Financial Statements

CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Local 
Government and Communities have been prepared in compliance with the 
provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts 
and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2016 and the financial position as at 30 June 2016.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would 
render the particulars included in the financial statements misleading or 
inaccurate. 

  
Accountable Authority Chief Finance Officer 
23 August 2016 23 August 2016
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For the year ended 30 June 2016

See also the ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’. 
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read  
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Notes
2016

($’000)
2015

($’000)

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses 

Employee benefits expense 6 31,769 30,223
Supplies and services 7 7,072 9,162
Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 2,019 1,879
Accommodation expenses 9 4,668 4,712
Grants and subsidies 10 31,024 34,731
Funding for services 11 29,401 25,908
Net Loss on disposal of non-current assets 16 576 13
Other expenses 12 1,496 1,536
Total cost of services 108,025 108,164

Income

Revenue
User charges and fees 13 482 464
Commonwealth grants and contributions 14 1,541 1,817
Other Revenue 15 6,298 2,579
Total revenue 8,321 4,860
Total income other than income from State Government 8,321 4,860

NET COST OF SERVICES 99,704 103,304
Income from State Government 17
Service appropriation 95,774 81,111
Services received free of charge 1,033 1,355
Royalties for Regions Fund 3,008 2,284
Total income from State Government 99,815 84,750

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 111 (18,554)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 28 1,344 (148)
Total other comprehensive income 1,344 (148)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 1,455 (18,702)
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Statement of Financial Position 

As at 30 June 2016

See also the ‘Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service’. 
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in 
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Notes
2016

($’000)
2015

($’000)

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 18,29 15,524 17,205
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18,29 2,840 3,769
Receivables 19 616 1,066
Amounts receivable for services 20 103 103
Other current assets 21 668 478
Total Current Assets 19,751 22,621
Non-Current Assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18,29 - -
Amounts receivable for services 20 20,104 18,812
Property, plant and equipment 22 43,764 43,283
Intangible assets 24 1,438 1,344
Total Non-Current Assets 65,306 63,439

TOTAL ASSETS 85,057 86,060
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 26 1,868 3,827
Provisions 27 7,058 6,563
Total Current Liabilities 8,926 10,390
Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 27 1,420 1,524
Total Non-Current Liabilities 1,420 1,524

TOTAL LIABILITIES 10,346 11,914
NET ASSETS 74,711 74,146
EQUITY
Contributed equity 28 61,824 62,714
Reserves 16,832 15,488
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (3,945) (4,056)

TOTAL EQUITY 74,711 74,146
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Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the year ended 30 June 2016

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read 
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Notes

Contributed 
Equity

($’000)
Reserves

($’000)

Accumulated 
surplus/(deficit)

($’000)
Total Equity

($’000)

Opening balance at 1 July 2014 28 62,686 15,636 14,498 92,820

Surplus/(deficit) - - (18,554) (18,554)
Other Comprehensive Income - (148) - (148)
Total Comprehensive Income for 
the period - (148) (18,554) (18,702)
Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:

Other contributions by owners - 
Department of Child Protection 
and Family Support 28 - - 28

Total 28 - - 28

Balance at 30 June 2015 62,714 15,488 (4,056) 74,146

Opening balance at 1 July 2015 28 62,714 15,488 (4,056) 74,146

Surplus/(deficit) - - 111 111
Other Comprehensive Income - 1,344 - 1,344
Total Comprehensive Income for 
the period - 1,344 111 1,455
Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:

Capital Appropriations 870 - - 870
Other contributions by owners - - - -
Distributions to owners (1,760) - - (1,760)
Total (890) - - (890)
Balance at 30 June 2016 61,824 16,832 (3,945) 74,711
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Statement of Cash Flows 

For the year ended 30 June 2016

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in 
conjunction with accompanying notes.

Notes
2016 

($’000)
2015 

($’000)

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 94,379 79,736
Capital appropriation 870 -
Holding Account drawdown 103 103
Cash transferred - (140)
Royalties for Regions Fund 3,008 2,284

Net cash provided by State Government 98,360 81,983

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (32,207) (29,261)
Supplies and services (7,100) (8,113)
Accommodation (4,668) (4,712)
Grants and subsidies (31,215) (36,604)
Funding for services (29,401) (25,908)
GST payments on purchases (4,872) (5,111)
Other payments (1,496) (1,536)
Receipts
User charges and fees 482 706
Commonwealth grants and contributions 1,541 1,817
GST receipts on sales 152 417
GST receipts from taxation authority 4,955 4,947
Other receipts 3,971 2,579

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 29 (99,858) (100,779)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-current assets (1,112) (912)

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (1,112) (912)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,610) (19,708)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 20,974 40,682

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 29 18,364 20,974
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Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates 

 
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.

Note 34 ‘Explanatory statement provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2016 and between the actual results for 2016 and 2015.

2016 
Estimate 

($000)

2016 
Actual 
($000)

Variance 
($000)

2016 
Actual 
($000)

2015 
Actual 
($000)

Variance 
($000)

Delivery of Services
Item 91 Net amount appropriated to deliver services 92,724 91,907 (817) 91,907 80,524 11,383
Item 92 Contribution to the Western Australian  
Family Foundation Trust Account 250 250 - 250 250 -
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes 
 - Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 348 348 - 348 337 11
Section 25 transfer of Financial Counselling Program appropriation from 
the Department of Child Protection and Family Support - 3,269 3,269 3,269 - 3,269

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 93,322 95,774 2,452 95,774 81,111 14,663

Capital
Item 151 Capital Appropriation 870 870 - 870 - 870

GRAND TOTAL 94,192 96,644 2,452 96,644 81,111 15,533

Details of Expenses by Service
Regulation and Support the Early Education and Care Sector 15,382 14,286 (1,096) 14,286 13,769 517
Regulation and Support of Local Government 16,963 11,423 (5,540) 11,423 14,665 (3,242)
Payments to Individuals 26,281 24,831 (1,450) 24,831 25,211 (380)
Delivery of Community Services, Grants and Resources 45,694 51,625 5,931 51,625 48,970 2,655
Promote and Support Multiculturalism 6,302 5,860 (442) 5,860 5,549 311
Total cost of services 110,622 108,025 (2,597) 108,025 108,164 (139)
Less total income (2,406) (8,321) (5,915) (8,321) (4,860) (3,461)
Net cost of services 108,216 99,704 (8,512) 99,704 103,304 (3,600)
Adjustments (14,894) (3,930) 10,964 (3,930) (22,193) 18,263

Total appropriations provided to deliver service 93,322 95,774 2,452 95,774 81,111 14,663

Capital expenditure
Purchase of non-current assets 973 1,112 139 1,112 912 200
Adjustments for other funding sources (103) (242) (139) (242) (912) 670

Capital appropriations 870 870 - 870 - 870
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Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

 Regulation and 
Support of the 
Early Education 
and Care Sector 

 Regulation and 
Support of Local 

Government 
 Payments to 

Individuals 

Delivery of 
Community 

Services, Grants 
and Resources

Promote 
and Support 

Multiculturalism TOTAL
2016 

($’000)
2015 

($’000)
2016 

($’000)
2015 

($’000)
2016 

($’000)
2015 

($’000)
2016 

($’000)
2015 

($’000)
2016 

($’000)
2015 

($’000)
2016 

($’000)
2015 

($’000)

COSTS OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expense 8,587 7,720 7,507 8,341 1,445 1,366 11,286 10,313 2,944 2,483 31,769 30,223 

Supplies and services 1,824 2,608 1,654 2,326 606 724 2,419 2,988 569 516 7,072 9,162 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 180 186 96 89 131 112 1,580 1,466 32 26 2,019 1,879 

Accommodation expenses 1,405 1,379 820 906 176 186 1,960 1,971 307 270 4,668 4,712 

Grants and subsidies 1,978 920 925 2,581 22,397 22,662 4,310 6,867 1,414 1,701 31,024 34,731 

Funding for services - 638 - 2 - - 28,934 24,810 467 458 29,401 25,908 

Loss on disposal on non-current assets - 4 - 3 - 1 576 4 - 1 576 13 

Other expenses 312 314 421 417 76 160 560 551 127 94 1,496 1,536 

Total cost of services 14,286 13,769 11,423 14,665 24,831 25,211 51,625 48,970 5,860 5,549 108,025 108,164 

Income

User charges and fees 482 462 - 1 - - - 1 - - 482 464 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 1,152 1,321 81 94 - - 308 402 - - 1,541 1,817 

Other revenue 397 251 434 256 49 31 5,329 1,995 89 46 6,298 2,579 

Total income other than income from 
State Government 2,031 2,034 515 351 49 31 5,637 2,398 89 46 8,321 4,860 

NET COST OF SERVICES 12,255 11,735 10,908 14,314 24,782 25,180 45,988 46,572 5,771 5,503 99,704 103,304 

Income from State Government

Service appropriation 9,583 9,184 8,883 9,835 23,417 19,739 48,437 38,075 5,454 4,278 95,774 81,111 

Services received free of charge 282 369 239 339 51 70 371 476 90 101 1,033 1,355 

Royalties for Regions Fund 1,239 2,132 1,738 95 - - 31 57 - - 3,008 2,284 

Total income from State Government 11,104 11,685 10,860 10,269 23,468 19,809 48,839 38,608 5,544 4,379 99,815 84,750 

SURPLUS/DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD (1,151) (50) (48) (4,045) (1,314) (5,371) 2,851 (7,964) (227) (1,124) 111 (18,554)

For the year ended 30 June 2016
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Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service 

As at 30 June 2016

 Regulation and 
Support of the 
Early Education 
and Care Sector 

 Regulation and 
Support of Local 

Government 
 Payments to 

Individuals 

Delivery of 
Community 

Services, Grants 
and Resources

Promote 
and Support 

Multiculturalism 
General - Not 

Attributed TOTAL

2016 
($'000)

2015 
($'000)

2016 
($'000)

2015 
($'000)

2016 
($'000)

2015 
($'000)

2016 
($'000)

2015 
($'000)

2016 
($'000)

2015 
($'000)

2016 
($'000)

2015 
($'000)

2016 
($'000)

2015 
($'000)

Assets

Current 
assets 1,212 1468 934 1,327 983 204 593 958 14 114 16,015 18,550 19,751 22,621 

Non-current 
assets 625 729 466 - 683 813 60,745 58,671 - - 2,787 3,226 65,306 63,439 

Total assets 1,837 2197 1,400 1327 1,666 1017 61,338 59,629 14 114 18,802 21776 85,057 86,060 

Liabilities

Current 
liabilities 1,313 1349 1,230 1,627 289 421 1,548 1,788 444 408 4,102 4,797 8,926 10,390 

Non-current 
liabilities 272 299 259 205 29 70 341 427 92 83 427 440 1,420 1,524 

Total 
liabilities 1,585 1648 1,489 1832 318 491 1,889 2,215 536 491 4,529 5237 10,346 11,914 

NET 
ASSETS 252 549 (89) (505) 1,348 526 59,449 57,414 (522) (377) 14,273 16539 74,711 74,146 

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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5.2 Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2016

1 Australian Accounting Standards

General

The department’s financial statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2016 have been 
prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian 
Accounting Standards’ includes Standards 
and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The department has adopted any applicable new 
and revised Australian Accounting Standards 
from their operative dates.

Early adoption of standards

The department cannot early adopt an 
Australian Accounting Standard unless 
specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application 
of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements. Partial exemption permitting 
early adoption of AASB 2015–7 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value 
Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector 
Entities has been granted. Aside from AASB 
2015–7, there has been no early adoption of any 
other Australian Accounting Standards that have 
been issued or amended (but not operative) by 
the department for the annual reporting period 
ended 30 June 2016.

2  Summary of significant 
accounting policies

a) General statement

The department is a not-for-profit reporting 
entity that prepares general purpose financial 
statements in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the AASB 
as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions. 
Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s 
instructions to vary application, disclosure, 
format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative 
provisions that govern the preparation of 
financial statements and take precedence over 
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a 
material or significant financial effect upon the 
reported results, details of that modification and 
the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements.

b) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared 
on the accrual basis of accounting using the 
historical cost convention, except for land, 
buildings and infrastructure which have been 
measured at fair value. 

The accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of the financial statements have 
been consistently applied throughout all periods 
presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in 
Australian dollars and all values are rounded to 
the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management 
in applying accounting policies’ discloses 
judgements that have been made in the process 
of applying the department’s accounting policies 
resulting in the most significant effect on 
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ 
discloses key assumptions made concerning 
the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year.
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c) Reporting entity

The reporting entity is comprised of the 
Department of Local Government and 
Communities.

Mission

The Department of Local Government and 
Communities aims to achieve the best possible 
outcomes for West Australian communities.

The department is predominantly funded by 
Parliamentary appropriations.

Services

The department provides the following services:

Service 1: Regulation and Support of 
the Early Education and Care Sector

This service supports the regulation and quality 
assurance of early education and care services 
against required service standards. This includes 
development of planning, capacity building and 
support for early education and care services.

Service 2: Regulation and Support 
of Local Government

This service provides support to local 
government’s to fulfil their statutory obligations 
and to improve capability in the sector.

Service 3: Payments to Individuals

This service supports the delivery of benefits 
and concessions administered by the 
department, including the WA Seniors Card.

Service 4: Delivery of Community 
Services, Grants and Resources

This service provides for the development, 
planning and provision of information, programs 
and support for West Australians across 
community services and local governments.

Service 5: Promotion and Support 
of Multiculturalism 

This service supports the development and 
implementation of policies, programs and 
services that achieve the full potential of 
multiculturalism. 

The department administers assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses on behalf of the State 
Government which are not controlled by, nor 
integral, to its functions. These administered 
balances and transactions are not recognised 
in the principal financial statements of the 
department but schedules are prepared using 
the same basis as the financial statements 
and are presented at note 42 ‘Disclosure of 
administered income and expenses ’ and note 
43 ‘Administered assets and liabilities’.

d) Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by 
Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector 
Entities requires transfers in the nature of 
equity contributions, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, to 
be designated by the State Government (the 
owner) as contributions by owners (at the time 
of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers 
can be recognised as equity contributions. 
Capital appropriations have been designated as 
contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions 
by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public 
Sector Entities and have been credited directly 
to Contributed equity. 

The transfer of net assets to/from other 
agencies, other than as a result of a restructure 
of administrative arrangements, are designated 
as contributions by owners where the transfers 
are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.
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e) Income

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair 
value of consideration received or receivable. 
Revenue is recognised for the major business 
activities as follows:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised from the sale of 
goods and disposal of other assets when the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership 
transfer to the purchaser and can be measured 
reliably. 

Provision of services

Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage 
of completion of the transaction.

Service appropriations

Service appropriations are recognised as 
revenues at fair value in the period in which the 
department gains control of the appropriated 
funds. The department gains control of 
appropriated funds at the time those funds are 
deposited to the bank account or credited to 
the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding 
account) held at Treasury. 

Net appropriation determination

The Treasurer may make a determination 
providing for prescribed receipts to be 
retained for services under the control of the 
department. In accordance with the most recent 
determination, as quantified in the 2015–16 
Budget Statements, the department retained 
$8.321 million in 2016 ($4.860 million in 2015) 
from the following:

 ·  proceeds from fees and charges

 ·  sale of goods

 ·   Commonwealth specific purpose grants and 
contributions

 ·  other departmental revenue.

Grants, donations, gifts and other 
non-reciprocal contributions

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the 
department obtains control over the assets 
comprising the contributions, usually when cash 
is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are 
not contributions by owners are recognised 
at their fair value. Contributions of services 
are only recognised when a fair value can be 
reliably determined and the services would be 
purchased if not donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as 
revenue at fair value in the period in which the 
department obtains control over the funds. 

The department obtains control of the funds 
at the time the funds are deposited into the 
department’s bank account. 

Gains

Realised or unrealised gains are usually 
recognised on a net basis. These include gains 
arising on the disposal of non current assets and 
some revaluations of non current assets.

Non-current assets and revaluations of non-
current assets.

f)  Property, plant and equipment 
and leasehold improvements

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Items of property, plant and equipment and 
leasehold improvements costing $5,000 or 
more are recognised as assets and the cost of 
utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over 
their useful lives. Items of property, plant and 
equipment and leasehold improvements costing 
less than $5,000 are immediately expensed 
direct to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income (other than where they form part of a 
group of similar items which are significant in 
total).
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Initial recognition and measurement

Property, plant and equipment and leasehold 
improvements are initially recognised at cost. 

For items of property, plant and equipment and 
leasehold improvements acquired at no cost or 
for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the 
date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the 
revaluation model is used for the measurement 
of land, buildings and leasehold improvements 
and historical cost for all other property, plant 
and equipment. Land, buildings and leasehold 
improvements are carried at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation (buildings and 
leasehold improvements only) and accumulated 
impairment losses. All other items of property, 
plant and equipment are stated at historical cost 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Where market-based evidence is available, the 
fair value of land and buildings is determined 
on the basis of current market buying values 
determined by reference to recent market 
transactions. When buildings are revalued by 
reference to recent market transactions, the 
accumulated depreciation is eliminated against 
the gross carrying amount of the asset and the 
net amount restated to the revalued amount. 

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair 
value of land and buildings is determined on 
the basis of existing use. This normally applies 
where buildings are specialised or where land 
use is restricted. Fair value for existing use 
assets is determined by reference to the cost 
of replacing the remaining future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset:

 · ie. the depreciated replacement cost. Where 
the fair value of buildings is determined on 
the depreciated replacement cost basis, the 
gross carrying amount and the accumulated 
depreciation are restated proportionately. 

Land and buildings are independently valued 
annually by the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority (Valuation Services) and 
recognised annually to ensure that the carrying 
amount does not differ materially from the 
asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting 
period.

The most significant assumptions in estimating 
fair value are made in assessing whether to 
apply the existing use basis to assets and in 
determining estimated useful life. Professional 
judgement by the valuer is required where the 
evidence does not provide a clear distinction 
between market type assets and existing use 
assets.

Derecognition

Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of 
property, plant and equipment, any revaluation 
surplus relating to that asset is retained in the 
asset revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation reserve

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record 
increments and decrements on the revaluation 
of non-current assets on a class of assets basis.

Depreciation

All non-current assets having a limited useful 
life are systematically depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects 
the consumption of their future economic 
benefits. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight 
line method, using rates which are reviewed 
annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of 
depreciable asset are:

Buildings 20 to 40 years
Office machines, furniture 
and equipment 5 years
Software(a) 3 to 5 years
Computer equipment 4 years

(a) Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware.
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Leasehold improvements are depreciated on a 
straight line basis over the life of the lease or the 
life of the asset, whichever is less.

Land is not depreciated.

g) Intangible assets

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing 
$5,000 or more and internally generated 
intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are 
capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is 
expensed (amortised) over their useful life. 
Costs incurred below these thresholds are 
immediately expensed directly to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. 
For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal 
cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of 
acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent 
measurement requiring the asset to be carried 
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite 
useful lives is calculated for the period of the 
expected benefit (estimated useful life which is 
reviewed annually) on the straight line basis. All 
intangible assets controlled by the department 
have a finite useful life and zero residual value.

The expected useful lives for each class of 
intangible asset are:

Software(a) 5 years
Licences up to 5 years
Website Costs up to 5 years

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related 
hardware.

Computer software

Software that is an integral part of the related 
hardware is recognised as property, plant and 
equipment. Software that is not an integral 
part of the related hardware is recognised as 
an intangible asset. Software costing less than 
$5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.

Licences

Licences have a finite useful life and are carried 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Website costs

Website costs are charged as expenses 
when they are incurred unless they relate to 
the acquisition or development of an asset 
when they may be capitalised and amortised. 
Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies 
during the planning phase of a website, and 
ongoing costs of maintenance during the 
operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred 
in building or enhancing a website that can be 

reliably measured, are capitalised to the extent 
that they represent probable future economic 
benefits.

h) Impairment of assets

Property, plant and equipment, leasehold 
improvements and intangible assets are tested 
for any indication of impairment at the end 
of each reporting period. Where there is an 
indication of impairment, the recoverable amount 
is estimated. Where the recoverable amount 
is less than the carrying amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to 
the recoverable amount and an impairment 
loss is recognised. Where an asset measured 
at cost is written down to recoverable amount, 
an impairment loss is recognised in profit and 
loss. Where a previously revalued asset is 
written down to recoverable amount, the loss is 
recognised as a revaluation decrement in other 
comprehensive income. As the department is 
a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been 
identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to 
circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is 
materially understated, where the replacement 
cost is falling or where there is a significant 
change in useful life. Each relevant class of 
assets is reviewed annually to verify that the 
accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects 
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the level of consumption or expiration of asset’s 
future economic benefits and to evaluate any 
impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life 
and intangible assets not yet available for use 
are tested for impairment at the end of each 
reporting period irrespective of whether there is 
any indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as 
surplus assets is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and the present value of future 
cash flows expected to be derived from the 
asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have 
no risk of material impairment where fair value 
is determined by reference to market-based 
evidence. Where fair value is determined by 
reference to depreciated replacement cost, 
surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the 
recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets 
at cost are tested for indications of impairment 
at the end of each reporting period.

i) Leases

The department has no finance lease 
commitments at this time.

The department holds operating leases for 
motor vehicles, head office and a number of 
branch office buildings. Operating leases are 
expensed on a straight line basis over the lease 
term as this represents the pattern of benefits 
derived from the leased properties.

j) Financial instruments

In addition to cash, the department has two 
categories of financial instrument:

 · receivables

 · financial liabilities measured at  
amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated 
into the following classes:

 · financial assets

 – cash and cash equivalents
 – restricted cash and cash equivalents
 – receivables
 – amounts receivable for services

 · financial liabilities

 – payables.

Initial recognition and measurement of financial 
instruments is at fair value which normally 
equates to the transaction cost or the face 
value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and 
payables is the transaction cost or the face value 
because there is no interest rate applicable and 
subsequent measurement is not required as the 
effect of discounting is not material.

k) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash 
Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted 

cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash 
on hand and short-term deposits with original 
maturities of three months or less that are 
readily convertible to a known amount of cash 
and which are subject to insignificant risk of 
changes in value, and bank overdrafts.

l) Accrued salaries

Accrued salaries (see note 26 ‘Payables’) 
represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at 
the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries 
are settled within a fortnight of the financial year 
end. The department considers the carrying 
amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to 
its net fair value.

The accrued salaries suspense account (see 
note 18 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) 
consists of amounts paid annually into a 
suspense account over a period of 10 financial 
years to largely meet the additional cash outflow 
in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur 
instead of the normal 26. No interest is received 
on this account. 

m)  Amounts receivable for services  
(holding account)

The department receives funding on an accrual 
basis. The appropriations are paid partly in 
cash and partly as an asset (holding account 
receivable). The accrued amount receivable 
is accessible on the emergence of the cash 
funding requirement to cover leave entitlements 
and asset replacement.
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n) Receivables

Receivables are recognised at original invoice 
amount less an allowance for any uncollectable 
amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of 
receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and 
any receivables identified as uncollectable are 
written off against the allowance account. The 
allowance for uncollectable amounts (doubtful 
debts) is raised when there is objective evidence 
that the department will not be able to collect 
the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to 
fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 
days. 

o) Payables

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable 
when the department becomes obliged to 
make future payments as a result of a purchase 
of assets or services. The carrying amount 
is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is 
generally within 30 days. 

p) Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or 
amount and are recognised where there is a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event and when the outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits is 
probable and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period. 

Provisions - employee benefits

All annual leave and long service leave 
provisions are in respect of employees’ services 
up to the end of the reporting period.

Annual leave

Annual leave is not expected to be settled 
wholly within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period and is therefore considered 
to be ‘other long-term employee benefits’. The 
annual leave liability is recognised and measured 
at the present value of amounts expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time 
of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments 
consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels including non salary 
components such as employer superannuation 
contributions, as well as the experience of 
employee departures and periods of service. The 
expected future payments are discounted using 
market yields at the end of the reporting period 
on national government bonds with terms to 
maturity that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a 
current liability as the department does not have 
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 
period.

Long service leave

Long service leave is not expected to be settled 
wholly within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period and is therefore recognised 
and measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled using the remuneration rate expected to 
apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments 
consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels including non salary 
components such as employer superannuation 
contributions, as well as the experience of 
employee departures and periods of service. The 
expected future payments are discounted using 
market yields at the end of the reporting period 
on national government bonds with terms to 
maturity that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are 
classified as current liabilities as the department 
does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period. Pre-
conditional and conditional long service leave 
provisions are classified as non-current liabilities 
because the department has an unconditional 
right to defer the settlement of the liability until 
the employee has completed the requisite years 
of service.
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Deferred leave

The provision for deferred leave relates to public 
service employees who have entered into an 
agreement to self-fund an additional 12 months 
leave in the fifth year of the agreement. The 
provision recognises the value of salary set 
aside for the employees to be used in the fifth 
year. This liability is measure on the same basis 
as annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as 
a current provision as employees can leave the 
scheme at their discretion at any time.

Purchased leave

The provision for purchased leave relates to 
public service employees who have entered into 
an agreement to self-fund up to an additional 
10 weeks leave per calendar year. The provision 
recognises the value of salary set aside for 
employees and is measured at the undiscounted 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled.

Superannuation

The Government Employees Superannuation 
Board (GESB) and other funds administer 
public sector superannuation arrangements in 
Western Australia in accordance with legislative 
requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership 
in particular schemes for public sector 
employees varies according to commencement 
and implementation dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension 
Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme 
closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold 
State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined 
benefit lump sum scheme closed to new 
members since 1995. 

Employees commencing employment prior 
to 16 April 2007 who were not members 
of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS 
became non-contributory members of the 
West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). 
Employees commencing employment on or 
after 16 April 2007 became members of the 
GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 
2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS 
and new employees became able to choose 
their preferred superannuation fund. The 
department makes concurrent contributions to 
GESB or other funds on behalf of employees 
in compliance with the Commonwealth 
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee 
(Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to 
these accumulation schemes extinguish the 
department’s liability for superannuation charges 
in respect of employees who are not members 
of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for 
the purposes of employees and whole 
of government reporting. However, it is a 
defined contribution plan for agency purposes 
because the concurrent contributions (defined 

contributions) made by the department to GESB 
extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the 
related superannuation liability.

The department has no liabilities under the 
Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities 
for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the 
unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to 
members who transferred from the Pension 
Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All 
other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent 
contributions made by the department to the 
GESB.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect 
of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped 
from the Treasurer for the employer’s share.

Provisions - Other

Employment on-costs 

Employment on-costs, including workers’ 
compensation insurance, are not employee 
benefits and are recognised separately as 
liabilities and expenses when the employment 
to which they relate has occurred. Employment 
on-costs are included as part of ‘Other 
expenses’ and are not included as part of the 
department’s ‘employee benefits expense’. The 
related liability is included in ‘employment on-
costs provision’. 
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q) Superannuation expense

Superannuation expense is recognised in the 
profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and comprises employer contributions 
paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the 
WSS, the GESBS, or other superannuation 
funds. The employer contribution paid to the 
GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the 
consolidated account by the GESB.

r)  Assets and services received free 
of charge or for nominal cost

Assets or services received free of charge 
or for nominal cost that the department 
would otherwise purchase if not donated, 
are recognised as income at the fair value 
of the assets or services where they can be 
reliably measured. A corresponding expense 
is recognised for services received. Receipts 
of assets are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State 
Government agencies are separately disclosed 
under Income from State Government in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

s) Comparative figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, 
reclassified to be comparable with the figures 
presented in the current financial year.

3  Judgements made by 
management in applying 
accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make judgements about the 
application of accounting policies that have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements. The department 
evaluates these judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitments

The department has entered into a number 
of leases for buildings for branch office 
accommodation. Some of these leases relate to 
buildings of a temporary nature and it has been 
determined that the lessor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 
Accordingly, these leases have been classified 
as operating leases.

Intangible assets

The department recognises internally generated 
intangible asset. The amortisation and estimated 
useful life reflects the pattern in which the 
asset’s future economic benefits are expected to 
be consumed by the department.

4  Key sources of estimation 
uncertainty

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the 
future are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.

Long service leave

Several estimations and assumptions used in 
calculating the department’s long service leave 
provision include expected future salary rates, 
discount rates, employee retention rates and 
expected future payments. Changes in these 
estimations and assumptions may impact on 
the carrying amount of the long service leave 
provision.
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5  Disclosure of changes in accounting 
policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards 
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2015 that 
impacted on the department.

AASB 2013–9 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and 
Financial Instruments

Part C of this Standard defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017. The application date 
of AASB 9 was subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014–1. The department 
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

AASB 2014–8 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) 
– Application of AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 & 
2010)]

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2009) 
and AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2010), arising from the issuance of AASB 
9 Financial Instruments in December 2014. The department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

AASB 2015–3 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 
Materiality

This Standard completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations, allowing that Standard to effectively be 
withdrawn. There is no financial impact.
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Future impact of Australian Accounting 
Standards not yet operative

The department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard 
unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian 
Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements or by an exemption 
from TI 1101. By virtue of a limited exemption, the Department has early 
adopted AASB 2015–7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
- Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities. Where 
applicable, the Department plans to apply the following Australian 
Accounting Standards from their application date.

Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments  
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting 
treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 
2018 after being amended by AASB 2012–6, AASB 2013–9 and 
AASB 2014–1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards. The 
Department has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

This Standard establishes the principles that the Department shall apply 
to report useful information to users of financial statements about 
the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows 
arising from a contract with a customer. The Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2018

AASB 16 Leases

This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires 
a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of 
more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. The 
Department has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2019

AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting Standards

This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other Standard 
(and Interpretation), grouped where they are the same. There is no 
financial impact.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2010–7  
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 
127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 
127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 
in December 2010. The mandatory application date of this Standard has 
been amended by AASB 2012–6 and AASB 2014–1 to 1 January 2018. 
The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014–1  
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and 
consequential amendments to other Standards. It has not yet been 
assessed by the Department to determine the application or potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014–3  
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for 
Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations [AASB 1 & 11]

The Department establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of its objectives 
and does not routinely acquire interests in Joint Operations. Therefore, 
there is no financial impact on application of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016
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AASB 2014–10  
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or Contribution 
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture [AASB 
10 & 128]

This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an 
inconsistency between the requirements in AASB 10 and those in 
AASB 128 (August 2011), in dealing with the sale or contribution of 
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The 
department has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015–1 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual 
Improvements to Australian Accounting Standards 2012–2014 Cycle 
[AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 137 & 140]

These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial 
Reporting Standard Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle in 
September 2014, and editorial corrections. The department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015–2  
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049]

This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding 
the disclosure requirements in AASB 101. Specifically, the Standard 
proposes narrow-focus amendments to address some of the concerns 
expressed about existing presentation and disclosure requirements 
and to ensure entities are able to use judgement when applying a 
Standard in determining what information to disclose in their financial 
statements. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014–4  
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of 
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]

The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the Model 
Department as depreciation and amortisation is not determined by 
reference to revenue generation, but by reference to consumption of 
future economic benefits.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014–5 
 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising 
from the issuance of AASB 15. The mandatory application date of this 
Standard has been amended by AASB 2015–8 to 1 January 2018. The 
department has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014–7 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2014)

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising from 
the issuance of AASB 9 (December 2014). The department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014–9 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Equity Method in 
Separate Financial Statements [AASB 1, 127 & 128]

This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially amends AASB 1 
and AASB 128, to allow entities to use the equity method of accounting 
for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their 
separate financial statements. The department has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2016
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AASB 2015–6  
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related 
Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 
& 1049]

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application 
by not-for-profit public sector entities. Implementation guidance is 
included to assist application of the Standard by not-for-profit public 
sector entities. The department has not yet determined the application 
of the Standard, though there is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2016

AASB 2015–8 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of 
AASB 15

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of 
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers so that AASB 15 is 
required to be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2017. The department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 15.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2015–10 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of 
Amendments to AASB 10 & 128

This Standard defers the mandatory effective date (application date) 
of amendments to AASB 10 & 128 that were originally made in AASB 
2014–10 so that the amendments are required to be applied for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 
January 2016. The department has not yet determined the application or 
the potential impact of AASB 2014–10.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2016–2 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 107

This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August 
2015) to require disclosures that enable users of financial statements to 
evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including 
both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. There is 
no financial impact.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2016–3 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to 
AASB 15

This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal 
versus agent considerations, timing of recognising revenue from 
granting a licence, and, provides further transitional provisions to AASB 
15. The department has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2016–4  
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Recoverable 
Amount of Non-Cash-Generating Specialised Assets of Not-for-Profit 
Entities

This Standard clarifies that the recoverable amount of primarily non-
cash-generating assets of not-for-profit entities, which are typically 
specialised in nature and held for continuing use of their service 
capacity, is expected to be materially the same as fair value determined 
under AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement. The department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact. 

1 Jan 2017
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6 Employee benefits expense

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Wages and salaries(a) 28,598 27,013
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 2,719 2,688
Other related expenses 452 522

31,769 30,223

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax 
component, leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component.

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and the GESB and other eligible 
funds.

Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance are included at note 12 ‘Other 
expenses’.

The employment on-costs liability is included at note 27 ‘Provisions’.

7 Supplies and services 

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Communications 316 332
Consultants and contractors 5,639 7,413
Consumables 402 629
Operating Lease, Rental & Hire Costs 353 447
Travel 362 341

7,072 9,162

8 Depreciation and amortisation expense

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Depreciation
Buildings 665 593
Office machines, furniture and equipment 71 62
Computer equipment 23 16
Leasehold improvements 861 838
Total depreciation 1,620 1,509

Amortisation
Licences 399 370
Total amortisation 399 370

Total depreciation and amortisation 2,019 1,879

9 Accommodation expenses

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Lease rentals 3,748 3,611
Repairs and maintenance - buildings 388 489
Insurance - general 62 161
Cleaning, gardening, security, rates and taxes 336 274
Power, water and gas 134 177

4,668 4,712
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10 Grants and subsidies

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Recurrent
Community service grants 2,256 2,753
Local government grants 1,149 2,072
Grants and subsidies - private bodies 4,900 5,848
Grants and subsidies to government agencies 110 1,199
Seniors cost of living rebate 21,844 21,005
Seniors Security Rebate(a) - 1,155
Grandcarers Support Scheme 555 513
Donations and sponsorships 210 186

31,024 34,731

(a) Seniors Security rebate ceased in 2015–16.

11 Funding for services

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Funding to non-government agencies under 
contract for services provided directly to the 
community including to organisations such as 
Anglicare, Centrecare and local government 
shires. 29,401 25,908

29,401 25,908

This note reflects the department’s funding to non-government bodies and is disclosed in 
accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 951.

12 Other expenses 

2016

($’000)

2015

($’000)
Advertising and promotion 204 373
Equipment Repairs and Maintenance 49 53
Audit fees 256 408
Insurance 163 52
Administration 211 417
Entertainment 102 40
Other 16 3
Write Off Expense 1 -
Employment on-costs(a) [refer note 6] 494 190

1,496 1,536

(a) Includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on costs. The on costs 
liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at 
note 27 ‘Provisions’. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave 
are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

13 User charges and fees

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Child Care Licensing Fees 482 460
Other - 4

482 464
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14 Commonwealth grants and contributions

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Recurrent

Commonwealth Grants 1,225 1,393
Indian Ocean Territory Service Delivery Programs(a) 316 424

1,541 1,817

(a) The Australian Government has a service delivery agreement with the State Government of 
Western Australia for the provision of services to Indian Ocean Territory (formally known as 
Christmas and Cocos (Keeling) Island program). Refer to note 40 ‘Special Purpose Accounts’ 
for Statement of Receipts and Payments.

15 Other Revenue

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Contributions by officers to the Executive Motor 
Vehicle Scheme 27 29
Contributions by officers to the Government 
Regional Housing Scheme 43 51
Sponsorship revenue 32 34
Grants and subsidies(a) 2,587 1,693
Refunds and recoveries(b) 949 660
Contributions from external parties(c) 2,479 -
Other 181 112

6,298 2,579

(a) These include contribution to programs such as Beyond Gambling, Early Childhood 
Education, Leeuwin Youth Program.

(b) These include return of unspent funds at completion of grant programs.

(c) These include land and building provided by the Shire of Collie.

16 Net (gain)/loss on disposal of non-current assets

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Net proceeds from disposal of non-current assets

Land - -
Building - -
Office machines, furniture & equipment - -
Leasehold improvements - -
Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed

Land(a) 213 -
Building(a) 359 -
Office machines, furniture & equipment - 13
Leasehold improvements 4 -
Net (gain)/loss 576 13

(a) This includes the transfer of land and building to the Shire of Collie in 2015–16.
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17 Income from State Government

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Appropriations received during the period:

Service appropriations(a) 95,774 81,111
95,774 81,111

Services received free of charge from other State 
Government agencies during the period:
State Solicitor’s Office - legal services 232 314
Landgate - land information & valuation services 7 138
Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor 178 206
Department of Treasury and Finance - leasing services 591 599
Department of Planning - 25
Department for Child Protection and Family Support - 
corporate support

25 73

1,033 1,355

Royalties for Regions Fund:
Country Local Government Fund(b)(c) 1,598 -
Regional Community Service Account(b) 1,410 2,284

3,008 2,284

(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue 
comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) 
comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the period and any agreed increase in leave 
liabilities during the year.

(b) This is a sub-fund within the overarching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The recurrent funds are 
committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.

(c) Normal annual appropriation resumed in 2015–16 post implementation of the Cash 
Management Policy 2007 in 2014–15.

18 Restricted cash and cash equivalents

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Current

Royalties for Regions Fund(a) 869 1,789
Indian Ocean Territory(b)(c) 252 216
WA Family Foundation(b) 304 303
Seniors Rebate(d) 860 2
Unclaimed Monies(e) 124 124
Off-Road Vehicles Account(b)(f) 413 358
Local Government Scholarship Scheme Trust 
Fund(b)

18 8

Accrued salaries suspense account(g) - 969
2,840 3,769

Non-Current

Accrued salaries suspense account(g) - -
- -

(a) Unspent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.

(b) Cash held in the controlled trust accounts can only be used for specific designated purposes.

(c) Formerly known as Christmas and Cocos (Keeling) Island program.

(d) Amounts representing unclaimed Senior rebates.

(e) Amounts representing unclaimed Redress payments.

(f) To meet costs of administering the Control of Vehicles (Off-road Areas) Act 1978 and for 
matters approved by the Minister and the Treasurer.

(g) Amount held in the suspense account is only to be used for the purpose of meeting the 27th 
pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years which was due in 2015–16.
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19 Receivables

2016
($’000)

2015
($’000)

Current

GST receivable 484 718
Receivables 130 339
Other 2 9

616 1,066
Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for 
impairment of receivables:

Balance at start of period - -
Amounts written off during the period - -
Balance at end of period - -

20 Amounts receivable for services

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Current 103 103
Non-current 20,104 18,812

20,207 18,915

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only 
be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.

21 Other Assets

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Current

Prepayments 668 478
Other - -
Total Current 668 478
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22 Property, plant and equipment

2016
($’000)

2015
($’000)

Land 

At fair value(a)(b) 23,950 24,656
23,950 24,656

Buildings

At fair value(a)(b) 16,959 29,759
Accumulated depreciation(a) - (14,738)

16,959 15,021
Leasehold improvements

At fair value 10,385 10,214
Accumulated depreciation (7,695) (6,834)

2,690 3,380
Computer equipment

At cost 199 218
Accumulated depreciation (156) (152)

43 66
Office machines, furniture and equipment

At cost 385 358
Accumulated depreciation (263) (198)

122 160
43,764 43,283

(a) Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2015 by the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority (Valuation Services). The valuations were performed during the year 
ended 30 June 2016 and recognised at 30 June 2016. In undertaking the revaluation, fair 
value was determined by reference to market values for land: $23,950,000 and buildings: 
$16,958,900. For the remaining balance, fair value of land and buildings was determined on 
the basis of depreciated replacement cost and fair value for land was determined on the basis 
of comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land). In 
2015–16, accumulated depreciation was netted off fair value in accordance with information 
provided by Landgate.

(b) Basis of Valuation 
In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non financial 
assets, these assets are valued at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an existing use 
basis. The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or limitations have been placed on 
their use and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. These 
restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a specific community 
service.
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Reconciliation schedule of non-current assets 

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment, leasehold improvements and works in progress at the beginning 

Land(a)

 ($’000) 
 Buildings 

 ($’000) 

 Office 
 Machines, 
 furniture & 
 equipment 

 ($’000) 

 Computer 
 Equipment 

 ($’000) 

 Leasehold 
 Improve-

ments 
 ($’000) 

 Work in 
Progress
 ($’000) 

 Total 
 ($’000) 

2016
Carrying amount at start of year 24,656 15,021 160 66 3,380 - 43,283
Additions 205 2,680 33 - 175 - 3,093
Transfers In - - - - - - -
Transfers Out (1,270) (490) - - - - (1,760)
Disposals (213) (359) - - (4) - (576)
Revaluation Increments/(decrements) 572 772 - - - - 1,344
Depreciation and Amortisation - (665) (71) (23) (861) - (1,620)
Carrying amount at end of period 23,950 16,959 122 43 2,690 - 43,764

2015
Carrying amount at start of year 25,354 14,743 155 26 3,753 - 44,031
 Additions - 321 41 67 465 - 894
 Transfers In - - 28 - - - 28
 Transfers Out - - - - - - -
 Disposals - - (1) (12) - - (13)
 Revaluation Increments/(decrements) (698) 550 - - - - (148)
 Depreciation and Amortisation - (593) (63) (15) (838) - (1,509)
 Carrying amount at end of period 24,656 15,021 160 66 3,380 - 43,283

(a) The Department of Lands (DoL) is the only agency with the power to sell Crown land. The land is transferred to DoL for sale and the Department of Local Government and Communities accounts for 
the transfer as a distribution to owners.

Information on fair value measurement is provided at Note 23.

22 Property, plant and equipment (Cont.)
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23 Fair value measurements

Level 1
 ($’000) 

Level 2
 ($’000) 

Level 3
 ($’000) 

Fair Value 
at end of 

Period
($’000)

Assets measured at fair 
value:
2016

Land (Note 22) - 680 23,270 23,950
Buildings (Note 22) - - 16,959 16,959

- 680 40,229 40,909
Assets measured at fair 
value:
2015

Land (Note 22) - 820 23,836 24,656
Buildings (Note 22) - 300 14,721 15,021

- 1,120 38,557 39,677

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values 

Level 2 fair values of Non-current assets held for sale, Land and Buildings 
(Office Accommodation) are derived using the market approach. Market 
evidence of sales prices of comparable land and buildings (office 
accommodation) in close proximity is used to determine price per square 
metre.

Non-current assets held for sale have been written down to fair value 
less costs to sell. Fair value has been determined by reference to market 
evidence of sales prices of comparable assets.

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs 
(Level 3) 

Land 
 ($’000)

Buildings 
 ($’000)

2016

Fair Value at start of period 23,836 14,721
Additions 205 2,680
Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 572 772
Transfers (from/(to) Level 2) 140 300
Disposals (213) (359)
Transfers (1,270) (490)
Depreciation Expense - (665)
Fair Value at end of period 23,270 16,959

2015

Fair Value at start of period 24,594 14,443
Additions - 321
Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (758) 550
Transfers (from/(to) Level 2) - -
Disposals - -
Transfers - -
Depreciation Expense - (593)
Fair Value at end of period 23,836 14,721
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Valuation processes

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the 
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. Transfers are 
generally limited to assets newly classified as non-current assets held for 
sale as Treasurer’s instructions require valuations of land, buildings and 
infrastructure to be categorised within Level 3 where the valuations will 
utilise significant Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis.

Land (Level 3 fair values)

Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market 
evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land). The 
relevant comparators of land with low level utility is selected by the 
Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and 
represents the application of a significant Level 3 input in this valuation 
methodology. The fair value measurement is sensitive to values of 
comparator land, with higher values of comparator land correlating with 
higher estimated fair values of land.

Buildings (Level 3 fair values)

Fair value for existing use specialised buildings and infrastructure assets 
is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated 
replacement cost. Depreciated replacement cost is the current 
replacement cost of an asset less accumulated depreciation calculated 
on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed or expired 
economic benefit, or obsolescence, and optimisation (where applicable) of 
the asset. Current replacement cost is generally determined by reference 
to the market observable replacement cost of a substitute asset of 
comparable utility and the gross project size specifications.

Valuation using depreciation replacement cost utilises the significant Level 
3 input, consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset which is 
estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation 
Services). The fair value measurement is sensitive to the estimate of 
consumption/obsolescence, with higher values of the estimate correlating 
with lower estimated fair values of buildings and infrastructure.

Basis of valuation

In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature 
of some non financial assets, these assets are valued at Level 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy on an existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises 
that restrictions or limitations have been placed on their use and disposal 
when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. These 
restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a 
specific community service.

Information about significant unobservable 
inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements

Description 

Fair Value  
2016  

($’000)

Fair Value  
2015 

($’000)
Valuation 
Technique(s)

Land $23,270 $23,836 Market Approach
Buildings

$16,959 $14,721
Depreciated 
Replacement Cost

Reconciliations of the opening and closing balances are provided in Notes 22.
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24 Intangible assets

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Licences

At cost 3,316 3,133
Accumulated amortisation (2,189) (1,789)

1,127 1,344
Computer Software

At cost - -
Work in progress 311 -
Accumulated amortisation - -

311 -

Total intangible assets 1,438 1,344

Reconciliations:
Licences

Carrying amount at start of period 1,344 1,685
Additions 182 29
Amortisation expense (399) (370)
Carrying amount at end of Period 1,127 1,344
Computer Software

Carrying amount at start of period - -
Additions - -
Work in progress 311 -
Amortisation expense - -
Carrying amount at end of Period 311 -

25 Impairment of assets

There were no indications of impairment of property, plant and equipment, 
leasehold improvements and intangible assets at 30 June 2016.

The department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite 
useful life during the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period 
there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

All surplus assets at 30 June 2016 have either been classified as assets 
held for sale or written off. 

26  Payables

2016
($’000)

2015
($’000)

Current

Trade Payables 107 1,173
Accrued Expenses 874 1,051
Accrued Salaries - 790
Unclaimed Seniors rebates 440 352
Revenue Received in advance 217 284
Other 230 177
Total current 1,868 3,827
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27 Provisions 

2016
($’000)

2015
($’000)

Current

Employee benefits provision
Annual leave(a) 2,543 2,222
Long service leave(b) 4,387 4,180
Purchased leave 57 41
Deferred Salary Scheme(d) - 13
Other 36 66

7,023 6,522
Other provisions
Employment on-costs(c) 35 41

35 41
7,058 6,563

Non-current

Employee benefits provision
Long service leave(b) 1,413 1,514

1,413 1,514
Other provisions
Employment on-costs(c) 7 10

1,420 1,524
8,478 8,087

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to 
defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments 
indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

2016
($’000)

2015
($’000)

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting 
period 1,816 1,614
More than 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period 727 608

2,543 2,222

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional 
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting 
period 1,808 1,614
More than 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period 3,992 4,080

5,800 5,694

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of 
employment on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is the 
present value of expected future payments. The associated expense is disclosed in note 12 
‘Other Expenses’.

(d) Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period. Actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting 
period 57 41
More than 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period - -

57 41
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Movements in other provisions

Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than 
employee benefits, are set out below.

Employee on-cost provision

Carrying amount at start of period 51 26
Additional provisions recognised (9) 25
Carrying amount at end of period 42 51

28 Equity

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the 
department. The Government holds the equity interest in the department 
on behalf of the community. The asset revaluation reserve represents that 
portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets. 

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Contributed equity

Balance at the start of the period 62,714 62,686
Contributions by owners

Capital contribution 870 -
Transfer of net assets from Owners - Department of 
Child Protection and Family Support - 28
Total contributions by owners 870 28
Distributions to owners

Transfer of net assets to other agencies - 
Department of Lands (1,760) -
Total distributions to owners (1,760) -

BALANCE AT END OF PERIOD 61,824 62,714

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Reserves

Asset revaluation surplus

Balance at the start of the period 15,488 15,636
Net revaluation increments/(decrements)
Land 572 (698)
Buildings 772 550
Balance at the end of the period 16,832 15,488
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)

Balance at the start of the period (4,056) 14,498
Result for the period 111 (18,554)
Balance at the end of the period (3,945) (4,056)

TOTAL EQUITY AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 74,711 74,146
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29 Notes to the statement of cash flows

Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow 
Statement is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial 
Position as follows: 

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Cash and cash equivalents 15,524 17,205
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (Note 18 ) 2,840 3,769

18,364 20,974
Reconciliation of net cost of services to net 
cash flows provided by/(used in) operating 
activities

Net cost of services (99,704) (103,304)
Non-cash items

Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 8) 2,019 1,879
Services received free of charge (note 17) 1,033 1,355
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment (note 16) 576 13
Adjustment for other Non Cash Items (2,476) 134
Assets transferred (to)/from other sources - 27
(Increase)/decrease in assets

Current receivables(a) 214 135
Current prepayments (190) (478)
Non-current receivable - -

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities

Current payables(a) (1,891) (1,596)
Current provisions 496 649
Current revenue received in advance (67) 108
Non-current provisions (104) 46
Net GST receipts/(payments)(b) 189 (85)
Change in GST in receivables/payables(c) 46 338
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating 
activities (99,858) (100,779)

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the 
receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in 
these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.

(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.

(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
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30 Services provided free of charge

During the period the following resources were provided to other 
agencies free of charge for functions outside the normal operations of the 
department: 

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

City of Armadale 2 5
City of Bayswater 77 12
City of Busselton - 18
City of Canning 6 25
City of Cockburn 23 1
City of Gosnells 4 4
City of Greater Geraldton - 2
City of Joondalup 3 21
City of Kwinana 1 -
City of Mandurah 13 5
City of Melville 25 190
City of Rockingham 10 3
City of Swan 19 43
City of Vincent 12 174
City of Wanneroo 9 2
Shire of Dardanup 3 2
Shire of Kalamunda - 4
City of Victoria Park 22 -
Department of Child Protection and Family 
Support - 4

Department of Education 57 41
Edith Cowan University 3 13
Public Transport Authority 29 -
Shire of Busselton 8 -
Department for Housing 32 -

358 569

31 Commitments

The commitments below are exclusive of GST. 
2016

($’000)
2015

($’000)
Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments, being 
contracted capital expenditure additional to the 
amounts reported in the financial statements, are 
payable as follows:
- Within 1 year - -
- Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years - -
- Later than 5 years - -

- -
Lease commitments

Non-cancellable operating lease 
commitments

Commitments for minimum lease payments are 
payable as follows:
- Within 1 year 2,663 2,647
- Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 9,271 9,298
- Later than 5 years 8,737 10,619

20,671 22,564
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The department has entered into a property lease which is a non-
cancellable lease with a five year term, with rent payable monthly in 
advance. Contingent rent provisions within a lease agreement require that 
the minimum lease payments shall be increased by the lower of CPI or 4 
per cent per annum. An option exists to renew the lease at the end of the 
five year term for an additional term of five years.

The department leases its motor vehicle fleet and certain office premises. 
The lease expenditure is expensed as it is incurred. Motor vehicle leasing 
arrangements are under the terms of the State Fleet Funding Facility 
Contract administered by State Fleet - State Supply Commission.

2016
($’000)

2015
($’000)

Other expenditure commitments

Other expenditure commitments [consumables] 
contracted for at the end of the reporting period 
but not recognised as liabilities, are payable as 
follows:
- Within 1 year 241 2,190
- Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years - -
- Later than 5 years - -

241 2,190

32 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities

Contaminated sites

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the department is required to 
report known and suspected contaminated sites to the Department of 
Environment Regulation (DER). In accordance with the Act, DER classifies 
these sites on the basis of the risk to human health, the environment 
and environmental values. The department has no known or suspected 
contaminated sites. 

2016
($’000)

2015
($’000)

The department’s policy is to disclose as a 
contingency any obligations which may arise 
due to special circumstances or events. At the 
date of this report the department is not aware 
of any material future obligations. - -

- -

Contingent assets

The department’s policy is to disclose as a 
contingency any assets which may arise due to 
special circumstances or events. At the date of 
this report the department is not aware of any 
material future assets. - -

- -

33  Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

There were no events occurring after the reporting date that impact on the 
financial statements.

31 Commitments (Cont.)
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34 Explanatory statement

All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2016, and between the actual results for 2016 and 2015 are shown below. 
Narratives are provided for key variations selected from observed major variances, which are generally greater than:

 · 5 per cent and $2.163 million for the Statements of Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows

 · 5per cent and $1.598 million for the Statement of Financial Position.

Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget

2016
($’000)

Actual
2016

($’000)

Actual
2015

($’000)

Variance between 
estimate and 

actual
($’000)

Variance between 
actual results for 

2016 and 2015
($’000)

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses 

Employee benefits expense 31,970 31,769 30,223 (201) 1,546
Supplies and services 1 11,866 7,072 9,162 (4,794) (2,090)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 1,395 2,019 1,879 624 140
Accommodation expenses 4,997 4,668 4,712 (329) (44)
Grants and subsidies 2, A 33,823 31,024 34,731 (2,799) (3,707)
Funding for services 3, B 25,636 29,401 25,908 3,765 3,493
Net Loss on disposal of non-current assets 4, C - 576 13 576 563
Other expenses 935 1,496 1,536 561 (40)
Total cost of services 110,622 108,025 108,164 (2,597) (139)
Income

Revenue
User charges and fees 738 482 464 (256) 18
Commonwealth grants and contributions 473 1,541 1,817 1,068 (276)
Other Revenue 5, D 1,195 6,298 2,579 5,103 3,719
Total revenue 2,406 8,321 4,860 5,915 3,461
Total income other than income from State Government 2,406 8,321 4,860 5,915 3,461

NET COST OF SERVICES 108,216 99,704 103,304 (8,512) (3,600)
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Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget

2016
($’000)

Actual
2016

($’000)

Actual
2015

($’000)

Variance between 
estimate and 

actual
($’000)

Variance between 
actual results for 

2016 and 2015
($’000)

Income from State Government

Service appropriation E 93,322 95,774 81,111 2,452 14,663
Services received free of charge 2,953 1,033 1,355 (1,920) (322)
Royalties for Regions Fund 6 6,467 3,008 2,284 (3,459) 724
Total income from State Government 102,742 99,815 84,750 (2,927) 15,065

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (5,474) 111 (18,554) 5,585 18,665
Other Comprehensive Income

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 1,344 (148) 1,344 1,492
Total other comprehensive income - 1,344 (148) 1,344 1,492

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (5,474) 1,455 (18,702) 6,929 20,157

Major estimate and actual (2016) variance narratives

1) Supplies and Services underspent by $4.8 million (40.4 per cent) due to expected expenditure patterns not fully emerging in 2015–16. A key 
contributor to the underspent budget funds in 2015–16 is the Resources Received Free of Charge (RRFC) expense. Actual RRFC expenditure in 
2015–16 was $1.033 million, however, budget funding for this item in 2015–16 is $2.953 million, a difference of $1.92 million.

The difference above is primarily attributable to the de-merger by the department from the Department of Child Protection and Family Support 
(DCPFS) corporate services support. About $2.6 million of the RRFC Budget in 2015–16 represented corporate services functions previously provided 
to the department by DCPFS.

Under previous arrangements, certain corporate service functions were provided to the department by DCPFS. With the formation of the department 
on 1 July 2013, DCPFS largely discontinued these services from 2014–15 onwards. However, adjustments to realign the RRFC Budget downwards to 
accord with this new arrangement were not affected until post the 2015–16 Budget. 

2) Grant expense underspent by $2.8 million (8.3 per cent) due to the re-profiling of $2.394 million of revenue and associated expenditure, post the 
2015–16 budget process, to meet Royalties for Regions activities in 2017–18.

34 Explanatory statement (Cont.)
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34 Explanatory statement (Cont.)

3) Funded Services expense overspent by $3.8 million (14.7 per cent) due to the transfer of the Financial Counselling Program from the Department for 
Child Protection and Family Support to the department post the 2015–16 budget process. About $4.3 million of this transferred funds was for funded 
services expenses.

4) Net Loss on disposal of non-current assets overspent by $0.6 million (100 per cent) due to the derecognition of land and building transferred to the 
Shire of Collie.

5) Other revenues has increased by $5.1 million (427.0 per cent) due to :

 – contributions by other government agencies to the department’s Financial Counselling Program ($1.95 million)

 – contribution to the department of land and buildings from the Shire of Collie ($2.4 million).

6) Royalties for Regions Fund decreased by $3.5 million (53.5 per cent) due to $2.394 million of this revenue and associated expenditure being re-
profiled to 2017–18 to meet associated RfR expenditures in that year. The residual difference being due to RfR cash reserves being drawn on to 
address RfR expenditure needs in 2015–16, rather than RfR revenue.

Major actual (2016) and comparative (2015) variance narratives

A) Grant expense underspent by $3.7 million (10.7 per cent) due to the cessation of the Seniors Security Rebate ($1.15 million), the Social Innovation 
Grants ($1.65 million) and the Social Enterprise Fund Grants ($0.577 million) at the end of 2014–15.

B) Funded Services expense overspent by $3.5 million (13.5 per cent) due to the transfer of the Financial Counselling Program from the Department 
for Child Protection and Family Support to the department post the 2015–16 budget process. About $4.3 million of this transferred funds was for 
funded services expenses.

C) Net Loss on disposal of non-current assets overspent by $0.5 million (97.7 per cent) due to the de-recognition of land and building transferred by the 
department to the Shire of Collie.

D) Other revenues has increased by $3.7 million (144.2 per cent) due to :

   - contributions by other government agencies to the department’s Financial Counselling Program ($1.95 million)

   - contribution to the department of land and buildings from the Shire of Collie ($2.4 million)

E) Service appropriation has increased by $14.7 million (18.1 per cent) because post the 2014–15 Budget, the Under Treasurer wrote to all Chief 
Executive Officers advising of the requirement for agencies to implement the Cash Management Savings. For the department, this resulted in a 
$15.4 million reduction in its appropriation for 2014–15 only, with appropriation returning to pre Cash Management Savings level in 2015–16.
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Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget

2016
($’000)

Actual
2016

($’000)

Actual
2015

($’000)

Variance between 
estimate and 

actual
($’000)

Variance between 
actual results for 

2016 and 2015
($’000)

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 7,022 15,524 17,205 8,502 (1,681)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 8 6,135 2,840 3,769 (3,295) (929)
Receivables 1,453 616 1,066 (837) (450)
Amounts receivable for services 103 103 103 - -
Other current assets 32 668 478 636 190
Total Current Assets 14,745 19,751 22,621 5,006 (2,870)
Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - - - - -
Amounts receivable for services 20,104 20,104 18,812 - 1,292
Property, plant and equipment 44,133 43,764 43,283 (369) 481
Intangible assets 916 1,438 1,344 522 94
Total Non-Current Assets 65,153 65,306 63,439 153 1,867

TOTAL ASSETS 79,898 85,057 86,060 5,159 (1,003)
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 9, F 3,585 1,868 3,827 (1,717) (1,959)
Provisions 5,914 7,058 6,563 1,144 495
Total Current Liabilities 9,499 8,926 10,390 (573) (1,464)
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 1,478 1,420 1,524 (58) (104)
Total Non-Current Liabilities 1,478 1,420 1,524 (58) (104)

TOTAL LIABILITIES 10,977 10,346 11,914 (631) (1,568)
NET ASSETS 68,921 74,711 74,146 5,790 565
EQUITY
Contributed equity 63,583 61,824 62,714 (1,759) (890)
Reserves 15,636 16,832 15,488 1,196 1,344
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (10,298) (3,945) (4,056) 6,353 111
TOTAL EQUITY 68,921 74,711 74,146 5,790 565

34 Explanatory statement (Cont.)
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34 Explanatory statement (Cont.)

Major estimate and actual (2016) variance narratives

7) Cash and cash equivalents has increased by $8.5 million (121.1 per cent) due to the fact that the budget balance for cash at bank is an estimated 
balance for that line item, based on budget adjustments up to the time of preparation of the 2015–16 Budget Papers (May 2014). Subsequent actual 
cash movements in 2014–15 and 2015–16 are reflected at the end of financial year 2015–16 actual result and reflect funding decisions made post the 
2015–16 Budget process. 

8) Restricted cash and cash equivalents has decreased by $3.3 million (53.7 per cent) due to the fact that the budget balance for restricted cash at 
bank is an estimated balance for that line item, based on budget adjustments up to the time of preparation of the 2015–16 Budget Papers (May 
2014). Subsequent actual cash movements in 2014–15 and 2015–16 are reflected at the end of financial year 2015–16 actual result and reflect funding 
decisions made post the 2015–16 Budget process. 

9) Payables have decreased by $1.7 million (47.9 per cent) due to additional focus made in 2015–16 to ensure as many outstanding accounts were 
paid prior to the end of the financial year, resulting in a reduction in the department’s accounts payable balance in 2015–16 when compared to the 
budgeted balance.

Major actual (2016) and comparative (2015) variance narratives

F) Payables have decreased by $1.9 million (51.2 per cent) due to additional focus made in 2015–16 to ensure as many outstanding accounts were paid 
prior to the end of the financial year, resulting in a reduction in the department’s accounts payable balance in 2015–16 when compared to the actual 
balance in 2014–15.
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Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget

2016
($’000)

Actual
2016

($’000)

Actual
2015

($’000)

Variance between 
estimate and 

actual
($’000)

Variance between 
actual results for 

2016 and 2015
($’000)

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation G 91,927 94,379 79,736 2,452 14,643
Capital appropriation 870 870 - - 870
Holding Account drawdown 103 103 103 - -
Cash transferred - - (140) - 140
Royalties for Regions Fund 10 6,467 3,008 2,284 (3,459) 724
Net cash provided by State Government 99,367 98,360 81,983 (1,007) 16,377
Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits H (32,898) (32,207) (29,261) 691 (2,946)
Supplies and services (8,810) (7,100) (8,113) 1,710 1,013
Accommodation (4,993) (4,668) (4,712) 325 44
Grants and subsidies 11, I (33,823) (31,215) (36,604) 2,608 5,389
Funding for services 12, J (25,636) (29,401) (25,908) (3,765) (3,493)
GST payments on purchases (4,342) (4,872) (5,111) (530) 239
Other payments (1,091) (1,496) (1,536) (405) 40
Receipts
User charges and fees 738 482 706 (256) (224)
Commonwealth grants and contributions 1,273 1,541 1,817 268 (276)
GST receipts on sales 61 152 417 91 (265)
GST receipts from taxation authority 4,281 4,955 4,947 674 8
Other receipts 13 395 3,971 2,579 3,576 1,392
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (104,845) (99,858) (100,779) 4,987 921

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-current assets (973) (1,112) (912) (139) (200)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (973) (1,112) (912) (139) (200)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (6,451) (2,610) (19,708) 3,841 17,098
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 19,608 20,974 40,682 1,366 (19,708)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 13,157 18,364 20,974 5,207 (2,610)

34 Explanatory statement (Cont.)
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34 Explanatory statement (Cont.)

Major estimate and actual (2016) variance narratives

10) Royalties for Regions Fund decreased by $3.5 million (53.5 per cent) due to $2.394 million of this revenue and associated expenditure being re-
profiled to 2017–18 to meet associated RfR expenditures in that year. The residual difference being due to RfR cash reserves being drawn on to 
address RfR expenditure needs in 2015–16, rather than RfR revenue.

11) Grant and subsidies was underspent by $2.6 million (7.7 per cent) due to the re-profiling of funding and expenditure, post the 2015–16 budget 
process, to meet Royalties for Regions activities in 2017–18.

12) Funding for services have overspent by $3.8 million (14.7 per cent) due to the transfer of the Financial Counselling Program from the Department for 
Child Protection and Family Support to the department post the 2015–16 budget process. About $4.3 million of this transferred funds was for funded 
services payments.

13) Other receipts have increased by $3.6 million (905.3 per cent) due to contributions by other government agencies to the department’s Financial 
Counselling Program ($1.95 million).

Major actual (2016) and comparative (2015) variance narratives

G) Service appropriation has increased by $14.6 million (18.4%) because post the 2014–15 Budget, the Under Treasurer wrote to all Chief Executive 
Officers advising of the requirement for agencies to implement the Cash Management Savings. For the department, this resulted in a $15.4 million 
reduction in its appropriation for 2014–15 only, with appropriation returning to pre Cash Management Savings level in 2015–16.

H) Employee benefits has increased by $2.9 million (10.1 per cent) due to an additional pay period in 2015–16 (the 27th pay).

I) Grant expense underspent by $5.4 million (14.7 per cent) due to the cessation of the Seniors Security Rebate ($1.15 million), the Social Innovation 
Grants ($1.65 million) and the Social Enterprise Fund Grants ($0.577 million) at the end of 2014–15.

J) Funded Services expense overspent by $3.5 million (13.5 per cent) due to the transfer of the Financial Counselling Program from the Department for 
Child Protection and Family Support to the department post the 2015–16 budget process. About $4.3 million of this transferred funds was for funded 
services payments.
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35 Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial instruments held by the department are cash and cash 
equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, receivables, and 
payables. The department has limited exposure to financial risks. The 
department’s overall risk management program focuses on managing the 
risks identified below.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the department’s 
receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial 
loss to the department. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in 
relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying 
amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as 
shown in the table at note 35(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and 
note 19 ‘Receivables’.

Credit risk associated with the department’s financial assets is minimal 
because the main receivable is the amounts receivable for services 
(holding account). For receivables other than government, the department 
trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The department 
has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services 
are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, 
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result 
that the department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the 
reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the department is unable to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due.

The department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the 
normal course of business. 

The department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows 
including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows 
to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign 
exchange rates and interest rates will affect the department’s income or 
the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The department does not 
trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. 

Other than as detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis table at note 
35(c), the department is not exposed to interest rate risk because the 
majority of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest 
bearing and it has no borrowings.
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(b) Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial 
assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as 
follows:

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 15,524 17,205
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,840 3,769
Receivables(a) 20,339 19,263
Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 1,868 3,827

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable). 

35 Financial instruments (cont.)
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(c) Financial instrument disclosures

Credit risk

The following table details the department’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The department’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of 
financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of 
the department.

The department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.

Aged analysis of financial assets 

Carrying 
Amount 
($’000)

Not past 
due and not 

impaired 
($’000)

Past due but not impaired
More than 5 

Years 
($’000)

Impaired 
Financial 

Assets 
($’000)

Up to 1 
months 
($’000)

1–3  
months 
($’000)

3–12 
months 
($’000)

1–5  
Years 

($’000)
2016

Cash and cash equivalents 15,524 15,524 - - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,840 2,840 - - - - - -
Receivables(a) 132 109 - - - 23 - -
Amounts receivable for services 20,207 20,207 - - - - - -

38,703 38,680 - - - 23 - -
2015

Cash and cash equivalents 17,205 17,205 - - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3,769 3,769 - - - - - -
Receivables(a) 348 224 - 76 36 12 - -
Amounts receivable for services 18,915 18,915 - - - - - -

40,237 40,113 - 76 36 12 - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

35 Financial instruments (cont.)
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Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

The following table details the Department’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The 
maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest Rate Exposure

Nominal 
Amount 
($’000)

Maturity Dates

Carrying 
Amount 
($’000)

Variable 
Interest 

Rate 
($’000)

Non- 
Interest 
Bearing  
($’000)

Up to 1 
months 
($’000)

1–3 
months 
($’000)

3–12 
months 
($’000)

1–5 Years 
($’000)

More than 
5 Years 
($’000)

2016
Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 15,524 - 15,524 15,524 15,524 - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,840 - 2,840 2,840 2,840 - - - -
Receivables(a) 132 - 132 132 132
Amounts receivable for services 20,207 - 20,207 20,207 - - 103 20,104 -

38,703 - 38,703 38,703 18,496 - 103 20,104 -
Financial Liabilities

Payables 1,868 1,868 1,868
1,868 - 1,868 1,868 - - - - -

2015
Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 17,205 - 17,205 17,205 17,205 - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3,769 - 3,769 3,769 2,800 - 969 - -
Receivables(a) 348 - 348 348 348 - - -
Amounts receivable for services 18,915 - 18,915 18,915 - - 103 18,812 -

40,237 - 40,237 40,237 20,353 - 1,072 18,812 -
Financial Liabilities

Payables 3,827 3,827 3,827 3,827
3,827 - 3,827 3,827 3,827 - - - -

(a) The amounts of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from ATO (Statutory Receivable)

35 Financial instruments (cont.)
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The department is not exposed to interest rate risk because cash and 
cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing.

Fair values

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at 
amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless 
otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

36 Remuneration of senior officers

The number of senior officers, whose total of fees, salaries, 
superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial 
year, fall within the following bands are: 

Remuneration Band ($) 2016 2015
170,001 - 180,000  1  - 
190,001 - 200,000  -  1 
210,001 - 220,000  2  - 
220,001 - 230,000  1  1 
230,001 - 240,000  -  2 
350,001 - 360,000  1  - 
360,001 - 370,000  -  1 

($’000) ($’000)
Base remuneration and superannuation  1,068  1,054 
Annual Leave and long service leave accruals  14  106 
Other benefits  105  91 
The total remuneration of senior officers 1,187 1,251

Total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the department in respect 
of senior officers. Clearance of leave entitlements has contributed to the lower remuneration in 
2015–16.

35 Financial instruments (cont.)
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37 Remuneration of auditor

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor 
General in respect of the audit for the current 
financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and 
key performance indicators 158 158

This amount includes audit certification for the Royalties for Regions programs of $14,100 
(2014–15 : $14,000).

38 Related bodies

The department did not have any related bodies during the financial year. 

39 Affiliated bodies

The following are government affiliated bodies that received funding and 
grants from the department. They are not subject to operational control by 
the department. 

Organisation Name

Amount 
Received 

($’000)
Armadale Community Family Centre 197
Bridgetown Family and Community Centre Incorporated 96
Brockman Community House 200
Connect Groups Support Groups Association WA Inc 353
East Victoria Park Family & Community Centre Inc 69
Falcon Family Centre 63
Frank Konecny Community Centre 158
Gowrie Community Services (WA) Inc 262
Joongari House 52
Karingal Neighbourhood Centre Inc 135
Local Information Network Karratha Inc 129
Manjimup Family Centre Inc 200
Meerilinga Young Children’s Services Inc 1,281
Narrogin Community Support Association Inc 71
Public Libraries of WA Inc 30
Rostrata Family Centre Inc 63
South Lake Ottey Family Centre 210
Sudbury Community House Association Inc 200
West Stirling Neighbourhood House 96
Westerly Family Centre Inc 70
William Langford Community House 200
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40 Special purpose accounts

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Western Australian Family Foundation
The purpose of the special purpose account is to 
hold funds for development, implementation and 
administration of initiatives and activities regarding 
the family and the community.

Balance at start of period 303 259
Receipts 250 250
Payments (249) (206)
Balance at end of period 304 303

Indian Ocean Territory(a)

Balance at start of period 216 35
Receipts 349 574
Payments (313) (393)
Balance at end of period 252 216

(a) Formerly known as Christmas and Cocos (Keeling) Island program

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Local Government Scholarship Scheme Trust Fund 
The purpose of the trust account is to hold funds 
for the purpose of awarding scholarships to local 
government officers for attendance at the managerial 
study courses

Balance at start of period 8 1
Receipts 25 25
Payments (15) (18)
Balance at end of period 18 8

2016
($’000)

2015
($’000)

Off-road Vehicles Account
This account holds monies collected for the 
registration of vehicles under the Control of Vehicles 
(Off-road areas) Act and to provide funds to meet 
the expenses of the department in connection with 
administration of the Act pursuant to section 43(2) of 
the Act.

Balance at start of period 358 329
Receipts 55 29
Payments - -
Balance at end of period 413 358
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41 Supplementary financial information

2016
($’000)

2015
($’000)

(a) Write offs 
During the financial year, $37,355 (2015: nil) was 
written off for the following under the authority of: 

The accountable authority
portable and attractive items 36 -
accounts receivable 1 -

37 -
(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes

Losses of public money and public and other property 
through theft or default (written off) 37 -

37 -

(c) Gifts of public property

There were no gifts of public property provided by the department.

42  Disclosure of administered income 
and expenses by service

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Strengthen Good Governance in the Local 
Government Sector and Provide Effective 
Regulation(a)

Cost of Services

Expenses

Employee benefit Expense - -
Supplies and services - -
Total administered expenses - -

Income

Revenue - 1,654
Total Administered income - 1,654

(a) Administered funding represents the costs associated with the establishment of the Canning 
Inquiry Panel which ceased in 2013–14. Revenue reported in 2014–15 represents the request 
to the City of Canning for reimbursement for the cost of the Inquiry and has been refunded 
back to Government in 2015–16.
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43 Administered assets and liabilities

2016 
($’000)

2015 
($’000)

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents - 145
Receivables - 1,836
Total Administered Current Assets - 1,981
Total Administered Assets - 1,981
Current Liabilities

Current Liabilities - -
Provisions - -
Total Administered Current Liabilities - -
Total Administered Liabilities - -
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5.3 Detailed key performance indicators information

Certification of Key Performance Indicators

I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper 
records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the 
Department of Local Government and Communities’ performance, and 
fairly represent the performance of the department for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2016.

Brad Jolly 
Acting Director General 

25 August 2016
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Summary of indicators 

The department has five outcomes with eight effectiveness indicators and seven efficiency indicators. They are summarised in the table below.

Government goal

Results-Based Service Delivery: Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit of all West Australians.

Desired outcome Key Effectiveness Indicator Service Key Efficiency Indicator

The Early Education and Care 
sector met required quality 
standards.

1.1 Percentage of assessed early childhood 
education and care services that met 
or exceeded national standards.

Service 1: Regulation and Support of the 
Early Education and Care Sector

1.1 Average cost per licenced service for 
regulation and support.

Local governments were 
capable and well-governed.

2.1 Percentage of local governments that did 
not have an action taken against them under 
the department’s compliance framework

Service 2: Regulation and Support of Local 
Government

2.1 Average cost per local government for 
regulation and support.

2.2 Percentage of local governments with 
Integrated Planning and Reporting plans 
reviewed.

Seniors received concessions 
and rebates administered by 
the department.

3.1 Take up rate of WA Seniors Card. Service 3: Payments to Individuals 3.1 Average management cost per WA 
Seniors Card.

Local community services 
and community building 
programs met the identified 
needs of individuals and 
families.

4.1 Percentage of service users that had their 
identified needs met.

Service 4: Delivery of Community 
Services, Grants and Resources

4.1 Number of grants and service 
agreements per FTE.

4.2 Percentage of community building grants 
that were acquitted against identified outcomes.

4.2 Proportion of administrative and 
management expenditure to service 
delivery expenditure.

Western Australia was 
recognised as a vibrant and 
effective multicultural society.

5.1 Percentage of organisations and individuals 
who report that the Office of Multicultural 
Interests had a positive impact on the promotion 
and support of multiculturalism. 

Service 5: Promotion and Support of 
Multiculturalism

5.1 Average cost per project to support 
and promote multiculturalism. 

5.2 Percentage of community grants for 
multicultural organisations that were acquitted 
against identified outcomes

5.2 Number of grants and service 
agreements per FTE.
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Indicators of effectiveness

Effectiveness indicator 1.1: Percentage of assessed  
early childhood education and care services 
that met or exceeded national standards.

The Early Childhood Regulation Unit (ECRU) is the business unit 
responsible for regulating the education and care sector in WA. The 
primary mechanisms for ensuring the sector meets required standards is 
by inspections, investigations and support. This reflects the department’s 
efforts to effectively regulate and achieve continuous improvement in the 
quality of child care services to a national standard. 

Staff from the unit visit services and assess them against national 
standards included in the Education and Carers Services National Law 
(WA) Act 2012. Services are given one of five ratings: excellent, exceed 
national quality standard, meet national quality standard, working towards 
national quality standard or significant improvement required. Services 
found to be not meeting standards are prioritised for further investigation. 

For the services assessed each year by the department, the number 
that are found to meet or exceed standards are counted and divided 
by the total number assessed and then multiplied by 100 to report as a 
percentage.

Figure 1: Percentage of assessed early childhood education 
and care services that met or exceeded national standards

Note:

• This is a new indicator and the 2014–15 figure was recast as information was available.

• Three hundred and fifty seven out of 1139 services were assessed in 2015–16.

• The 2015–16 actual was two per cent higher than the 2014–15 actual and two per cent lower 
than the 2015–16 target.
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Effectiveness Indicator 2.1: Percentage of local governments 
that did not have an action taken against them 
under the department’s compliance framework.

The department is the regulator of the local government sector. 
Regulation is defined as compliance with the Local Government Act 
1995 and associated legislation and regulations. Actions include advice, 
education and support; monitoring of risk; complaints investigations and 
authorised inquiries. Appropriate regulatory action is organised using the 
department’s compliance framework. The success of the department’s 
efforts to promote and support compliance is reflected in whether 
remedial regulatory actions are required across any local governments.

The indicator is the percentage of local governments that did not have an 
action taken against them under the department’s compliance framework. 
The total number of local governments (138) minus the number of local 
governments that had an action taken against them gives the number of 
local governments that did not have an action taken against them. This 
number is divided by the total number of local governments and multiplied 
by 100 to report as a percentage.

Figure 2: Percentage of local governments that 
did not have an action taken against them under 
the department’s compliance framework.

Note:

• This is a new indicator and the 2014–15 figure was recast as information was available.

• In 2014–15, the number of local governments with no action taken against them was the 
same as 2015–16 (74).

• The 2015–16 actual was six per cent lower than the 2015–16 target. 
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Effectiveness Indicator 2.2: Percentage of local governments 
with Integrated Planning and Reporting plans reviewed.

Integrated Planning and Reporting gives local governments a framework 
for establishing local priorities and linking this information to operational 
functions. All local governments are currently required to produce a plan 
for the future under S5.56 (1) of the Local Government Act 1995. The 
department periodically reviews the plans published by local governments 
and uses the findings of the review to inform its development and 
capability efforts that drive further improvements in local government 
planning. The indicator is a measure of the success of the department’s 
efforts to support local governments to design plans and to meet the 
required elements in accordance with the legislation, and continue to 
improve upon the minimum requirements.

The indicator is the percentage of local governments that had their 
planning reviewed. In 2015–16, the scope of the review included Strategic 
Community Plans and Corporate Business Plans. The total number of local 
governments reviewed was divided by the number of local government 
(138) and multiplied by 100 to report as a percentage.

Figure 3: Percentage of local governments with 
Integrated Planning and Reporting plans reviewed.

Note:

• This is a new indicator developed in 2015 and no data was available to recast prior year 
comparative results. 

• The 2015–16 actual is 25 per cent higher than the target. This was because of the further 
coverage of the department’s review than previously anticipated.
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Effectiveness Indicator 3.1: The take up 
rate of WA Seniors Card

In 2015–16, the WA Seniors Card allowed access to a range of 
concessions for seniors. Accessibility to the WA Seniors Card by the 
majority of the eligible population is a measure of the success of the 
department in promoting the WA Seniors Card and the ease with which to 
apply for it.

The calculation of the WA Senior Card take-up rate is based on: 

 · an end of financial year count of WA Seniors Card holders obtained from 
the WA Senior Card database

 · the estimated residential population of seniors in WA (published by the 
Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS)

 · the estimated proportion of seniors who work 25 hours or less (based 
on trend data sourced from the Australian Census published by the 
ABS). 

The estimated residential population of seniors in a given financial year is 
adjusted to those who are expected to be working 25 hours or less and 
is referred to as the eligible population. The total count of the WA Seniors 
Card holders is divided by the estimated eligible population and multiplied 
by 100 to provide the result for the indicator.

Figure 4: The estimated take up rate of WA Seniors Card

Note:

• This is a new indicator and the 2014–15 figure was recast as information was available.

• The 2015–16 actual was four per cent higher than the 2014–15 actual percentage and was 
equal to the 2015–16 target. 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Actual Actual
2014-15 2015-16 2015-16

Target
2015-16

Target variance

90% 94% 94% 0%

108



5.0 Disclosures and Legal Compliance

Effectiveness Indicator 4.1: Percentage of service 
users that had their identified needs met.

Community services provided or funded by the department are designed 
to deliver specific outcomes for service users. Each service program has 
defined outcomes identified. The extent to which service users report that 
those outcomes were delivered is a measure of the department’s success 
in using its resources to provide effective services to the community. This 
indicator encompasses services such as:

 · Aboriginal Early Years 

 · parenting services

 · volunteer services

 · youth services

 · rural child care services

 · seniors’ services.

All people who used these services from July 2015 were invited to 
complete an anonymous survey to assess whether it met the identified 
outcomes. 

Only services that returned a signed and completed checklist to confirm 
that they had distributed the survey to everyone that attended the service 
between October and December were included in the analysis to reduce 
sampling bias. In addition, a random selection of services were also visited 
by the department to investigate and check the correct administration of 
the survey. 

Only those survey items assessing service outcomes were included 
in the calculations. Responses to each outcome are scored as follows: 
strongly agree = 2; agree = 1; neither = 0; disagree = -1; and strongly 
disagree = -2. The score of applicable outcomes are then summed. If the 

result is a positive integer, then the service is judged to have received a 
positive endorsement by the service user. The indicator is the percentage 
of service users with overall positive endorsement of the relevant service 
outcome. 

Figure 5: Percentage of service users that had their identified 
needs met.

Note:

• This is a new indicator and the 2014–15 figure was recast as information was available.

• The 2015–16 actual was equal to the 2014–15 actual and 2015–16 target. 

• The survey distribution was 15,062 paper-based and online surveys.

• The number of complete responses received was 3,151.

• The response rate was 21 per cent.

• The estimated sampling error is ± 1.04 per cent.
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Effectiveness Indicator 4.2: Percentage of 
community building grants that were 
acquitted against identified outcomes.

The department funds numerous grant programs aimed at building, 
celebrating and supporting communities. Each grant program has defined 
outcomes. All community building grants are competitively selected from 
applications made in a funding round. Upon completion of the agreed 
activities for the funded grant, recipients are required to submit a report 
outlining the activities and a statement of income and expenditure. The 
department has processes in place to review submitted reports against 
the grant agreement to acquit the grant. 

The total count of grants successfully acquitted by the financial year they 
were due for completion divided by the total number of grants due for 
acquittal in the financial year and multiplied by 100 provide the result for 
the indicator.

Figure 6: Percentage of community building grants 
that were acquitted against identified outcomes.

Note:

• This is a new indicator and the 2014–15 figure was recast as information was available.

• The 2015–16 actual was 17 per cent higher than the 2014–15 actual. The difference in acquittal 
rates was due to improved resourcing and grant management processes in 2015–16.

• The 2015–16 actual was eight per cent lower than the target. Fewer resources were available 
in the actual than were anticipated in the target.
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Effectiveness indicator 5.1: Percentage of stakeholders 
who report that the Office of Multicultural 
Interests had a positive impact on the 
promotion and support of multiculturalism.

The Office of Multicultural Interests works closely with a wide variety of 
stakeholders to promote vibrant and effective multiculturalism in WA.

This effectiveness indicator is based on a survey of stakeholders that the 
Office of Multicultural Interests engaged within 2015–16. The indicator 
was based on a question with a five point response scale of two positive 
and two negative ratings around a neutral midpoint. The count of positive 
responses were then divided by the number of all responses and 
converted into a percentage to provide the indicator result.

Figure 7: Percentage of people who reported OMI has a positive 
impact on the promotion and support of multiculturalism in WA. 

Note:

• This is a continuing indicator from prior years with no changes, hence 2013–14 data was 
included for comparative purposes.

• The 2015–16 actual was five per cent higher than the 2014–15 actual and four per cent higher 
than the 2015–16 target.

• The survey distribution was 837.

• The number of responses received was 129.

• The response rate was 15 per cent.

• The estimated sampling error was ± 4.76 per cent.
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Effectiveness indicator 5.2: Percentage of community 
grants for multicultural organisations that were 
acquitted against identified outcomes.

The Office of Multicultural Interests offers a range of grant programs 
to promote and support multiculturalism in WA. Each grant has defined 
outcomes.

Grant recipients are required to submit a completion report for acquittal, 
which is assessed against the detail of the grant application. The indicator 
is the percentage of grants successfully acquitted by the financial year that 
they were due to be completed. 

 

Figure 8: Percentage of community grants for multicultural 
organisations that were acquitted against identified outcomes.

Note: 

• This is a new indicator developed in 2015 and no data was available to recast prior year 
comparative results.

• The 2015–16 actual was 12 per cent lower than the 2015–16 target due to the redesign of 
a major grants program (Community Languages Program) and longer acquittal times than 
anticipated as adjustments to new requirements occurred. 
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Indicators of efficiency
The department organises its functions across five services and seven 
service indicators presented below.

Service 1: Regulation and support of the 
early education and care sector

Service 1 refers to the regulation and quality assurance of early education 
and care services against required service standards. This includes 
development of planning, capacity building and support for early education 
and care services. 

KPI 1.1: Average cost per licensed service 
for regulation and support.

As at 30 June 2016, there were 1,139 licensed child care services in 
Western Australia, consisting of 1,081 child care centres and 58 family day 
care schemes. Combined, these services offered 59,199 child care places 
throughout the state.

 
2014–15 

Actual
2015–16 

Actual
2015–16 

Target

2015–16 
Target 

variance

1.1 Average cost per licensed 
service for regulation and support. $11,637 $10,805 $11,291 4%

Note:
• This is a new indicator and the 2014–15 figure was recast as information was available. 

• The average cost per service 2015–16 actual was seven per cent lower than the 2014–15 
actual. The decrease was due to an increase in the size of the early education and care sector 
alongside a reduction in expenditure in 2015–16. 

• The 2015–16 actual was four per cent lower than 2015–16 target. The 2015–16 actual had 
lower expenditure than was anticipated in the target.
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Service 2: Regulation and support of local government

Service 2 includes supporting local governments to fulfil their statutory 
obligations and to improve capability in the sector.

KPI 2.1: Average cost per local government 
for regulation and support.

The department has invested significant resources in building the strategic 
capability of local governments. 

2014–15 
Actual

2015–16 
Actual

2015–16 
Target

2015–16 
Target 

variance

2.1 Average cost per local 
government for regulation and 
support. $87,570 $76,070 $96,391 27%

Note:

• This is a new indicator and the 2014–15 figure was recast as information was available. 

• The average cost per local government 2015–16 actual was 13 per cent lower than the 
2014–15 actual and 27 per cent lower than the 2015–16 target due to changes in Royalty for 
Regions allocation and the cessation of the Metropolitan Local Government Reform and its 
associated anticipated expenses. 

Service 3: Payments to individuals

Service 3 is the delivery of benefits and concessions administered by the 
department, including the WA Seniors Card.

KPI 3.1: Average management cost per WA Seniors Card

The department offers a range of benefits to seniors via the WA Seniors 
Card program. This includes the Cost of Living Rebate payment and the 
WA Seniors Card Centre. 

 
2014–15 
Actual

2015–16 
Actual

2015–16 
Target

2015–16 
Target 
variance

3.1 Average management cost per 
WA Seniors Card. $7.09 $6.58 $7.12 8%

Note:

• This is a new indicator and the 2014–15 figure was recast as information was available. 

• The average cost per senior card 2015–16 actual was seven per cent lower than the 2014–15 
actual and eight per cent lower than the 2015–16 target. This was due to an increase in senior 
card holders and reduced expenditure because of the reduction in publication costs. 
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Service 4: Delivery of community services, 
grants and resources

Service 4 includes the development, planning and provision of information, 
programs and support for West Australians across community services 
and local governments.

KPI 4.1: Number of grants and service 
agreements per full time equivalent (FTE).

The department leads and funds a range of community services relating 
to children and families, youth, seniors, women, carers, volunteering and 
local governments. A team of contract managers oversee the service 
agreements and grants that these community services are based upon.

 
2014–15 

Actual
2015–16 

Actual
2015–16 

Target

2015–16 
Target 

variance

4.1 Number of grants and 
service agreements per full time 
equivalent (FTE). 48.2 40.5 38.1 6%

Note:

• This is a new indicator and the 2014–15 figure was recast as information was available. 

• The number of grants and service agreements per FTE in 2015–16 actual was 16 per cent 
lower than the 2014–15 actual. This was due to a lower utilisation of available FTE and more 
grant agreements in 2014–15 compared to 2015–16.

• The 2015–16 target was six per cent lower than the 2015–16 actual. The actual had a lower 
utilisation of FTE than the target.

KPI 4.2: Proportion of administrative and management 
expenditure to service delivery expenditure.

The cost of management and administrative staff relative to front line 
service staff and service funding.

 
2014–15 

Actual
2015–16 

Actual
2015–16 

Target

2015–16 
Target 

variance

4.2 Proportion of administrative 
and management expenditure to 
service delivery expenditure. 7.5% 8.2% 8.9% 9.0%

Note:

• This is a new indicator and the 2014–15 figure was recast as information was available. 

• The proportion of administrative and management expenditure to service delivery 
expenditure in the 2015–16 actual was nine per cent higher than the 2014–15 actual. 

• The 2015–16 target was nine per cent higher than the 2015–16 actual. 

• The 2015–16 actual included additional expenditure associated with the introduction of 
financial counselling services to the department that was not present in 2014–15 and was not 
anticipated in the 2015–16 target. 
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Service 5: Promotion and support of multiculturalism

This service supports the development and implementation of policies, 
programs and services that achieve the full potential of multiculturalism.

KPI 5.1: Average cost per project to support 
and promote multiculturalism

All the projects developed and implemented to promote and support 
multiculturalism by the Office of Multicultural Interests.

 
2014–15 

Actual
2015–16 

Actual
2015–16 

Target

2015–16 
Target 

variance

5.1 Average cost per project 
to support and promote 
multiculturalism. $98,680 $101,061 $101,315 0.3%

Note:

• This is a new indicator and the 2014–15 figure was recast as information was available. 

• The average cost per project in 2015–16 actual was two per cent higher than the 2014–15 
actual and less than one per cent lower than the 2015–16 target.

KPI 5.2: Number of grants and service agreements per FTE

The Office of Multicultural Interests funds a range of community grants 
intended to promote and support multiculturalism in WA. A team of 
contract managers oversee the grants.

 
2014–15 

Actual
2015–16 

Actual
2015–16 

Target

2015–16 
Target 

variance

5.2 Number of grants and service 
agreements per FTE.

NA 26.6 37.1 -40%

Note:

• This is a new indicator developed in 2015 and no data was available to recast prior year 
comparative results. 

• The 2015–16 actual was 40 per cent lower than the 2015–16 target. The Harmony Champions 
Program did not occur in 2015–16 and the Community Grants Program was reconfigured into 
fewer grants of larger individual value. 
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5.4 Ministerial directives

The department did not receive any Ministerial directives in 2015–16.

5.5 Other financial disclosures

5.5.1 Pricing policies of services provided

The department operates in an environment where the majority of its 
revenue is not on a fee-for-service basis. Where a fee is charged, it is 
reviewed annually and the fee set in accordance with the Costing and 
Pricing Government Services Guidelines published by the Department of 
Treasury, unless prescribed by legislation.

The fees the department charges are:

 · freedom of information requests

 · regulation fees for education and care services

 · off road vehicle registration fees.

Fees set out in the Education and Care Services National Law (WA) Act 
2012 are indexed annually in accordance with the Education and Care 
Services National Regulations 2012. Fee changes are set at a national 
rather than State level.

5.5.2 Capital works

The department’s asset portfolio comprises 70 buildings, including child 
care centres, family centres and community centres that are owned or 
leased by the department. The buildings are provided to not-for-profit 
organisations through a deed of licence to run child care services and 
programs that enhance the local community. These assets are managed 
internally with support and advice provided by the Department of Finance, 
Building Management and Works. 

In 2015–16, the department spent $734,000 on upgrades for department 
buildings and leasehold properties.

Significant works were carried out at:

 · Birra-Li (Willagee) Child Care Centre

 · Fremantle Early Learning Centre

 · Treasure Island (Cannington) Child Care Centre

 · Treloar (South Hedland) Child Care Centre

 · High Wycombe Family Centre

 · Mundarda (Armadale) Child Care Centre

 · Noranda Child Care Centre.
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5.5.3 Employment and industrial relations

As at 30 June 2016, the department employed 304 staff. All staff are 
employed under the Public Sector Management Act 1994 and their 
employment conditions are those outlined in the Public Service Award 
1992 and the Public Service and Government Officers General Agreement 
2014. The Director General is employed under the Salaries and Allowances 
Act 1975.

Summary of number of employees

The department’s employees by category as at 30 June are listed below:

Category 2014–15 2015–16
Headcount 337 304 
FTE 301 258 
Permanent 294 269 
Fixed Term Contract (incl Trainees) 41 34 
Casual 2 1 
Female: Full time 200 182 
Female: Part time 63 61 
Male: Full Time 72 59 
Male: Part Time 2 2 

(from Summary of HRMOIR data submitted)

5.5.4 Staff development

The department is committed to building and sustaining an effective and 
skilled workforce. A newly implemented corporate induction workshop 
assists employees to understand the department’s business and their 
ethical and statutory obligations.

Management and leadership development workshops equipped 
managers with practical strategies for becoming more effective, the skills 
to become positive change agents and techniques to better coach and 
develop their staff.

Staff were supported with workshops to help them understand 
and develop resilience to cope with change and to build community 
engagement and consultation. Individual training and development 
needs continue to be identified and managed through the department’s 
performance development process.

The department continued to provide development opportunities for 
young people to gain qualifications and work experience through school 
based traineeships, regular internships and a recently implemented 
graduate program.

5.5.5 Workers’ compensation

Four compensation claims were recorded during the financial year, of 
which two were deemed severe where 60 days or more time was lost 
from work. This compares with one compensation claim of a minor nature 
recorded in 2014–15.
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5.6 Governance disclosures

5.6.1 Contracts with senior officers

The department has established procedures to identify, prevent or resolve 
any conflicts of interest and online tools to assist employees, available on 
the department’s intranet. 

In accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 903(14)(iii), the Director General 
has declared shares held in Woodside Petroleum Ltd, which is an entity 
that the department has or may have contracts or financial association 
with in the future. 

5.6.2 Unauthorised use of credit cards

Department officers are allocated corporate credit cards where their 
functions warrant credit card use. The department has reviewed and 
amended its credit card policy, guidelines, and user agreements to reflect 
the requirement of Treasurer’s Instruction 321. 

During the reporting period, there were three cases of personal use 
identified. These were addressed in accordance with Treasurer’s 
Instruction 321. All personal use expenditure has been recovered.

Unauthorised use of credit cards
2015–16 

($)
Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure for the 
reporting period 81
Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled by the 
due date (within five working days) 78
Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled after the 
period (after five working days) 3
Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure outstanding at 
balance date: nil

5.6.3 Gift declarations

While gifts, benefits or hospitality are generally not accepted by the 
department, there are circumstances where gifts and hospitality are 
provided at functions attended by officers as departmental requirements. 
There are other occasions where the non-acceptance of a gift, benefit 
or offer of hospitality may be seen as culturally unacceptable, rude or 
offensive, particularly when dealing with overseas visitors.

The department maintains a register of declared gifts. In 2015–16, 73 gifts 
were declared, of which 70 were accepted and three declined.
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5.7 Board and committee remuneration
Individual and aggregated costs of remunerating position on all boards and committees, as defined in the Premier’s Circular 2010/02 – State 
Government Boards and Committees, have been outlined in the tables below.

Position Name Type of Remuneration Period of Membership
Gross/Actual 

Remuneration
Seniors Ministerial Advisory Council

Council chair Van De Klashorst, June Annual 1 May 2009–31 May 2017 $14,060
Members Beatson, Pamela F Per meeting 1 June 2014–31 May 2017 $2,713

Davis, Leigh D Per meeting 1 June 2014–31 May 2017 $1,500
Kennedy, Peter Per meeting 1 April 2011–31 May 2017 $1,700
MacDonald, Catherine J Per meeting 1 June 2009–31 May 2017 $1,500
Robartson, Clive W Per meeting 1 September 2012–31 May 2017 $1,800
Rollo, Thomas Per meeting 1 May 2009–31 May 2017 $1,200
Varsani, Amarbai R Per meeting 1 June 2014–31 May 2015 $1,500
Ward, Eileen H Per meeting 1 June 2014–31 May 2017 $1,700
Whittaker, Shelley Per meeting 1 June 2015–31 May 2017 $1,500

Total   $29,173
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Position Name Type of Remuneration Period of Membership
Gross/Actual 

Remuneration
Carers Advisory Council

Council Chair Bowen, Esme Annual 1 July 2015 – 30 June 2017 $15,469
Members Amoore, Lyneve J Per meeting 1 July 2013–30 January 2016 $1,160

Batchelor, Glenice M Per meeting 1 February 2014–31 January 2018 $2,918
Corkill, Amanda J Per meeting 1February 2016– 31 January 2018 $0
Joseph, Daymon Per meeting 1 February 2014–31 January 2018 $1,970
Lunt, Kay M Per meeting 1 June 2014–31 May 2016 $2,320
Marsdon, Glennys J Per meeting 1 July 2013–30 June 2017 $3,250
Paust, Suzanne P Per meeting 1 February 2014–31 January 2016 $580
Roberts, Julie M Per meeting 1 February 2016–31 January 2018 $230
Sherriff, Karena A Per meeting 1 February 2012–31 January 2016 $5,089
Whande (Mutambiranwa), Ropafadzo Per meeting 1 July 2014–30 June 2016 $1,150

Former Chair *Deschamp, Mary E Annual 1 February 2013–30 June 2015 $472
Former Member *Linder, Mary Per meeting 1 July 2013–30 June 2015 $230
Total   $34,865
Local Government Advisory Board

Council chair Congerton, Melvyn P Annual 7 April 2009–31 August 2018 $36,515
Deputy chair Adam, Mary V Nil – Officer of the public service 1 September 2013–31 August 2016 $0
Deputy chair Chappel, Karen J Per meeting 1 September 2011–31 August 2015 $21,139
Deputy chair Chester, Mark L Per meeting 1 September 2013–31 August 2016 $0 
Members Dullard, Helen M Annual 1 September 2008–31 August 2016 $17,400

Yuryevich, Ron S Annual 1 September 2008–31 August 2015 $3,351
Silcox, Shayne Annual 1 September 2011–31 Aug 2016 $0

Deputy members Brennan, Gary Per meeting 1 September 2015–31 Aug 2018 $0
Fowler, Timothy D Nil – Officer of the public service 1 September 2008–31 August 2016 $0
Smith, Richard R Per meeting 1 September 2013–31 August 2016 $0

Total $78,405

*Underpayment rectified from 2014–15
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Position Name Type of Remuneration Period of Membership
Gross/Actual 

Remuneration
Local Government Standards Panel

Members Cridland, Glenn M Per meeting 10 April 2012–23 October 2014 $0
Doherty, Peter C Per meeting 10 April 2012–9 April 2016 $48,792
Kelly, Paul A Per meeting 10 April 2012–9 April 2016 $0

Deputy members Hooker, Richard Per meeting 4 March 2015–1 September 2015 $0
Scaffidi, Lisa M Nil 10 April 2012–8 October 2015 $0

Total   $48,792
Local Government Grants Commission

Chair Reynolds, Linton Annual 1 August 2011–31 July 2016 $57,761
Members Adams, Carol E Annual 1 August 2014–31 July 2017 $21,530

Carpenter, Ian W Annual 1 August 2011–31 July 2016 $22,665
Omodei, Paul D Annual 1 August 2014–31 July 2017 $26,875
Earnshaw, Ross Nil – Officer of the public service 1 August 2014–31 July 2017 $0

Deputy members Ennis, Don Sitting Fees 1 August 2014–31 July 2017 $0
Fox, Stephen H S Sitting Fees 1 August 2014–31 July 2017 $0
Hooper, John P M Annual 1 August 2014–31 July 2017 $0
Jolly, Brad Nil – Officer of the public service 1 August 2014–31 July 2017 $0

Total $128,831
Control of Vehicles (Off-road Areas) Act 1978 Advisory Committee
(Did not meet)    Nil
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5.8 Other legal requirements

5.8.1  Expenditure on advertising, market 
research, polling and direct mail

In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907 the 
department spent $242,777 on advertising and market research activities 
during 2015–16.

Category Organisation
Total 

(Ex GST)
Expenditure with 
advertising agencies

Adcorp Australia Ltd 41,247
My Media Intelligence Pty Ltd 10,337
Total $51,584

Expenditure with 
promotional/marketing 
agencies

Optimum Media Decisions (WA) Ltd 89,025
Rare 48,440

Total $137,465

Expenditure with 
publication agencies

PK Print Pty Ltd 36,611
Q Print Online 203
Quality Press WA 7,468
State Law Publisher 9,446
Total $53,728

5.8.2 Disability access and inclusion plan outcomes

The department’s Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) 2014–19 
ensures that services, facilities and information meet the needs of people 
with disability, their families and carers. The DAIP supports an environment 
in which people with disability have the same opportunities, rights and 
responsibilities enjoyed by all other people in the community. 

Key strategies include:

 · Ensure that staff, volunteers, agents and contractors are aware of, and 
comply with, the requirements of the DAIP.

 · Ensure occupational safety and health procedures are in place to 
safeguard people with disability in the workplace, in the event of a 
fire, evacuation or other critical incident or while attending an event 
organised by the department.

 · Ensure all new content meets Web Content Accessibility Guidelines 
(WCAG) 2.0 Level A accessibility standards and publications, templates 
and relevant documentation are available in alternative formats.

 · Ensure disability awareness training across the department and for new 
employees as part of their induction/orientation process.

 · Ensure the department’s complaints management system processes 
are accessible for people with disability and that systems are reviewed 
annually.

 · Ensure information regarding consultation is available in alternative 
formats for people with disability, upon request.

 · Provide appropriate training to staff and selection panels on how to 
communicate with people with disability.
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5.8.3  Compliance with Public Sector 
Standards and ethical codes

In accordance with section 31(1) of the Public Sector Management Act 
1994, the department continues to ensure compliance with its code of 
conduct, as well as public sector standards and code of ethics. The Ethics 
and Accountability Committee is accountable to Corporate Executive and 
is responsible for identifying and implementing strategies to develop and 
maintain a strong culture of professionalism, ethics, accountability and 
intolerance of breaches of conduct. This committee has a standing agenda 
item at the Corporate Executive monthly meetings.

Streamlined processes were implemented to ensure transparency in 
reporting and recording of gifts and invitations. Principles underlying 
expected behaviours were reinforced through regular news articles 
focussing on ethical dilemmas. A pilot corporate induction workshop 
focussed strongly on appropriate behaviours aligned with corporate 
values and governance frameworks. The department’s grievance 
policy and procedures were revised, and a fraud and corruption control 
framework implemented. 

Accountable and ethical decision-making training completed by 98 per 
cent of employees, enables all staff members to apply and maintain the 
highest standards of ethical conduct across the department.

The effectiveness of these strategies was apparent in the results of the 
Public Sector Commission Employee Perceptions Survey which indicated 
that senior managers lead by example in ethical behaviour, and there is 
very high awareness of the department’s code of conduct.

There were no breaches of the Public Sector Standards in Human 
Resource recorded by the department.

5.8.4 Record keeping plan

The department’s record keeping plan was submitted to, and approved 
by the State Records Commission in August 2015 in accordance with 
the State Records Act 2000. The Retention and Disposal Schedule was 
endorsed by the State Records Commission in May 2016 and is currently 
awaiting approval. 

Hewlett Packard Records Management System HPRM (formerly TRIM) 
is the department’s Electronic Document Records Management System 
(EDRMS). 

 In accordance with the State Records Commission Standard 2, 
Principle 6:

 · Ongoing maintenance and upgrades are undertaken.

 · All staff are required to complete the online records awareness training 
that is aligned with the record keeping plan.

 · The induction program addresses employees’ roles and responsibilities 
with respect to record keeping. 
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6.0 Government Policy Requirements

6.1 Substantive equality

The Department of Local Government and Communities (the 
department) is required to implement the State Government’s policy 
framework for substantive equality to prevent systemic discrimination. 
The department is working to develop a new policy that will embed 
the objectives of the framework as an integral way of working within 
available resources.

Current practices and resources that support the objectives of substantive 
equality include:

 · The department applies the principle of proportionate universality to 
describe programs and services it delivers or funds and to promote 
how it reduces barriers to access and inclusion for vulnerable families. 
Proportionate universality describes policies, programs and services that 
are universal and available to everyone, but which also have a greater 
scale and intensity depending upon the level of need experienced by 
service recipients. 

 · Despite the provision of universal parenting services, male participation 
is low. Father inclusive practice is a means to support and encourage 
greater father involvement with children by ensuring that programs are 
provided with fathers in mind. 

 · Staff in public sector and local government agencies that have signed 
a user agreement with the Office of Multicultural Interests can access 
the online DiverseWA training package to enhance knowledge, skills 
and awareness to work effectively with people from culturally and 
linguistically diverse backgrounds.
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provide independent and confidential assistance to its employees who 
may be needing support to cope with personal or work issues through the 
Employee Assistance Provider.

Participation rates in disability awareness, workplace discrimination and 
harassment and occupational safety and health training for managers and 
employees remained at 87 per cent and above. 

A Healthy Workplace Framework was developed and endorsed by 
Corporate Executive in June, which will drive activities to support overall 
employee health, performance and productivity over the coming years. 

The following table indicates the department’s performance in 2014–15 
and 2015–16 against targets set out in the Public Sector Commissioner’s 
Circular 2012–05. 

Measure

Actual 
Results 

2014–15

Actual 
Results 

2015–16 Target
Number of fatalities 0 0 0
Lost time injury and/or disease 
incidence rate 0.33 1.55 0.16
Lost time injury and/or disease  
severity rate 0 50 5
Percentage of injured workers  
returned to work:
(i) Within 13 weeks N/A 4
(ii) Within 26 weeks N/A 0 80%
Percentage of managers trained in 
occupational safety, health and  
injury management 81% 90% 80%

6.2  Occupational safety, health  
and injury management

The department is committed to providing a safe and healthy work 
environment for its employees, contractors, visitors and volunteers 
throughout all areas of its business. During this period the department 
undertook the following activities to ensure it meets both its statutory 
obligations and contributes towards the development of a safe, healthy, 
and engaged workforce.

The department is considered to be a low risk profile agency but 
continues to work towards establishing effective occupational safety and 
health management systems. In June 2016 an Accredited WorkSafe Plan 
Assessor conducted an Occupational Safety and Health management 
systems assessment that formally established the department’s actions 
for the forward years. 

The Occupational Safety and Health Committee continues to meet 
quarterly. It includes elected Safety and Health Representatives among 
its membership to provide a mechanism for formal consultation with 
employees on occupational safety and health matters.

An Injury Management and Workers Compensation policy and procedure 
was implemented to ensure the best possible management of workplace 
injuries and injured employees to remain at, or return to, work at the 
earliest possible time. 

Workshops assisted employees to develop resilience to better cope 
with change, raised awareness of the importance of a mentally healthy 
workplace and equipped employees with the skills and confidence to 
have positive performance discussions. These were supported by a 
comprehensive personal and career support program for those staff 
impacted by a significant change process. The department continued to 
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7.0 Appendices
7.1 Funding to organisations

Organisation Name
Recurrent 

Funding
Grant 

Funding
Total 

Funding

Carers
Carers Association of Western Australia Inc. $831,791 $5,000 $836,791

Community Services
Adventist Development and Relief Agency 
Australia Ltd. $10,000 $10,000

Animal Protection Society of Western 
Australia Inc. $12,500 $12,500

Armadale Community Family Centre Inc $197,372 $197,372

Australian Red Cross Society $339,582 $339,582

Bayswater Family Centre Incorporated $62,902 $62,902

Blue Sky Community Group Inc $134,470 $134,470

Bridgetown Family and Community Centre 
Incorporated $95,754 $95,754

Brockman House $200,013 $200,013

Broome Community Information Resource 
Centre and Learning Exchange $134,760 $134,760

Broome Mens Shed Inc. $3,000 $3,000

Busselton Community Garden Inc. $8,131 $8,131

Busselton Family Centre Inc $63,038 $63,038

Carnarvon Family Support Service Inc $77,639 $77,639

Cat Welfare Society Inc. $75,000 $75,000

Centrecare Incorporated $107,639 $107,639

Choose Respect Busselton Inc. $25,000 $25,000

City of Bayswater Child Care Centre 
Association (Incorporated) $134,470 $134,470

City of Bunbury $9,194 $9,194

City of Cockburn $201,418 $201,418

City of Joondalup $9,980 $9,980

City of Melville $62,655 $62,655

Organisation Name
Recurrent 

Funding
Grant 

Funding
Total 

Funding

City of Wanneroo $94,231 $94,231

CLAN Midland Incorporated $50,108 $50,108

Collie Family Centre Incorporated $64,744 $64,744

Communicare Inc $209,648 $209,648

ConnectGroups - Support Groups 
Association WA Inc $352,753 $352,753

Department of Aboriginal Affairs $750 $750

Department of Sport and Recreation $60,000 $60,000

Dismantle Inc. $26,300 $26,300

Dogs’ Refuge Home (WA) $75,000 $75,000

Ear Science Institute Australia Inc. $20,000 $20,000

East Victoria Park Family and Community 
Centre Inc $62,902 $62,902

Eaton Combined Playgroup Inc $63,038 $63,038

Escare Incorporated $199,344 $199,344

Forest Lakes/Thornlie Family Centre Inc $62,902 $62,902

Frank Konecny Community Centre Inc $158,451 $158,451

Gowrie Community Services (WA) 
Incorporated $262,499 $262,499

Greenbushes Ratepayers and Residents 
Association Inc. $2,380 $2,380

Greenfields Family and Community Centre 
Inc $63,038 $63,038

Hilton Harvest Community Garden Inc. $9,986 $9,986

Hudson Road Family Centre Inc $63,038 $63,038

Joondalup Family Centre Inc $62,902 $62,902

K9 Rescue Group $12,500 $12,500

Karingal Neighbourhood Centre Inc $134,760 $134,760

Karratha Family Centre Inc $75,645 $75,645
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Kulungah-Myah Family Centre Inc $62,902 $62,902

Kununurra Neighbourhood House 
Incorporated $134,923 $134,923

Living Stone Foundation Inc $339,703 $339,703

Manjimup Family Centre Inc $200,444 $200,444

Manjimup Farmers Market Inc. $6,345 $6,345

Marangaroo Family Centre Inc $62,902 $62,902

Meerilinga Young Children’s Foundation Inc. $25,000 $25,000

Meerilinga Young Children’s Services Inc $348,798 $348,798

Mercy Community Services Incorporated $179,725 $179,725

Metropolitan Migrant Resource Centre Inc $115,774 $115,774

Milligan: Community Learning and Resource 
Centre Inc. $200,444 $200,444

Newman Neighbourhood Centre Inc $150,482 $150,482

Ngala Community Services $62,902 $62,902

Northcliffe Family Centre Incorporated $63,038 $63,038

Parents Without Partners In Australia 
(Western Australian Region) $96,738 $96,738

Rainbow Coast Neighbourhood Centre 
Incorporated $135,808 $19,980 $155,788

Roberta Jull Community Care Association 
Incorporated $134,470 $134,470

Roleystone Neighbourhood Family Centre 
Incorporated $114,252 $114,252

Rostrata Family Centre Incorporated $62,902 $62,902

Sandalwood Family Centre Inc $63,038 $63,038

Saving Animals From Euthanasia- SAFE $12,500 $12,500

Shire of Goomalling $19,454 $19,454

Shire of Mt Marshall $38,657 $38,657

Shire of Waroona $20,000 $20,000

Organisation Name
Recurrent 

Funding
Grant 

Funding
Total 

Funding

Soldier On Ltd. $5,000 $5,000

South Lake Ottey Family and Neighbourhood 
Centre Incorporated $197,372 $197,372

Southcare Incorporated $83,347 $83,347

St Patrick’s Community Support Centre Ltd. $350,000 $350,000

Sudbury Community House Association $200,013 $200,013

Swan Animal Haven $12,500 $12,500

The Cannery Arts Centre $18,800 $18,800

The Citizens Advice Bureau of Western 
Australia Incorporated $473,399 $473,399

The Nintirri Centre Incorporated $115,887 $115,887

The Salvation Army (Western Australia) 
Property Trust $254,582 $254,582

The Spiers Centre Inc $134,470 $134,470

The Yangebup Family Centre Inc $62,902 $62,902

Waikiki Community & Family Centre Inc $62,902 $62,902

Waratah Christian Community Inc $63,038 $63,038

Warnbro Community and Family Centre 
Incorporated $62,902 $62,902

Waroona Community Resource Centre Inc. $154,620 $20,000 $174,620

West Stirling Neighbourhood House 
Incorporated $95,548 $95,548

Westerly Family Centre Inc $62,902 $62,902

Western Australian Council of Social Service 
Inc. $25,000 $25,000

Whitford Family Centre Inc $62,902 $62,902

William Langford Community House 
Incorporated $200,013 $200,013

Woodlupine Family Centre Inc $62,902 $62,902

Yaandina Family Centre Inc $207,631 $207,631
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Education and Care
Albany Occasional Child Care Centre $6,375 $6,375

Binningup Occasional Child Care Centre Inc $31,166 $14,780 $45,946

Bremer Bay Community Resource Centre 
Inc $27,704 $27,704

Brookton Multifunctional Family Centre Inc. $14,300 $14,300

Bruce Rock Day Care Centre Inc. $12,450 $12,450

Busselton Child Care Centre Inc. $11,800 $11,800

Child Inclusive Learning and Development 
Australia Inc $143,087 $143,087

City of Albany - Albany Regional Day Care 
Centre $15,000 $15,000

City of Bunbury $14,948 $14,948

City of Busselton $39,600 $39,600

City of Greater Geraldton $15,000 $15,000

Coastal Kids Care Inc. $12,800 $12,800

College Community Child Care Centre Inc. $15,000 $15,000

Collie Early Education Inc. $13,640 $13,640

Dalwallinu Clubhouse Early Learning Centre 
Inc. $3,545 $3,545

Denmark Occasional Day Care Centre Inc $27,704 $27,555 $55,259

Dowerin Community Childcare Inc. $13,088 $13,088

Escare Inc. $13,500 $13,500

Fluffy Ducklings Day Care Inc. $12,500 $12,500

Giggle Pots Day Care Inc. $15,000 $15,000

Gnowangerup Family Support Association 
Inc. $15,000 $15,000

Goodstart Early Learning Ltd - Albany $8,500 $8,500

Goodstart Early Learning Ltd - Australind $10,000 $10,000

Organisation Name
Recurrent 

Funding
Grant 

Funding
Total 

Funding

Goodstart Early Learning Ltd - Busselton $13,200 $13,200

Goodstart Early Learning Ltd - Dunsborough $14,420 $14,420

Goodstart Early Learning Ltd - East Bunbury $13,365 $13,365

Goodstart Early Learning Ltd - Eaton $14,418 $14,418

Goodstart Early Learning Ltd - Greenfields $9,110 $9,110

Goodstart Early Learning Ltd - Halls Head $15,000 $15,000

Goodstart Early Learning Ltd - Madora Bay $7,500 $7,500

Goodstart Early Learning Ltd - Meadow 
Springs $7,875 $7,875

Goomalling Gumnuts Inc. $4,772 $4,772

Harvey Occasional Child Care Centre Inc $41,631 $13,166 $54,797

Hopetoun Community Childcare Centre Inc. $11,167 $11,167

Investing In Our Youth Inc. $231,295 $231,295

Jerramungup Occasional Childcare 
Association Inc $41,555 $14,907 $56,462

Kalbarri Childcare Inc. $27,704 $7,500 $35,204

Katanning Community Childcare Centre Inc $72,721 $15,000 $87,721

Kidsafe Western Australia Inc. $16,820 $16,820

Kojonup Occasional Care Centre Inc. $15,000 $15,000

Little Nuggets Early Learning Centre Inc. $38,000 $38,000

Margaret River Community Resource Centre 
Inc. $14,909 $14,909

Marninwarntikura Fitzroy Women’s Resource 
Centre $7,500 $7,500

Milligan House Child Care Centre Inc. $14,826 $14,826

Munchkin Manor Child Care Centre Inc. $10,000 $10,000

Narembeen Numbats Occasional Child Care 
Association Inc $27,704 $27,704

Narrogin Regional Child Care Services Inc. - 
Multifunctional Child Care Centre Mobile $14,998 $14,998
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Newman Day Care Centre Inc. $14,695 $14,695

Playgroup WA Inc. $300,000 $300,000

Regional Development Australia (RDA) 
Pilbara Inc. $12,315 $12,315

Shire of Augusta-Margaret River $15,000 $15,000

Shire of Boddington $15,000 $15,000

Shire of Brookton $167,500 $167,500

Shire of Harvey $9,872 $9,872

Shire of Katanning $14,100 $14,100

Shire of Kulin $10,000 $10,000

Shire of Moora $3,000 $3,000

Shire of Northampton $13,000 $13,000

Shire of Perenjori $14,940 $14,940

Shire of Plantagenet $20,425 $20,425

Shire of Quairading- Little Rainmakers 
Childcare Centre $14,726 $14,726

Shire of Ravensthorpe $5,250 $5,250

The Boodie Rats (Mukinbudin Occasional 
Care) Inc $27,703 $27,703

The Nintirri Centre Inc. $14,950 $14,950

Three Springs Childcare Inc. $14,000 $14,000

Walpole Family Centre Inc. $13,020 $13,020

Wongan Cubbyhouse Inc $6,500 $6,500

Yilgarn Occasional Child Care Centre Inc $31,166 $31,166

YMCA of Perth Inc. $24,975 $24,975

YMCA of Perth Inc. - Bunbury Early Learning 
Centre $15,000 $15,000

YMCA of Perth Inc. - YMCA Family Resource 
Centre Busselton $15,000 $15,000

Organisation Name
Recurrent 

Funding
Grant 

Funding
Total 

Funding

Financial Counselling
Anglicare WA Inc $1,288,806 $1,288,806

Broome Community Information Resource 
Centre and Learning Exchange $125,864 $125,864

Carnarvon Family Support Service Inc $105,472 $105,472

Centrecare Incorporated $230,633 $230,633

Escare Incorporated $115,316 $115,316

Financial Counsellors’ Association of WA Inc. $235,000 $235,000

Geraldton Resource Centre Inc $105,472 $105,472

Joongari House/Wyndham Family Support 
Incorporated $47,218 $47,218

Jungarni-Jutiya Indigenous Corporation $122,349 $122,349

Kimberley Community Legal Services Inc $122,349 $122,349

Marra Worra Worra Aboriginal Corporation $68,675 $68,675

Narrogin Community Support Association Inc $71,043 $71,043

Ngunga Group Women’s Aboriginal 
Corporation $60,781 $60,781

Pilbara Community Legal Service $489,395 $489,395

Share & Care Community Services Group 
Incorporated $210,945 $210,945

The Roman Catholic Bishop of Geraldton 
Centacare Family Services $68,675 $68,675

Uniting Church in Australia Property Trust 
(WA) $126,567 $126,567

UnitingCare West $539,240 $539,240
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Grandcare
Wanslea Family Services Incorporated $457,070 $125,000 $582,070

Local Government Capacity Building
City of Canning $4,950 $4,950

Local Government Managers Australia WA 
Division Inc. $47,409 $47,409

Shire of Broome $4,800 $4,800

Shire of Gingin $4,800 $4,800

Town of Narrogin $400,000 $400,000

University of Western Australia $34,088 $34,088

Western Australian Local Government 
Association $432,000 $432,000

Organisation Name
Recurrent 

Funding
Grant 

Funding
Total 

Funding

Multicultural Interests
Croatian Community Council of Western 
Australia Inc. $7,000 $7,000

Al-Erfan Community Incorporated (AL-Hadi 
School)  $38,000 $38,000

Alzheimer’s Australia WA  $24,000 $24,000

Australia Day Council of WA $197,462  $197,462

Australia-Japan Society of WA Inc  $5,000 $5,000

Australian Arab Association Incorporated  $12,500 $12,500

Australian Asian Association of Western 
Australia Inc.  $4,994 $4,994

Bangladesh-Australia Association of WA 
(BAAWA)  $1,700 $1,700

Bentley Community Focus Inc.  $5,000 $5,000

Buddha’s Light International Association of 
WA  $15,000 $15,000

Bulgarian Association ‘Rodina’ Incorporated  $2,800 $2,800

Carnarvon Festival Inc  $5,000 $5,000

Centre of Hellenic Studies  $20,200 $20,200

Chin Migrant Centre  $14,800 $14,800

Chinese Language and Cultural Centre of WA 
Inc. (Perth Chinese School)  $20,100 $20,100

Chung Wah Association Inc.  $101,100 $101,100

City of Kalgoorlie Boulder  $5,000 $5,000

Clubs WA Inc.  $11,000 $11,000

Communicare $100,000  $100,000

Consular Corps of WA Inc  $5,000 $5,000

Croatian Community Council of Western 
Australia Inc.  $7,000 $7,000

Croatian Ethnic School of WA Inc  $3,400 $3,400
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Cultural Learning Centre Mosaica Inc.  $9,200 $9,200

Curtin Student Guild - International Student 
Committee  $5,000 $5,000

Emo’Ya M’Mbondo Language School  $3,000 $3,000

Ethiopian Orthodox Tewahedo Debre Amin 
Abune Teklehaimanot Church Inc  $7,100 $7,100

Fremantle Multicultural Centre Inc.  $20,000 $20,000

Furqan Islamic Association of Western 
Australia Inc.  $23,000 $23,000

Goethe Society WA  $16,600 $16,600

Greek Orthodox Community of WA  $13,400 $13,400

Hellenic Community of WA Inc  $5,000 $5,000

Hindi Samaj of WA  $19,400 $19,400

Hungarian Educational and Cultural Centre  $12,000 $12,000

Igbo Association of WA  $13,000 $13,000

Indian Society of Western Australia 
Incorporated  $10,000 $10,000

Intercultural Harmony Society Inc  $5,000 $5,000

Iran Cultural House of Western Australia  $3,000 $3,000

Ishar Multicultural Women’s Health Centre  $50,000 $50,000

Islamic Council of Western Australia  $12,500 $12,500

Jain Community of Western Australia  $5,000 $5,000

Japan Festival Association in Perth Inc.  $5,000 $5,000

Kyle Chinese School  $23,800 $23,800

Macedonian Community of WA (Inc)  $1,700 $1,700

Madi Community Association of Western 
Australia (MCAWA) Inc  $6,600 $6,600

Metropolitan Migrant Resource Centre $70,000  $70,000

Mica Exhibitions - World Press Photo Perth 
Inc.  $20,000 $20,000

Organisation Name
Recurrent 

Funding
Grant 

Funding
Total 

Funding

Modern Language Teachers Association of 
WA  $90,000 $90,000

NAATI $59,433  $59,433

Nepali Association of Western Australia  $3,000 $3,000

Oromo Language School (under the auspice 
of the Australian Asian Association of WA 
Inc.)  $3,000 $3,000

Perth Arabic Association Inc  $9,500 $9,500

Perth Niue Community  $3,000 $3,000

Perth Sinhala School Parent Teacher 
Association  $26,600 $26,600

Polish Ethnic School Inc  $6,900 $6,900

Public Libraries WA  $30,000 $30,000

Rainbow Coast Neighbourhood Centre Inc  $5,000 $5,000

Relationships Australia WA $100,000  $100,000

Salsaal Integration Association, Inc.  $3,000 $3,000

Save the Children Australia  $50,000 $50,000

Serbian Orthodox Mission Parish 
Rockingham  $10,000 $10,000

Sikh Association of WA Inc.  $3,000 $3,000

Smile of Hope Inc  $16,200 $16,200

So Change Inc.  $5,000 $5,000

State Library of WA  $100,000 $100,000

Sudbury Community House Association Inc.  $5,000 $5,000

Tamil Association of WA Inc  $22,200 $22,200

Temple David Congregation  $2,900 $2,900

Temple of Fine Arts Incorporated  $15,000 $15,000

The Association of Great China (AGCI) 
Greenwood Chinese School.  $3,000 $3,000

The Korean Association of WA Inc.  $14,800 $14,800
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The Royal Life Saving Society Western 
Australia Inc  $45,000 $45,000

The Swedish School of WA  $3,100 $3,100

The Tzu-chi Academy Australia Perth  $13,200 $13,200

The Weekend Japanese School in Perth Pty 
Ltd.  $44,800 $44,800

Turkish Australian Culture House  $3,000 $3,000

University of WA  $1,000 $1,000

Vietnamese Catholic Ethnic School of WA Inc  $33,500 $33,500

Vietnamese Community in Australia - WA 
Chapter Inc  $10,000 $10,000

Vietnamese Evangelical Ethnic School  $8,800 $8,800

Vietnamese Language & Cultural School of 
WA (Vietnamese Community in Australia 
WA)  $18,300 $18,300

Vietnamese School of WA Incorporated  $5,100 $5,100

WA French Festival Inc  $5,000 $5,000

WA Multicultural Association Inc  $5,000 $5,000

WA Russian Education Cultural Centre Inc  $11,200 $11,200

West Australian Football Commission 
(WAFC)  $20,000 $20,000

Western Australia Telugu Association Inc.  $13,000 $13,000

Western Australian German Business 
Association Inc  $4,000 $4,000

Youth Affairs Council of Western Australia  $49,250 $49,250

Organisation Name
Recurrent 

Funding
Grant 

Funding
Total 

Funding

Parenting
Anglicare WA Inc $198,912 $198,912

Centrecare Incorporated $204,528 $204,528

Child Inclusive Learning and Development 
Australia Inc $190,018 $190,018

City of Cockburn $146,170 $146,170

City of Fremantle $71,306 $71,306

CLAN Midland Incorporated $101,226 $101,226

CLAN WA (Community Link and Network) 
Inc $812,832 $812,832

Foothills Information & Referral Service Inc $114,658 $114,658

Kurungal Council Inc $101,539 $101,539

Local Information Network Karratha Inc $129,402 $129,402

Meerilinga Young Children’s Services Inc $655,630 $655,630

Moorditch Gurlongga Association Inc $206,569 $206,569

Ngala Community Services $2,059,434 $2,059,434

Ngala Family Services $398,766 $398,766

Patricia Giles Centre Inc $195,862 $195,862

Wanslea Family Services Incorporated $385,326 $385,326

World Vision Australia $152,850 $152,850
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Sector Support
Linkwest Incorporated $289,415 $289,415

Linux Australia Inc $5,000 $5,000

Meerilinga Young Children’s Services Inc $264,875 $264,875

Metropolitan Migrant Resource Centre Inc $119,415 $119,415

Playgroup WA Inc $114,582 $114,582

University of New South Wales $4,000 $4,000

University of Western Australia Centre for 
Social Impact $10,000 $10,000

Volunteer Centre Of Western Australia (Inc) $629,606 $629,606

West Australian Men’s Shed Association $75,000 $75,000

Western Australian Council of Social Service 
Inc $737,806 $20,000 $757,806

Youth Affairs Council of Western Australia $284,644 $284,644

Organisation Name
Recurrent 

Funding
Grant 

Funding
Total 

Funding

Seniors
Advocare Inc. $137,000 $137,000

Alzheimer’s Australia WA Ltd. $100,000 $100,000

City of Armadale $10,000 $10,000

City of Canning $7,000 $7,000

City of Greater Geraldton $113,079 $113,079

City of Joondalup $10,000 $10,000

City of Stirling $10,000 $10,000

City of Vincent $10,000 $10,000

City of Wanneroo $10,000 $10,000

Council on the Ageing (Western Australia) 
Inc. $115,000 $115,000

Local Government Managers Australia WA 
Division Inc. $3,000 $3,000

Northern Suburbs Community Legal Centre 
(Inc) $268,762 $268,762

Playgroup WA Inc $117,694 $117,694

Seniors’ Recreation Council of WA (Inc) $74,154 $70,000 $144,154

Shire of Beverley $6,500 $6,500

Shire of Collie $10,000 $10,000

Shire of Dalwallinu $10,000 $10,000

Shire of Kalamunda $10,000 $10,000

Shire of Pingelly $10,000 $10,000

Shire of York $10,000 $10,000
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Volunteering
Albany & Regional Volunteer Service 
Incorporated $45,865 $45,865

Bremer Bay Community Resource Centre Inc. $800 $800

Broome Community Information Resource 
Centre and Learning Exchange $40,000 $1,000 $41,000

Busselton Dunsborough Environment Centre 
Inc $53,202 $53,202

Carnamah Historical Society Inc. $42,000 $42,000

City of Armadale $30,247 $30,247

City of Cockburn $36,275 $36,275

City of Fremantle $33,236 $33,236

City of Melville $33,859 $33,859

City of Nedlands $29,344 $29,344

City of South Perth $1,000 $1,000

City of Swan $47,908 $800 $48,708

Coorow Community Resource Centre Inc. $800 $800

Darling Range Connect Inc. $1,000 $1,000

Kalgoorlie Boulder Volunteer Centre Inc $23,203 $23,203

Lake Grace Community Resource Centre 
Inc. $1,000 $1,000

Lake King Progress Association $250 $250

Manjimup Community Resource Centre Inc $45,866 $45,866

Marble Bar Community Resource Centre Inc $800 $800

Meekatharra Community Resource Centre $1,000 $1,000

Merredin Community Resource Centre Inc. $1,000 $1,000

Nannup Community Resource Centre Inc $45,865 $900 $46,765

Northampton Tourist Association Inc. $1,000 $1,000

Peel Volunteer Resource Centre Inc $54,224 $54,224

Quairading Community Resource Centre $1,000 $1,000

Organisation Name
Recurrent 

Funding
Grant 

Funding
Total 

Funding

Shire of Ashburton $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Augusta-Margaret River $800 $800

Shire of Boddington $800 $800

Shire of Capel $800 $800

Shire of Corrigin $675 $675

Shire of Dowerin $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Esperance $35,157 $500 $35,657

Shire of Katanning $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Kondinin $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Kulin $800 $800

Shire of Manjimup $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Pingelly $500 $500

Shire of Plantagenet $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Wagin $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Wandering $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Waroona $1,000 $1,000

Shire of West Arthur $800 $800

Shire of Wongan-Ballidu $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Wyalkatchem $700 $700

Shire of Wyndham East Kimberley $1,000 $1,000

So Change Inc. $840 $840

The Roman Catholic Bishop of Geraldton 
Centacare Family Services $55,340 $900 $56,240

UWA University Guild $1,000 $1,000

Volunteer South West Inc $54,174 $1,000 $55,174

Wellstead Community Resource Centre $900 $900

Wickepin Community Resource Centre Inc. $1,000 $1,000

Yarloop Community Resource Centre Inc. $800 $800

York Community Resource Centre Inc. $600 $600
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Women
Arts Radio Ltd. $4,690 $4,690

Australian Federation of Business and 
Professional Women (Western Australian 
Division) Inc. $4,846 $4,846

Belmont Business Enterprise Centre Inc. $5,000 $5,000

Big Issue in Australia Ltd. $15,500 $15,500

City of Mandurah $5,000 $5,000

Committee for Economic Development of 
Australia $18,000 $18,000

Community Living Association Inc. $5,000 $5,000

Curtin University of Technology $25,500 $25,500

Denmark Chamber of Commerce $5,000 $5,000

Diversified Exhibitions Australia Pty Ltd $22,767 $22,767

Enable Southwest Inc. $4,500 $4,500

Enterprise Learning Projects $5,000 $5,000

Goldfields Women’s Health Care Association 
Inc. $5,000 $5,000

Ishar Multicultural Women’s Health Centre 
Inc. $5,000 $5,000

Langford Aboriginal Association Inc. $37,000 $37,000

Local Government Managers Australia WA 
Division Inc. $2,727 $2,727

Mukinbudin Community Resource Centre 
Inc. $1,025 $1,025

Northern Districts Community Support 
Group Inc. $5,000 $5,000

Nungarin Community Resource Centre Inc. $4,452 $4,452

Ready to Work Inc. $25,000 $25,000

Organisation Name
Recurrent 

Funding
Grant 

Funding
Total 

Funding

Serpentine Jarrahdale Community Resource 
Centre Inc. $3,500 $3,500

Serpentine Jarrahdale Food and Farm 
Alliance Inc. $3,800 $3,800

The Chamber of Minerals and Energy of 
Western Australia $5,000 $5,000

The Federation of WA PCYC - Carnarvon $20,000 $20,000

The Liebe Group $5,000 $5,000

TradeUP Australia $4,500 $4,500

University of Western Australia $50,000 $50,000

Walpole- Nornalup and Districts Community 
Development Group Inc. $4,800 $4,800

WIMWA Events PTY LTD $10,000 $10,000

Women In Leadership Driving Change $24,720 $24,720

Women in Technology WA Inc. (WiTWA) $11,120 $11,120

yourtown $3,800 $3,800

Zonta Club of Perth Inc. $3,000 $3,000

Zonta House Refuge Association Inc. $4,737 $4,737
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Youth
All Round Community Health and 
Community Care Limited $3,100 $3,100

Australian Red Cross Society $2,000 $2,000

Australian Youth Climate Coalition $3,550 $3,550

Autism West Support Inc. $4,208 $4,208

Avon Youth Community and Family Services $1,000 $1,000

Avon Youth Family & Community Services 
Inc. - Merredin Branch $1,000 $1,000

Beacon Foundation $37,000 $37,000

Black Swan Health Ltd. $1,000 $1,000

Bold Park Parents Advisory Council Inc. $1,000 $1,000

Broome Youth and Families Hub Inc. $1,000 $1,000

Cadets WA - Various Organisations $2,891,437 $685,570 $3,577,007

Camera Story Ltd. $3,500 $3,500

City of Albany $10,000 $10,000

City of Armadale $5,444 $5,444

City of Busselton $1,000 $1,000

City of Canning $6,000 $6,000

City of Joondalup $1,000 $1,000

City of Karratha $1,000 $1,000

City of Mandurah $11,000 $11,000

City of Melville $1,000 $1,000

City of Nedlands $1,000 $1,000

City of Perth $6,000 $6,000

City of South Perth $1,000 $1,000

City of Subiaco $1,000 $1,000

City of Vincent $1,000 $1,000

Diabetes Association of Western Australia Inc. $5,000 $5,000

Dismantle Inc. $4,000 $4,000

Organisation Name
Recurrent 

Funding
Grant 

Funding
Total 

Funding

Duke of Edinburgh’s Award in Australia $4,000 $4,000

Dungeon Youth Centre Inc. $1,000 $1,000

Eastern Goldfields YMCA (Inc) $44,692 $44,692

Enable Southwest Inc. $1,000 $1,000

Escare Inc. $1,000 $1,000

Fairbridge Western Australia Inc $44,693 $44,693

Girl Guides Western Australia Inc $353,353 $353,353

Ignite Mentoring Inc. $850 $850

Kimberley Aboriginal Medical Services 
Council Inc. $1,000 $1,000

Leeuwin Ocean Adventure Foundation $249,329 $249,329

Life Without Barriers $1,000 $1,000

Local Drug Action Groups Inc. $5,150 $5,150

Local Drug Action Groups Inc. - Esperance $940 $940

Local Drug Action Groups Inc. - Kalgoorlie $650 $650

Mission Australia $980 $980

Northcliffe Family Centre Inc. $1,000 $1,000

Nungarin Community Resource Centre Inc. $924 $924

Parkerville Children and Youth Care Inc. $1,000 $1,000

Peedac Pty Ltd $5,000 $5,000

Perenjori Agricultural Society Inc. $3,840 $3,840

Pilbara Children’s Education Trust (PCET) Inc. $15,000 $15,000

Propel Youth Arts WA Incorporated $54,131 $30,000 $84,131

Quairading Community Resource Centre $1,000 $1,000

Quinninup Community Association Inc. $1,000 $1,000

Relationships Australia (WA) Inc. $1,000 $1,000

Save the Children Australia Trust $200,000 $200,000

Shire of Ashburton $10,000 $10,000

Shire of Augusta-Margaret River $1,000 $1,000
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Organisation Name
Recurrent 

Funding
Grant 

Funding
Total 

Funding

Shire of Boddington $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Broome $4,000 $4,000

Shire of Corrigin $980 $980

Shire of Cranbrook $803 $803

Shire of Cuballing $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Dandaragan $10,000 $10,000

Shire of Denmark $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Dowerin $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Esperance $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Exmouth $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Goomalling $10,000 $10,000

Shire of Harvey $900 $900

Shire of Kalamunda $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Katanning $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Kondinin $7,800 $7,800

Shire of Kulin $4,050 $4,050

Shire of Manjimup $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Morawa $4,900 $4,900

Shire of Murray $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Nannup $4,500 $4,500

Shire of Narembeen $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Pingelly $10,000 $10,000

Shire of Plantagenet $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Quairading $9,800 $9,800

Shire of Ravensthorpe $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Shark Bay $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Victoria Plains $10,000 $10,000

Shire of Wandering $1,000 $1,000

Shire of Waroona $1,000 $1,000

Shire of West Arthur $1,000 $1,000

Organisation Name
Recurrent 

Funding
Grant 

Funding
Total 

Funding

Shire of Wyalkatchem $1,000 $1,000

Southcare Inc. $50,000 $50,000

St Vincent de Paul Society (WA) Inc. $5,000 $5,000

Swan City Youth Service Inc. $1,000 $1,000

Swan Emergency Accommodation Inc. $4,019 $4,019

The Australian-Asian Association of Western 
Australia Inc. $4,990 $4,990

The Boy’s Brigade Western Australia $40,969 $40,969

The Duke of Edinburgh’s Award (WA Division) $106,006 $106,006

The Girls’ Brigade Western Australia Inc $40,969 $1,000 $41,969

The Scout Association of Australia Western 
Australian Branch $424,611 $424,611

The Smith Family $5,000 $5,000

Tom Price Youth Support Association Inc. $1,000 $1,000

Town of Mosman Park $6,000 $6,000

Town of Narrogin $1,000 $1,000

Town of Port Hedland $9,000 $9,000

Western Australian AIDS Council Inc. $4,060 $4,060

Western Australian Substance Users 
Association Inc. $1,000 $1,000

Westonia Community Resource Centre $1,000 $1,000

Wyalkatchem Community Resource Centre 
Inc. $1,000 $1,000

YMCA of Perth Inc. - Serpentine Jarrahdale $1,000 $1,000

YMCA Perth Youth and Community Services 
Inc $27,065 $27,065

York Community Resource Centre Inc. $4,986 $4,986

yourtown $61,453 $61,453

Youth Affairs Council WA Inc. $67,885 $67,885

Youth Focus Inc. $318,017 $124,200 $442,217

Zero2Hero Inc. $5,000 $5,000
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7.2 Advisory councils and reference groups

7.2.1  Seniors Ministerial Advisory 
Council

Terms of reference:

 · provide an avenue for seniors and their 
representative bodies to directly express their 
ideas and concerns to the Minister for Seniors 
and Volunteering

 · consult regularly with relevant community 
organisations and individuals on matters 
relevant to seniors

 · provide advice on government policies and 
programs relevant to seniors

 · provide advice on matters relevant to seniors’ 
interests referred to by the Minister or raised 
as a result of community consultation.

Membership: 

 · Ms June van de Klashorst JP (Chair)

 · Mr Tom Rollo (Deputy Chair)

 · Ms June MacDonald

 · Mr Peter Kennedy

 · Councillor Clive Robartson OAM

 · Mrs Eileen Ward

 · Mrs Amar Varsani

 · Ms Shelley Whittaker 

 · Mrs Pamela Beatson

 · Mr Leigh Davis.

 · Ms Linley Brown, Education Officer, Swan 
River Trust (River Rangers)

 · Mr Phil Martin, General Manager, St John 
Ambulance WA

 · Ms Jo Scardigno, Department Fire and 
Emergency Services (ESCC Cadets)

 · Mr Joshua Drummond, Member Development 
Officer, Surf Life Saving WA

 · Ms Anita Nedzwetzky, Youth Policing, WA 
Police (Police Rangers)

 · Lieutenant Colonel (AAC) Bob Barber, 
Commander, Australian Army Cadets WA

 · Wing Commander (AAFC) Robert Somerville 
AM, Officer Commanding 7 Wing Australian 
Air Force Cadets

 · Lieutenant Commander Bob Hughes ANC, 
Leeuwin Flotilla Commander Australian Navy 
Cadets

 · Mr Phillip White AM RFD, Principal, Melville 
Senior High School

 · Mr Steve Coggin CSC, Deputy Principal 
Administration, Mercy College

 · Mr Clayton Massey, Head of Senior School, 
Guildford Grammar School.

7.2.2 Cadets WA Reference Group

Terms of reference:

 · foster and promote the objectives of the 
Cadets WA program

 · ensure a high level of coordination and 
cooperation between the host organisation 
involved in the program

 · provide strategic advice on policy issues 
relating to the promotion and development of 
the program

 · ensure the needs of participating host 
agencies are met within the objectives and 
framework of the program

 · encourage the development of cadet training 
and related activities. 

Membership:

 · Mr Ray Peters, Director Community Funding, 
Department of Local Government and 
Communities (Chair)

 · Mr Geoff Hurren, Program Coordinator Cadets 
WA, Department of Local Government and 
Communities (Executive Officer)

 · Mr Richard Olive, Bush Rangers Program 
Coordinator, Department of Environment and 
Conservation

 · Mr Chris Cottle, Youth Development Officer, 
Australian Red Cross
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7.2.3 Carers Advisory Council

Terms of reference:

 · report annually on:

 – the performance of organisations’ 
obligations under the Carers Recognition 
Act 2004 (the Act)

 – compliance or non-compliance by 
organisations with the Act and the Carers 
Charter

 · work to advance the interests of carers and 
promote compliance by relevant organisations 
with the Carers Charter

 · make recommendations to the Minister for 
Community Services on fostering compliance 
by relevant organisations with the Carers 
Charter

 · provide general advice to the Minister on 
matters relating to carers

 · carry out other functions as directed by the 
Minister.

Membership:

 · Ms Esme Bowen (Chair)

 · Mrs Karena Sherriff (Deputy Chair until  
31 January 2016)

 · Ms Kay Lunt (Deputy Chair from 1 February 
2016)

 · Ms Glennys Marsdon 

 · Mr Daymon Joseph

 · Mrs Glenice Batchelor

 · Ms Ropafadzo (Fadzi) Whande 

 · Ms Amanda Corkill

 · Ms Julie Roberts

 · Mrs Suzanne Paust (until 30 January 2016)

 · Ms Lyneve Amoore (until 30 January 2016).

7.2.4  Community Development 
Roundtable

The Community Development Roundtable 
seeks to build on existing partnerships between 
the State Government, local government and 
community sectors to collaborate, identify 
opportunities for innovative solutions, and 
resolve issues of mutual concern.

Terms of reference

 · Connect State Government, local government 
and the communities sector.

 · Identify and champion opportunities for 
innovation and strategic alliances.

 · Oversee strategies to achieve place-based 
outcomes, including partnerships and 
community capacity building.

 · Use data and evidence to inform discussions 
of trends and scenarios and establish joint 
priorities and a common agenda.

 · Review results of evaluation of initiatives 
undertaken by members of the partnership.
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Membership

 · Ms Jennifer Mathews, Director General, 
Department of Local Government and 
Communities (Chair)

 · Ms Ricky Burges, Chief Executive Officer, WA 
Local Government Association

 · Mr Warren Pearce, Chief Executive Officer, 
Local Government Managers Australia (WA)

 · Ms Irina Cattalini, Chief Executive Officer, WA 
Council of Social Service. 

7.2.5 Governance Roundtable

The Governance Roundtable meets on a 
quarterly basis to discuss a range of local 
government matters and provide a forum to 
resolve issues of mutual concern.

Membership comprises senior representatives 
of the Local Government Managers Australia 
(WA), Western Australian Local Government 
Association and the department.

Membership:

Departmental representatives 
in 2015–16 were: 

 · Mr Brad Jolly (Chair), Executive Director 
Regulation and Sector Support

 · Ms Mary Adam, Director Legal and Legislative 
Services

 · Ms Jenni Law, Director Local Government 
Regulation and Support.

Local Government Managers Australia 
(WA) representatives in 2015–16 were: 

 · Mr Warren Pearce, Chief Executive Officer

 · Mr Ian Cowie, Board Member and Chief 
Executive Officer, City Gosnells

 · Dr Shayne Silcox, Board Member and Chief 
Executive Officer, City of Melville

 · Mr Gary Tuffin, Chief Executive Officer, Shire 
of Chittering.

Western Australian Local Government 
Association representatives in 2015–16 were: 

 · Mr Tony Brown, Executive Manager 
Governance and Strategy

 · Mr James McGovern, Manager Governance

 · Ms Elizabeth Kania, Governance Adviser.
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